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Message from the Board of Directors
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With the current Board of Directors’ term of office having come to an 
end, it is necessary to make a few brief remarks on the activity context 
and the results achieved by the entire team of Banco Best.

We elected ethics, scrupulous compliance with the current regulatory 
framework and prudence in risk management as the structuring pillars 
of our activity.

During this term of office, we innovated and significantly reinforced 
Banco Best’s strategic positioning, with evident results in the modernization
and competitiveness of the digital channels - App and Website - and in 
the recognition by the market of the excellence of the Banco Best’s open 
platform, originally limited to Asset Management and Trading and, in this 
period, extended to other areas and enriched with several new partners.

By distributing more than 6 000 financial products, managed by the 
most reputable national and international financial entities, we have 
established ourselves as a digital marketplace of investment solutions, 
with a management guided by the principles of independence, risk 
diversification and, above all, the adequacy of the solutions to the 
reality and the objectives of the Customers.

We got closer to Customers, complementing the digital relationship 
with the restructuring of the commercial structure and the creation 
of a network of Exclusive, Personal or Digital Managers, depending on 
the Customer segment. At the same time, we became more efficient, 
significantly reducing the Cost-to-Serve.

Message from the Board of Directors
In a highly complex market context - marked by international political 
instability and uncertainty, by the slowdown in world GDP growth and 
by a very serious pandemic crisis with disruptive effects - and despite 
the limitations imposed by the Group’s policies, in 2021, Banco Best 
attained historical levels of commercial activity, in terms of the main 
indicators - Assets Under Management (AUMs) and Customers - and 
we closed the year with a positive net result of Euros 3.3 million, which 
represents an annual growth of 83%. This performance benefited from 
the increase in commissions received, resulting from the excellent 
performance in the core commercial indicators (Asset Management 
and Trading) and, also, from the control of operating expenses.

The robustness of the results presented below, referring to financial 
year 2021, are the corollary of a clear strategy and the demonstration 
of the capabilities of a team, of an organic cluster united by a strong 
culture of innovation and a desire to create value.

The Board of Directors thanks all those contributing to the achievement 
of the objectives set, namely the Monetary and Financial Authorities 
and the Supervisory Entities, the members of the Corporate Bodies and 
the various Stakeholders, with a special emphasis on our Customers, 
for their trust and preference, and on our Employees, for the commitment, 
motivation, availability and professional competence demonstrated.
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Executive Summary
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The year 2021 was characterized by very positive dynamics in commercial 
activity, by very significant achievements in the aspects of Innovation 
and Digital and, also, by the shareholder’s decision to integrate Banco 
Best’s core and strategic structures into novobanco, namely the
Investments and the Information Systems Directorates, in addition to 
the Organization and Processes Directorate, and of specific processes 
of the Financial and Human Capital Directorates.

In 2021, Banco Best reached an all-time high in AUMs, with an amount 
of Euros 2.7 thousand million under management, which represents a 
growth of Euros 529 million over 2020 (+24%). The growth of Asset 
Management (+ Euros 421 million/+33%) and Trading (+ Euros 62 
million/+25%) were the main contributors to this result. Loans and 
advances grew by 20%.

The raising of new Customers also showed a very favourable evolution 
with a growth of 41%, with Customers giving priority to digital media, with 
40% of the accounts being opened by video call or Digital Mobile Key.

Banco Best closed 2021 with a positive net result of Euros 3.3 million, 
which represents a growth of 83% compared with the previous year. 
Standing out are commissions received, which increased by Euros 3.2 
million (+22%), due to the excellent performance of the main core 
indicators in the Bank’s commercial activity, fundamentally funds, 
trading and Public Subscription Offers (PSO). Operating expenses also 
contributed very favourably to the evolution of the result, coming in 3% 
below the previous year despite the strong increase in activity.

Executive Summary
The Bank continues to show very positive prudential and solvency 
ratios, with a deposit-to-loan transformation ratio of 20% and a Core 
Tier 1 ratio of 44.1%.

The year 2021 was marked by an unprecedented digitalization of the 
Bank’s business, both in terms of the growth of Customers using digital 
channels, in the number of transactions and their weight, as well as    
in the availability of thousands of products in the App. The following 
achievements stand out:

• Expansion of the offer of Investment and Trading products available 
in the App, namely purchase and sale of shares, bonds, warrants, 
Exchange Trade Funds (ETF), PSO, endowment policies, DWS 
Portfolio Management Robot Advisor, unit-linked, pension funds 
and Retirement Savings Plans (PPRs), as well as the monitoring of 
portfolio profitability.

• Launch in the App, for Customers, of a new modality of “Savings by 
Objectives”, the first Portuguese robot advisor that provides advice 
on insurance investments, allowing the constitution and monitoring 
of investment plans tailored to the Customer, either through depos-
its or through unit-linked. It integrates alert systems in the App and 
via e-mail about possible deviations from the plan, as well as when 
the Customer’s profile or the market moment recommends chang-
ing the investment.
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• Availability in the App of a financial Dashboard that makes it possible 
to view investments by product type, as well as their performance.

• Creation of a Wishlist that allows adding products that the Customer 
wants to follow, even those not in the Customer’s portfolio.

• Availability in the App of an integrated search module (à la Google) 
with the option to purchase, access to products, features and 
advertising in context, as well as various features and tools for    
the day-to-day financial management.

• Corporate events can now be responded to by the Customer in the 
App, with several options being provided.

• Comprehensive management of the Investor Profile Questionnaire 
(IPQ) in the App, which is presented to the Customer for action, 
with the possibility of same filling it in, whenever it is out of date.

• Possibility of the immediate contracting of travel insurance with 
geolocation in the App, or before the trip to a specific country or 
continent.

• Increase in the level of customization of the App, making it increasingly 
more to the taste of each Customer (e.g., customization of colour, 
background image, name, among others).

• Introduction of new MB WAY features, such as requesting money 
and making payments, among others.

• Creation of alerts for the Customer to update his/her personal data 
when same is missing or expired in the App. With these initiatives 

– which can also be carried out on the Website – the Bank sought 
to respond to the legal compliance requirement in a simple way for 
the Customer, avoiding physical travel.

• Possibility of managing the registered devices to receive security 
notifications.

In addition to the App, the Bank also renewed the public Website at 
bancobest.pt introducing a new image designed from scratch. The 
Website was built based on the main interactions of the previous one, 
so the number of pages was reduced and the language simplified - 
less texts, more comparators. The design reflects a younger and 
fresher digital image and a more mobile logic.

With the aim of providing the Customer with a coherent and transversal 
experience across all channels, the redesign of the transactional 
Website also stands out, making it more functional, modern, simple 
and mobile thinking. Several improvements were also introduced, for 
example: a new integrated net asset position, provision of information 
on capital gains and losses and a sales simulator.

Customer raising is one of the central themes of the Bank’s activity, 
with a new account opening experience being made available, transversal 
to all channels - App, Website and Investment Centres - in which, in 
addition to the interface redesign and an experience improvement, 
Banco Best established itself as the first Bank in Portugal to accept 
passports (Portugal, Spain, France and Italy) when opening an account, 
in a process identical to the one already in place for the citizen card - 
for the Digital Mobile Key and video call -, allowing the opening of 
a 100% digital account, in 5 minutes.
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Additionally, the account opening functionality associated with the 
Best Trading Pro Service was made available, allowing a 100% digital 
experience for a multitude of holders.

This digital positioning has also been reinforced with the new social 
networks management model, which has contributed to the growth 
of the Bank’s followers.

Within the scope of the insurance offer, Banco Best entered a strategic 
partnership with MDS (the only Portuguese and Iberian group in the 
ranking of the 250 largest insurance brokerage companies in the world), 
making available access to protection insurance on the website in an 
open architecture logic, with 63 insurance types in 14 classes of 
insurance of 7 insurers, with more insurers being in the pipeline.

The Bank reinforced the use of the digital channels in the direct 
communication with the Customers, as well as complementing the 
commercial networks communication, so the digital transformation 
operated by the Bank in the last 4 years translates into several indicators 
of success in the realization of operations in these channels:

• 99% in transfers;
• 90% in investment fund orders;
• 100% in trading, 80% in unit-linked, 88% in bonds, 99% in deposits;
• 74% in card requests.

This demonstrates that the renewed channels have usability and clarity 
that encourages their use, with the App being already more used than 
the Website, with 6 weekly logins in the App versus 3.3 on the Website.

In the Asset Management area, Best consolidated its position as a 

leader investment platform where innovation and the independence 
of the offer are pillars of the activity, having added, in this period, new 
partnerships, products and financial services.

In 2021, there was a reinforcement of the Market Share in the Trading 
area, with a growth of 59% in the volume traded of online derivatives 
between January and December (data according to the annual report 
of the Portuguese Securities Market Commission (Comissão do 
Mercado de Valores Mobiliários) (“CMVM”)). In this business line and 
considering the universe of entities which activity is focused on 
non-professional investors (retail), the market share of online derivatives 
was 18.7%, registering an increase compared with the 13.4% of 2020 
and 9.7% of 2019.

Best’s leadership was publicly recognized in the double distinction 
obtained at the Rankia Portugal Awards, with the Bank receiving the 
awards for “Best ETF Broker” and “Best Trading Entity” of Investment 
Funds (the latter for the second consecutive year).

In terms of the diversification of investment options, of note is the 
availability of crowdfunding - in the scope of the offer of alternative 
investments - in partnership with Raize. 

This partnership was highlighted in the Fintech Report Portugal 2021, 
as it demonstrates the new collaborative paradigm between fintechs 
and banks, by providing its Customers with access to a crowdfunding 
product for the diversification of their investment portfolios, available 
for amounts from as little as Euros 20.

In 2021, we recorded an annual growth of 33% in the volume of funds 
and ETFs that incorporate Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance 
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(ESG) criteria. At the end of the year, more than 1 100 investment 
funds available at Banco Best incorporated ESG factors into their 
investment policy, reinforcing the distinctive character of Banco Best’s 
offer in this area, providing us with an additional stimulus to continue 
to develop the offer of products that invest in companies committed 
to the environment, society and high governance standards.

In terms of the development of partnerships, the agreement entered 
with three new fund managers – Nomura, Natixis e Bluebay – and the 
start of the marketing of the Sixty Degrees PPR fund (the only PPR that 
offers Customers a 100% flexible investment policy with tax advantages), 
as well as a new endowment policy – Una Aforro 4. The partnership 
with the exclusive fund Property Core proved to be highly attractive, 
having ended its 1st year after launch with a thousand private investors 
and a volume close to Euros 20 million.

As Best’s approach is Customer-centric and seeking to meet the 
specific profile of each one, in 2021 the financial advisory service was 
reformulated and the Advisory Desk service was created.

In another context, but with the same purpose of customizing solutions, 
a new commercial approach was developed with diversified and 
profiled investment options – Best Way.

Of a very diverse nature, other achievements in 2021 also merit mention:

• Strengthening of the IT system (active-active) with the introduction 
of an intelligent arbitration mechanism.

• Updating of the Open Banking platform infrastructure, allowing the 
Bank to connect via the Application Programming Interface (API)   

to external entities and Payment Services Directive (PSD) 2.

• Recruitment of 20 new Linked Agents in the external commercial 
network, most of them with a lot of experience in the banking area, 
including former employees of the Private segment of large           
international banks.

• Reinforcement of control mechanisms and simplification of interactions 
with Customers, through the provision of an App to external advisors 
that ensures the automatic recording of calls on mobile phones     
(a feature previously available to internal managers).

• Consolidation of fraud prevention and monitoring tools.

• Significant reversal of provisions for legal risks (favourable impact 
on P&L for 2021 of Euros 900 thousand) as a direct result of the 
favourable evolution of the main legal processes.

• Cost reduction and tight financial control maintaining the capacity 
for innovation and commercial dynamics in a year in which maximum 
business volumes were exceeded.

Before concluding, and inseparable from the significant progress 
achieved in 2021, Best’s Human Capital is to be highlighted. Worthy of 
note is the continuous improvement in the satisfaction and motivation 
of Best’s Employees, reflected in the good results obtained in the 
internal survey, Pulse: the favourability rate went from 58% in 2018 to 
77% in 2021 and the Net Promotor Score (NPS) evolved, in this same 
period, from a negative value -27 to +20. These indicators demonstrate 
that the active policy of listening, collecting and implementing the 
suggestions collected from all Employees, pursued in this period, 
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combined with a posture of greater dialogue and internal collaboration 
between directorates, was very successful.

Finally, reference should be made to the profound change in the 
organizational model of Banco Best resulting from the decision of 
the shareholder novobanco, within the framework of an efficiency 
improvement program, to integrate, into novobanco, strategic and 
absolutely core structures for the activity and positioning of the Bank: 
the Investment Directorate and the Information Systems Directorate. 
In addition to these Directorates, the Organization and Processes 
Directorate and specific processes of the Financial Directorate and the 
Human Capital Directorate were also integrated, in a movement that 
resulted in a reduction in Banco Best of 41 jobs, with staff numbers 
closing at 90, of which 65% in the commercial areas. After this integration, 
Banco Best maintains the management of the Marketing - which 
includes the digital channels -, Business Intelligence and Commercial 
directorates, as well as the Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate 
- in a logic of common services -, some control powers and some 
functions of a financial and human resources nature. These changes 
took effect on 1 December.
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Infographics – Best in images
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BANKINGINVESTMENTS

Distribuitor

App Website Managers External
AdvisorsB2B Contact

Centre

Advanced
Trader

Platform

Secured
Loans/Margin

Accounts

Producer

Mortgage
Loans

novobanco

BANKING

Best is a digital marketplace of financial products and services, with a focus on the areas 
of savings and investments. With over 6 000 products and 75 global partners.

Infographics – Best in images



Banco Best | 2021 Annual Report 13

Best’s business model – open platform for the distribution of financial products and services -, 
allows an independent approach centred on the Customer.

Investment tools and partnerships Banking

ONLY
EXECUTION

I select my investments
and execute the 

transactions

Unit-linked
4 insurance companies.

1 active + 15 in the portfolio.

Investment Funds
(registered with CMVM)

81 management companies
including the novobanco Group.

3 439 funds online.

Retirement Solutions
15 + different solutions of

various suppliers.
18 active + 10 in the portfolio.

Portfolio Management
Discretionary portfolio
management service based
on investment funds.

Bonds
Online trading of corporate,

and government bonds.
195 bonds online.

Portfolio Selector
ETF funds and portfolios
for different levels of risk.

Fund Selector
A selection of funds from 
12 main classes os assets.

ETF
Partnership with various 

asset managers.
987 ETFs active.

Insurance
17 insurance companies in 13 insurance 

classes and 77 insurance types.

ADVISORY
I need BEST´s
vision and help

PORTFOLIO
MANAGEMENT

I delegate to an active
management team

of specialists

Best Guru
Comprehensive search, 
presents all available products 
for investment based 
on Costumer input.

Investment ideas*
Shortlist of investments 
based on Mega Trends
(Artificial Intelligence (AI),
water, etc.).

Best Trading Pro 
Specialized trading platform with
over 37 thousand instruments.
Partnership with Saxo Bank
(Denmark). 

Savings by Objectives*
New feature on the App with robot 
for deposits and unit-linked.  

Robot Advisor*
Partnership with DWS.

Crowdfunding*
Partnership with Raize.

*Launched in the last 2 years

• Mortage Loans
  (distribuitor novobanco). 

• Secured Loans and Margin
  Accounts, amounts subject
  to assets under custody.

Complete banking offer 
of accounts, cards, team
deposits, personal loans,
leasing, transfers and
payments.

• Without traditional bank
   branches/without bank tellers. 
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99%
Transfers (SEPA

and international)
executed online

 (excludes MB WAY)

90%
Investment fund 
orders (buy/sell)
executed online

100%
Stock Exchange

trading (buy/sell)
executed online

93%
Bond trading

(buy/sell)
executed online

56%
Card requests

executed online

Clear success in the provision of services while the Customer executes
the transactions, with no need for the manual processing.

NEW ACCOUNTS IN 2021

40% DIGITAL 
ONBOARDING
22,8% via Digital Mobile Key
17,5% via video call

100%
Customers with
access to the
digital channel

74%
Active Customers 
with at least one 
login in 4thQ

98%
Term deposits

executed online

Personal data update
Being executed on the App.
Upload of photos or documents.

78%
Unit-linked 

orders (buy/sell)
executed online

100%
Term deposit

auctions 
executed online

* **

86%
Active Customers 
managed by the
internal network

5x
Per week
5 logins on the 
App and 3.4 
on the Website

Commulative data for 2021 year

19 000
 Messages

Tax data, FATCA, CRS – 45%
Citizen card expired – 33%
Change of address – 9%

1st Half 2021 *Processing totally SFT for Euronext, remainder includes Over-The-Counter (OTC) and prime market.
** Remainder are non-standard pricing.

Best is a digital Bank in all its aspects – access, relationship management and support.
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• Balances and
  movements
• Net assets
• Transfers, 
 Payments, Top ups
 and Direct debits

• MB WAY features
• Accouts of other
 banks

• Financial Dashboard
  (by account and in total)
• Portfolio profitability analysis 

(by account and in total)
• Investment/buy and sell,
  saving by objectives, DWS 

Portfolio Management, 
  Robot Advisor, public 

subscrition offers, funds, 
unit-linked, term deposits, etc.

• Deposit auctions
• Trading (shares, ETF, 
  warrants, etc.)
• Best Trading Pro – Saxo
  platform

• Intelligent search
• Corporate events
• Investor profile
• Customization
• Protection insurance
• Traveller area
• Intelligent transfers
• Card blocking
• Confirmation of
   transactions
• Access recovery
• Personal data update

• Bank slips and 
statements

• Messages
• Wishlist
• News

Unique
features

In the App store the Customer can choose
his/her favourite features

Features
commun to
most Apps

Best’s digital channels – App and Website – have received continuous investment, 
being aligned with the best in the market.
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Best – a digital Bank, strengthened by an internal and external commercial network.

< 10 K 10 to 50K 50 to 500K > 500K

App + Website Digital Personal ExclusivePrimary
channel

Salesforce
attributed

by Bank

+24% +18% +11% +14%AUMs

+1% +10% +6% +15%# Total Customers

Change in 2021:

-20% +46% +14% +37%Loans and advances

External Network

+105% +19% +32% +72%# New Customers

+16%

+3%

+19%

+63%

+24% +18% +11% +16%AUMs + Loans
and advances +16%

App + Website + 
Contact Centre, but

Customer may request
a call with a Manager.

Digital Manager
attributed who attends
to all digital requests
and solicitations from

the Customer.
Has the Manager´s

name and  contact´s.
+ App + Website

More sophisticated
Manager attributed

by the Bank.
Can meet with the

Customer or via
phone/teams.

+ App + Website

Private Banker at
Customer´s disposal.
Can meet personally
or via digital means.

Can present
customized proposals.

+ App + Website

Relationship agent
brings the Customer

to the Bank and
manages same.

Has the Consultant´s
contacts since the

firts day.
+ App + Website
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2018

2020

2021

2019

Innovative culture recognized by the market with awards.
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Open Banking 

Middle-Office Services Platform

PartnersWebsite 
Customers Managers

Web Browser Tablet Browser Mobile Contact Centre Sales Force

Knowledge of
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Customer
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Automated
Business
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Security,
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(supplied by novobanco)
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Multi-platform Central Systems

Channels for
Customers and

Employees

1

2

3

INSURANCE
COMPANIES

CROWDFUNDING

…
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Middleware
Integration

platform
Middleware platform External Services

for Third Parties
Internal Services

for Central Systems API’s

Catalogues of
Products and

Services

External
Advisors

Technological architecture structured in 3 layers that combine the agility of innovation with 
the robustness of the traditional banking systems.  
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The channels (App and Website) underwent a decisive impulse with 
the modernization of the image, the integration of new products, services
and features, as well as with the transformation of the processes with 
significant impacts on the User Experience (UX)/User Interface (UI):

1. App – Investment and Trading: widening of the offer and features – 
warrants, bonds, ETF, shares, PSO, DWS Portfolio Management Robot 
Advisor, savings by objectives/unit-linked, information on indices and 
corporate events and Wishlist.

2. App with innovative tools: Financial Dashboard, intelligent search 
(à lá Google).

3. App with capacity to update personal data of the Customer in real
time and interactively.

4. App with customizable elements: scheduling, favourites, news area. 
PSD2 app-to-app, sharing of documents and transactions, iconography 
and dynamiv contents, and hyperlinks.

5. App with a new customizable UX/UI design.

6. App – Travel Insurance: traveller area with geolocation.

7. App/Website – QPI: modular and omnichannel.

8. App/Website – Account opening on the Website, App and internal 
channels, process redesign, passport inclusion and automatic validation 
of PEP.

9. Website – New non-”logged” Site: design, interactive concept, 
structure and content.

10. Website – Transactional site for Customers: redesign.

11. Website – Integrated assets: new design.

12. Website – Capital gains and losses: realized and sales simulator 
with new features.

13. New identity of Best in the social networks.

Digital/Channels

Below are presented, in graphic and detailed format, the most relevant achievements of 2021, subdivided into the 
3 large areas of greatest impact: Digital/Channels, Offer/Innovation and Digital Processes/Structural. 
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Consolidation of the leadership in management of an open
platform - digital - of Investments and Trading, with the introduction 
of new partnerships and solutions:

1. Offer of alternative investments: investment in crowdfunding trougth 
a partnership with Raize.

2. Investments by Objectives with investment consultancy trougth 
insuranse products via robot advisor.

3. New investment partnerships: Natixis, Bluebay e Nomura.

4. Sixty Degrees PPR: flexible new investment fund to strengthen 
retirement solutions.

5. New endowment policy Una Aforro 4: guaranteed capital and rate.

6. New investment theme “Século da Ásia” (the “Asian Century”), 
available from as little as Euros 20 in funds and ETF.

7. New insurance partnership, making available access to an
extensive offer of protection insurance through the MDS platform.

8. Prominent participation in PSO on the national market.

Rankia Portugal 2021 Awards: “Melhor Entidade Comercializadora” 
(Best Trading Entity) of Investment Funds (for the 2nd consecutive year)
and “Melhor Corretora de ETFs” (Best ETF Broker).

Investment in the elements supporting the activity allowed the 
creation of added value for the Customer, and improvement of 
process efficiency and operational risk management:

1. App – Certification of the device for security notifications, device 
and card management: Best Guardian.

2. Reinforcement of the active-active infrastructure systems with the 
introduction of an intelligent arbitration mechanism.

3. Migration of security applications to more recent generations.

4. MDF (Data Feeds): substituition of the stock exchange quotation 
feed structure – entry into production in January.

5. Digital transformation of the account opening process.

6. Opening of the BTP account with multi-ownership and 100% digital.

7. New payment project: alignment with the Group.

8. PSD2: revision of the flows and API on the Website and on the App.

9. BestOn: new intranet.

Innovation/Offer Digital Processes/Structural
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Management Report
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Introduction

Founded in 2001, BEST - Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. is a 
digital platform that provides the entire range of products and services 
of a universal Bank, distinguished by its strong technological nature 
and by the adoption of an open architecture business model, based on 
national and international partnerships, in the areas of Savings, Asset 
Management and Trading.

Banco Best is present in all segments of individual Customers, with a 
wide range of services that cover Banking, savings investments, financing 
and current financial management solutions.

Banco Best’s business strategy is particularly competitive in responding 
to the investment needs of a segment of individual Customers who 
seek and value more innovative financial services, not limited to the 
national market offer, which are more independent, diversified and 
sophisticated.

Banco Best’s strong commitment to innovation and the dynamic 
management of a wide network of national and international partners 
has contributed decisively to the affirmation of the Bank as a digital 
marketplace for investment solutions, evidenced in the distribution of 
around 6 000 products - investment funds, ETF, retirement solutions, 
endowment policies, discretionary management, robot advisor, etc. 
– managed by the most reputable national and international financial 
institutions.

Management Report

At the same time, Banco Best serves the corporate and institutional 
segment and, through its B2B activity, makes its customized platform 
available to national and international institutional investors, allowing 
these entities a comprehensive, agile and effective management of 
their financial activities.

The technological aspect is inscribed in the DNA of Banco Best. The 
entire offer of products and services is available on the Bank’s digital 
channels – App and Website – providing the Customer with complete 
autonomy in their relationship with the Bank, and providing them with 
a pleasant, simple and intuitive experience. Through the App and the 
Website - which in 2021 underwent a strong upgrade - Customers can, 
for example: open their account, access information about the entire 
offer and use the various support tools, monitor market indicators and 
manage their portfolio - buy and sell, monitor profitability - execute the 
various operations and fulfil general duties, such as updating their 
personal data.

Banco Best forms part of the novobanco Group, its share capital of 
Euros 63 million being, directly and indirectly, wholly owned by novobanco, 
as indicated in Chapter III of this report.

Banco Best has its registered office in Lisbon, at Praça Marquês de 
Pombal, but does not have ordinary branches. Therefore, its financial 
products and services are made available via other channels, such as:
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• The Internet, through its Website (www.bancobest.pt) and Mobile 
Banking (app Best Bank; app Best Trading Pro).

• Investment Centres located in Lisbon, Oporto, Braga, Aveiro, Leiria 
and Faro, that rely on a network of Personal Managers. The Exclusive 
Managers are based in Lisbon and Oporto, making use of differentiated 
attendance spaces.

• A network of Digital Managers, a permanent management team 
providing services, normally at a distance, to Customers requiring 
specialized once-off assistance.

• The Contact Centre (Customer Support Line) that in addition to 
telephonic attendance also intervenes in the opening of accounts 
via video call in a 100% digital process. 

In addition, Banco Best also has a network of promoters and linked 
agents registered with the Bank of Portugal and the CMVM, called 
Business Introducers and External Advisors, respectively, that work 
as service providers in accordance with the relevant legal provisions. 
Some of these External Advisors have their own physical spaces, 
known as “Offices”, where they develop their business activity as per 
the applicable legal provisions.

Economic Overview

The hope of 2021 being the year of the end of the crisis triggered by 
the coronavirus did not materialize.

Mass vaccination of the populations of developed countries made it 

possible to resume some economic and social normality, but the new 
variants - first Delta and, at the end of the year, Omicron - re-launched 
fears of greater transmissibility and resistance to vaccines that would 
bring about strong impacts in the fields of public and financial health 
worldwide. Thus, the year 2021 will go down in history as the second 
year of the pandemic.

The transition process from mandatory confinement to the necessary 
coexistence with SARS-CoV-2 has proceeded between different countries 
at various speeds and, even today, uncertainty remains as to the 
possible and desirable balance between economy and health. If, at the 
beginning of 2020, the pandemic caused a crisis in demand due to the 
confinement measures - which involved the closure of several commercial 
establishments, industrial units and services and in which consumers 
themselves were forced to stay at home -, the economic recovery has 
been accompanied by a supply crisis. The ports’ crisis, rising fuel and 
energy prices, shortages of raw materials and labour, the intensifying 
of geopolitical tensions between the US and China, shortages of 
electronic components, rising prices of transport and of the shipping 
containers themselves, have called into question the most optimistic 
projections of many international institutions for the world economy. 
The automotive, industrial, consumer electronics, paper and construction 
sectors have been some of the most affected by the disruption in 
global supply chains, because of the downsizing policy of large
multinationals and world transporters, which reduced their capacity 
and their human resources right at the beginning of the pandemic.

Economic activity in the Eurozone will have grown by 5.2% in 2021, 
after the 6.2% drop observed in 2020. However, economic growth in 
the Eurozone in 2021 was inconsistent throughout the year. After a 
drop in economic activity at the beginning of 2021, the Eurozone’s GDP 
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grew by 2.2% in the 2nd quarter and 2.3% in the following quarter. 
However, the pace of growth slowed down significantly at the end of 
the year when economic activity grew by only 0.3% in the 4th quarter.

In Portugal, in 2021, GDP grew by 4.9%, this having been the highest 
annual growth rate since 1990, according to data from the Portuguese 
National Statistics Institute (INE). The strong growth of economic 
activity in Portugal was based on the recovery of domestic demand, 
of relevance being the increase in private consumption and investment. 
However, despite the strong growth in 2021, economic activity in 
Portugal has not yet recovered to pre-pandemic levels, given the effect 
of the 8.4% drop in GDP in 2020.

In the US, economic activity surpassed pre-pandemic levels in 2021, 
with GDP growing by 5.7%, after the 3.4% drop in 2020. Of note, too, 
was the 8.1% increase in the Chinese GDP, having made an important 
contribution to the 5.9% growth of the global economy in 2021.

In summary, one verifies that half of the Eurozone countries reached 
the end of 2021 with their economy fully recovered from Covid-19. 
Ireland, Luxembourg and Estonia were the fastest to recover the GDP 
values achieved at the end of 2019 – the first two did so in 2020. 
Germany and Italy are expected to reach this target between the first 
and second quarters of 2022. According to the OECD, Spain should be 
the last to recover, which should happen in the middle of next year.

In the case of Portugal, the external conjuncture, the support from the 
Recovery and Resilience Plan (RRP) and the accumulation of savings 
by families should help the GDP return to 2019 values, probably still in 
the 2nd or 3rd quarters of the current year, confirming that, this time, 
the recovery will be faster than after previous crises.

The global economic activity recovery was accompanied by an atypical 
rise in inflation levels in the main developed economies. While inflation 
in the Eurozone, in 2021, was 2.6%, in the USA the rise in the price level 
reached 4.7% in annual terms, a value much higher than the reference 
level desired by the monetary authorities (around 2.0%). 

According to International Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasts, the average 
annual rate of change in consumer prices is expected to rise from 3.2% 
in 2020 to 4.3% in 2021, which will be the highest level since 2011, reducing 
to 3.8% in 2022. The even greater increase in production prices — which 
is not yet being significantly reflected in consumer inflation — has reached 
high levels in two of the largest exporting economies in the world: the 
change in production prices reached 19.2% in November in Germany, a 
70-year record, and 13.5% in October in China, a 26-year high, slowing 
to 10.3% in December. In the other two main exporting economies, the 
United States and Japan, the change in December was 9.7% and 8.5%, 
respectively.

In terms of monetary policy, the central banks of the largest economic 
blocs adopted different speeds in 2021. The ECB announced a gradual 
decrease in the pace of asset purchases without committing to a date 
for the end of this intervention: the outlined plan is that the pace of 
monthly debt purchases – around Euros 80 thousand million – slows 
down to 40 thousand million in the second quarter, to 30 thousand 
million in the third and to 20 thousand million in the last months of 2022.

Regarding the US Central Bank, the Federal Reserve accelerated the 
reduction of monetary stimuli, starting the year 2022 putting a stop 
to the purchase of assets and signalling the beginning of the rate hike 
cycle still in the 1st quarter of the year, where the evolution of inflation 
could accelerate the rhythm of interest rate rises in the world’s largest 
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economy, at a time when the labour market shows signs of dynamism 
and the economy continues on a recovery path, despite the uncertainties 
arising from the military conflict between Ukraine and Russia. The Bank 
of England, in turn, has already raised the reference rate on 16 December 
2021, to 0.25%, after inflation surpassed 5% in November.

In the financial markets, in a context of low interest rates and rising 
inflation, investors continued to look for assets with a higher level of 
risk, particularly European stocks. The Stoxx 600, which aggregates the 
largest European companies, ended the year gaining 22.10%, even so 
surpassed by the French CAC 40, which advanced 28.85%, the Dutch 
AEX, which rose 27.75% and the Italian FTSE MIB, which won 23%. The 
German DAX had a more modest performance, recording a gain of 15.79%, 
and the British FTSE 100 appreciated 14.3%. More modest were the 
valuations of the stock exchanges of the Iberian Peninsula, with the 
Spanish IBEX 35 up 7.93%, being surpassed by the main Portuguese 
index which registered an annual gain of 13.70%.

The PSI-20 closed the year at 5,569.48 points, in what is the best annual 
performance since 2017. CTT was the star of the national stock market, 
accumulating a gain of 93.83% in the year – settling at Euros 4.555 per 
share. In total, 13 of the listed companies on the PSI-20 registered a 
positive annual balance, with banking, retail and the paper mills standing 
out positively. BCP’s price stood at Euros 0.1409, which translated into 
an annual gain of 14.37%, with the bank benefiting from the resilience 
at the end of the moratoria and the recovery of European banking. In 
retail, the Sonae group, owner of the Continente supermarket chain, gained 
51.63% in 2021. Jerónimo Martins, owner of the Pingo Doce chain and 
the Polish Biedronka, gained 45.44% last year. The paper sector, strongly 
influenced by the rise in raw material prices, also recorded a positive 
performance, with an emphasis on Navigator (+34.11%), Semapa (+30%) 

and with a more modest performance Altri (+8.72%). In energy, Greenvolt, 
the newcomer to the stock exchange, stood out having risen 32.29% 
since its listing on 15 July 2021.

On the other side of the Atlantic, the main North American markets 
also ended 2021 on a high. Strong corporate results and the expansionary 
monetary policy of the US Federal Reserve boosted shares, which 
renewed successive records throughout 2021. The S&P 500, the index 
that includes the 500 largest US companies, closed the year at 
4,766.18 points, thus accumulating an annual gain of 26.89%. The Dow 
Jones industrial index closed the year with an appreciation of 18.73%, 
at 36,338.30 points. The technological Nasdaq settled at 15,644.97 
points and appreciated 21.39% in 2021.

As the pandemic forced the shift to online and accelerated the digital 
business transformation, Apple (+34.30%), Amazon (+2.38%), Alphabet 
(+66.68%), Microsoft (+52. 56%), Meta (+26.1%) and Netflix (+13.20%) 
achieved record profits in 2021. In turn, this strong demand for
technology – combined with the disruption to supply chains fuelled by 
the lockdown – was so great that it caused a global shortage of 
semiconductor chips. This shortage of chips will continue in 2022, but, 
according to experts, there are signs that it could start to decrease in 
the summer of 2022 and that global chip production capacity will be 
higher than that recorded at the end of 2020. This greater optimism 
has been favourably reflected in the technological prices, in such a way 
that in the first sessions of the current year Apple became the first 
listed company to surpass, worldwide, a market valuation of three billion 
Dollars – when it reached an all-time high of 182.88 US Dollars per share. 
Since, on 2 August 2018, it joined the “trillion-dollar-babies” club (companies 
with a market capitalization above a billion Dollars), the value of the 
technological company led by Tim Cook has tripled, with its sales soaring. 
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The technological boom has been reflected in the market cap of most 
companies in the sector, such that Amazon, Facebook (now Meta 
Platforms) and Tesla have already surpassed market values above 
a billion Dollars, while Microsoft and Alphabet (owner of Google) have 
already surpassed a market cap of two billion. In the meantime, initiatives 
have been increasing with a view to greater regulation of technological 
companies. The US and Europe are trying to contain the growing power 
of US tech giants that have been the target of fines or new investigations.

In the US Congress, laws are beginning to be drawn up to stop or 
disintegrate the big internet companies. Even before the end of 2021, 
the European Parliament approved the proposal of the Law on Digital 
Markets, which aims to prohibit unfair commercial practices by digital 
giants, in addition to establishing new obligations for those companies 
operating in the European Union, in order to ensure a level playing field. 
The proposal foresees the imposition of fines between 4% and 20% of 
the billing on the so-called “gatekeepers” to the market that engage in 
practices of abuse of competition. In this way, regulatory pressure has 
been increasing in recent years and the debate on how to deal with the 
dominance of “Big Tech” remains on the agenda: some of the initiatives 
point to a separation of businesses, while others are more focused on 
these companies paying more taxes. One area where “Big Tech” could 
run into trouble is in mergers and acquisitions, as regulators begin 
blocking deals to foster competition and prevent these companies 
from expanding their monopolies.

Due to this increased scrutiny, regulation and several other factors, not 
everything tech shone in 2021. Some of the technological victims were 
Vivendi (French media conglomerate quoted in the Eurostoxx 50 index) 
which lost 55%, Philips (also quoted on the Eurostoxx 50) which devalued 
25% and Twitter which dropped by 21%. In China, the highlights were 

the losses of Alibaba (-48%), Baidu (-43%), JD (-19%) and the e-commerce 
portal Pinduoduo with a drop of 67%.

In raw materials, the year was one of great increases. The CRB index 
that covers the 19 main commodities appreciated 38.5%, when in 2020 
it had lost 10%. The price of a barrel of North Sea Brent crude, traded in 
London and the benchmark for European imports, rose from 52 to around 
79 Dollars throughout the year and the West Texas Intermediate (WTI), 
a benchmark for the United States, climbed from 48.5 Dollars to more 
than 75 Dollars. In contrast, the prices of precious metals fell: palladium 
lost the most, with a 22% drop, while the ounce of gold depreciated 
just over 3%. In the critical rare metals market, the Australian Strategy 
Materials appreciated 413% and the North American MP Materials saw 
its price soar 225%.

In the foreign exchange market, the Euro depreciated by more than 7% 
against the Dollar (1 Euro fell from 1.22 to 1.13 Dollars) and the Pound 
Sterling (1 Euro fell from 0.91 to 0.84 Pounds) and more than 8% against 
the Chinese Yuan (1 Euro fell from 7.91 to 7.24 Yuan), in other words, it 
gained currency competitiveness in relation to the currencies of its three 
main trading partners.

With the increase in inflation and the tightening of monetary policy, albeit 
with less intensity in the Eurozone compared with the United States and 
the vast majority of central banks, there was an increase in public debt 
interest on the secondary market: the 10-year interest rate on German 
debt, which serves as a benchmark in the Eurozone, increased from 
-0.575% at the end of 2020 to -0.179% at the end of last year, the 10-year 
Treasury rate (US Government debt securities) in the same period rose 
from 0.917% to 1.512% and in the case of Portuguese 10-year bonds, 
these rose from 0.022% to 0.485%.
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The year 2022 begins in a context of high uncertainty arising from 
Russia’s military intervention in Ukraine, significantly destabilizing the 
economic recovery process started last year, where the normalization 
of supply chains may continue to be conditioned, with implications in 
food and energy goods. In addition, a greater persistence of inflation 
accompanied by lower prospects for economic growth, will translate 
into an increased challenge for the management of monetary policy, 
with greater emphasis on the European Central Bank, given the fact 
that the Eurozone could become the developed economic bloc most 
impacted by the war in Eastern Europe.

Sustainability is certainly a theme that is here to stay and that will mark 
this and the coming years. The implementation of measures promoting 
the circular economy and ESG criteria has become unstoppable, as 
there is a consensus that action is needed and policymakers themselves 
are increasingly aware of this.

Operations in 2021

The year 2021 was marked by an unprecedented digitalization of the 
Bank’s business, both in terms of the growth of Customers using digital 
channels, in the number of transactions and their weight, as well as in 
the availability of thousands of products in the App. 

Examples of this were the numerous achievements in the App:

• Expansion of the offer of Investment and Trading products available 
in the App, namely purchase and sale of shares, bonds, warrants, 

ETF, PSO, endowment policies, DWS Portfolio Management Robot 
Advisor, unit-linked, pension funds and PPRs, as well as the       
monitoring of portfolio profitability.

• Launch in the App for Customers of a new modality of “Savings by 
Objectives”, the first Portuguese robot advisor that provides advice 
on insurance investments, allowing the constitution and monitoring 
of investment plans tailored to the Customer, either through depos-
its or through unit -linked. It integrates alert systems in the App and 
via e-mail about possible deviations from the plan, as well as when 
the Customer’s profile or the market moment recommends chang-
ing the investment.

• Availability in the App of a financial Dashboard that makes it possible 
to view investments by product type, as well as their performance.

• Creation of a Wishlist that allows adding products that the Customer 
wants to follow, even those not in the Customer’s portfolio.

• Availability in the App of an integrated search module (à la Google) 
with the option to purchase, access products, features and advertising 
in context, as well as various features and tools for the day-to-day 
financial management.

• Corporate events can now be responded to by the Customer in the 
App, with several options being provided.

• Comprehensive management of the Investor Profile Questionnaire 
(IPQ) in the App, which is presented to the Customer for action, 
with the possibility of same filling it in, whenever it is out of date.
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• Possibility of the immediate contracting of travel insurance with 
geolocation in the App, or before the trip to a specific country         
or continent.

• Increase in the level of customization of the App, making it increasingly 
more to the taste of each Customer (e.g., customization of colour, 
background image, name, among others).

• Introduction of new MB WAY features, such as requesting money 
and making payments, among others.

• Creation of alerts for the Customer to update his/her personal data 
when same is missing or expired in the App. With these initiatives 
– which can also be carried out on the Website – the Bank sought 
to respond to the legal compliance requirements in a simple way 
for the Customer, avoiding physical travel.

• Possibility of managing registered devices to receive security 
notifications.

• Availability of a version of the App for Huawei equipment.

In addition to the App, the Bank also renewed the public Website at 
bancobest.pt introducing a new image designed from scratch. The 
Website was built based on the main interactions of the previous one, 
so the number of pages was reduced and the language simplified, with 
the substitution of the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) by a chatbot 
and the filtering from among the thousands of products was refined 
through micro questionnaires. Following the great digital trends, 
comparators between products for the Customer to easily understand 
the difference between two or more products selected were implemented.

Visually, the design reflects a younger, fresher digital image and a more 
mobile logic. The website is so dynamic that every time one enters the 
colours change. In addition, product presentation is dynamic, differing 
between Customer and non-Customer.

With the aim of providing the Customer with a coherent and transver-
sal experience across all channels, the redesign of the transactional 
website also merits notice, making it more functional, modern, simple 
and mobile thinking. Several improvements were also introduced, for 
example: a new integrated net asset position, provision of information 
on capital gains and losses and a sales simulator.

Customer raising is one of the central themes of the Bank’s activity, 
with a new account opening experience being made available, transversal 
to all channels - App, Website and Investment Centres - in which, in 
addition to the redesign of the interface and an experience improvement, 
Banco Best established itself as the first Bank in Portugal to accept 
passports (Portugal, Spain, France and Italy) when opening an account, 
in a process identical to the one already in place for the citizen card - for 
the Digital Mobile Key and video call -, allowing the opening of a 100% 
digital account, in 5 minutes.

The video call process exists in Portuguese and English and has the 
ability to adjust to the specific person’s personal and professional 
characteristics.

As a result of this streamlining/simplification of the account opening 
process and the dynamics of the digital marketing actions, Customer 
raising showed a very favourable evolution with a growth of 41%, with 
the digital means being privileged, with 40% of the accounts opened by 
video call or Digital Mobile Key.
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Additionally, the account opening functionality associated with the 
Best Trading Pro service was made available, allowing a 100% digital 
experience for a multitude of holders.

Regarding the use of digital channels, the digital transformation 
operated by the Bank in the last 4 years translated into several indicators 
of success in the realization of operations in these channels:

• 99% in transfers;
• 90% in investment fund orders;
• 100% in trading, 80% in unit-linked, 88% in bonds, 99% in deposits;
• 74% in card requests.

This demonstrates that the renewed channels have usability and clarity 
that encourages their use, with the App being already more used than 
the Website, with 6 weekly logins in the App versus 3.3 on the Website.

Worthy of note was the favourable evolution of the number of Customers, 
with Banco Best exceeding 89 thousand Customers at the end of 2021, 
with the raising of 4 655 Customers, corresponding to a positive change 
of 41% compared with the previous year. This positive evolution is thus 
the result of the streamlining of the remote onboarding process, the 
dynamics of the digital marketing actions and the performance of the 
commercial network, namely through the signing of partnerships with 
various entities.

In the Asset Management area, Best consolidated its position as a 
leader investment platform where innovation and the independence of 
the offer are pillars of the activity, having added, in this period, new 
partnerships, products and financial services.

In 2021, there was a reinforcement of the market share in the Trading 
area, with a growth of 59% in the volume traded of online derivatives 
between January and December (data according to the annual report 
of the Portuguese Securities Market Commission (CMVM)). In this 
business line, considering the universe of entities which activity is 
focused on non-professional investors (retail), the market share of 
online derivatives was 18.7%, registering an increase compared with 
the 13.4% of 2020 and 9.7% of 2019.

Best’s leadership was publicly recognized in the double distinction 
obtained at the Rankia Portugal Awards, with the Bank receiving the 
awards for “Best ETF Broker” and “Best Trading Entity” of Investment 
Funds (the latter for the second consecutive year).

In terms of the diversification of investment options, worthy of mention 
is the availability of crowdfunding - in the scope of the offer of alternative 
investments - in partnership with Raize. 

This partnership was highlighted in the Fintech Report Portugal 2021, 
as it demonstrates the new collaboration paradigm between fintechs 
and banks, by providing its Customers with access to a crowdfunding 
product for the diversification of their investment portfolios, available 
for amounts from as little as Euros 20.

In terms of the development of partnerships, the agreement entered 
with three new fund managers – Nomura, Natixis e Bluebay – and the 
start of the marketing of the Sixty Degrees PPR fund (the only PPR that 
offers Customers a 100% flexible investment policy with tax advantages), 
as well as a new endowment policy – Una Aforro 4. The partnership with 
the exclusive fund Property Core proved to be highly attractive, having 
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ended its 1st year after launch with a thousand private investors and 
a volume close to Euros 20 million.

In 2021, we recorded an annual growth of 33% in the volume of funds 
and ETFs that incorporate Environmental, Social and Corporate 
Governance (ESG) criteria. At the end of the year, more than 1 100 
investment funds available at Banco Best incorporated ESG factors 
into their investment policy, reinforcing the distinctive character of 
Banco Best’s offer in this area, providing us with an additional stimulus 
to continue to develop the offer of products that invest in companies 
committed to the environment, society and high governance standards.

As Best’s approach is Customer-centric and seeking to meet the 
specific profile of each one, in 2021 the financial advisory service was 
reformulated, and the Advisory Desk service was created.

In another context, but with the same purpose of customizing solutions, 
a new commercial approach was developed with diversified and 
profiled investment options – Best Way.

Of a very diverse nature, other achievements in 2021 also merit mention:

• Strengthening of the IT system (active-active) with the introduction 
of an intelligent arbitration mechanism.

• Updating of the Open Banking platform infrastructure, allowing the 
Bank to connect via the Application Programming Interface (API) to 
external entities and Payment Services Directive (PSD) 2.

• Recruitment of 20 new Linked Agents in the external commercial 
network, most of them with a lot of experience in the banking area, 

including former employees of the Private segment of large           
international banks.

• Reinforcement of control mechanisms and simplification of          
interactions with Customers, through the provision of an App to 
external consultants that ensures the automatic recording of calls 
on mobile phones (a feature previously available to internal managers).

• Consolidation of fraud prevention and monitoring tools.

• Significant reversal of provisions for legal risks (favourable impact 
on P&L for 2021 of Euros 900 thousand) as a direct result of the 
favourable evolution of the main legal processes.

• Cost reduction and tight financial control maintaining the capacity 
for innovation and commercial dynamic dynamics in a year in 
which maximum business volumes were exceeded.

Organisational Model

As a result of the shareholder novobanco’s decision, in 2021, the 
Investment and the Information Systems Directorates of Banco Best 
were extinguished - strategic and core Directorates for the activity and 
positioning of the Bank – with their competencies being transferred to 
novobanco on 1 December 2021.

In this process, other competencies were also transferred to novobanco, 
namely, the Organization and Processes Directorate – except for some 
Quality and Control functions – and specific processes previously 
assured by the Financial Directorate and the Human Capital Directorate.
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Since 1 December these services have been provided by novobanco, 
through the widening of the scope of the existing outsourcing 
contract in force.

After this integration, Banco Best maintains the management of the 
Marketing Directorate (which has, among other responsibilities, that of 
the development and management of digital channels), the Business 
Intelligence, Financial and Human Capital Directorates (albeit with a 
reduced scope), as well as the Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate 
(in a logic of common services), and some control competencies. 

This decision resulted in a decreased in Banco Best’s autonomy and 
the decrease in its Personnel, with staff numbers decreasing by 41 
to the closing 90 Employees, 65% of which in the commercial areas.

Human Capital

In 2021, Banco Best maintained a strong focus on the training of its 
Employees, both in the central and in the commercial areas, both 
internal and external. Considering the continued pandemic situation, 
all the training carried out took place via our online training platforms. 
Our objective was achieved to certify and maintain certified all Employees 
in the commercial areas in terms of Markets in Financial Instruments 
Directive (MiFID) II, resulting in a total of more than 9 500 hours of training. 
The rules imposed by the supervisory entities regarding the annual 
training that each Employee must receive regarding the topic of Money 
Laundering and Financing of Terrorism were also complied with.

In the scope of insurance, Conformation training was carried out for all 

Bank Employees who already held the status of Persons Directly 
Involved in the Insurance Distribution Activity (PDIIDA), thus allowing 
for their maintenance of this status, and resulting in a total of approximately 
1 800 hours of training. Some 8 Bank Employees also obtained their 
initial certification as PDIIDA, which represented more than 640 hours 
of training.

Considering, as already mentioned, the maintenance of all the Bank’s 
training actions on the online format, as well as the exponential increase 
in work from the home office, there was a great focus on training and 
raising awareness of the challenges, in terms of IT security and others, 
that this change produced, and the Bank carried out training actions 
aimed at this problem, corresponding to more than 950 hours. Several 
training sessions were carried out jointly with Bank partners, to debate 
and analyse the trends in the financial markets during 2021, aimed at 
all Employees in the commercial areas.

Welcoming training, Best Welcome Training, continued for all Employees 
who started to work with the Bank, with 35 hours of training, in online 
format, in which 12 Employees participated.

As a result of the maintenance of the constraints linked to the pandemic 
situation, Banco Best maintained the recruitment process and carried 
out assessment tests for all candidates to the position of Linked 
Agents through the LinkedIn and Survey Monkey electronic platforms, 
maintaining all the rules of confidentiality and security and, in the case 
of knowledge assessment tests, with the result becoming immediately 
after the completion of same.

Within the scope of Employee motivational initiatives and to align the 
central and commercial teams with the Bank’s strategy and objectives, 
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• Effectiveness of the direct and senior leaderships in the communication 
of objectives and strategy.

• Agility and innovation in the company with freedom to suggest and 
implement their ideas.

• Cooperation between directorates and decision-making capacity  
of the Employee.

• Confidence in the future of Best.

The value of the Net Promoter Score indicator is calculated according 
to international criteria in which Employees who respond with 9 or 10 
to the question of whether they would recommend Best as a good 
place to work are considered promoters, neutral are those who evaluate 
with 7 and 8, with all attributing inferior ratings being considered detractors. 
The current value already reveals Best has had an improvement, 
compared with the very negative values in the initial surveys.

Best carried out several events and encounters, having for the first time 
adopted the “phygital” model, joining the physical presence with the digital, 
resulting in a dynamic event where all could participate in an action 
that took place at the Lisbon Oceanarium. In this encounter, the themes 
of sustainability and protection of the oceans were always present and 
were linked to Best’s strong offer and action in the ESG scope.

In 2021, Banco Best admitted 4 employees, registered the departure of 
10 to outside the novobanco Group and 36 were contracted by novobanco 
itself; as such, Best closed on 31 December with 90 employees, 
compared with the 132 of the previous year. It should be noted that 
the workforce is relatively young, with an average age of 43, 97% have 
permanent contracts and 59% having a seniority of 11 years at Best. 
There is a relative equilibrium in terms of gender with 58% being men 
and 42% women, and a very high level of academic qualification, with 
86% of the employees having Tertiary Education.

Worthy of note is the continuous improvement in the satisfaction and 
motivation of Best’s Employees, reflected in the good results obtained 
in the internal survey, Pulse: the favourability rate went from 58% in 
2018 to 77% in 2021 and the Net Promotor Score (NPS) evolved, in this 
same period, from a negative value -27 to +20. These indicators 
demonstrate that the active policy of listening, collecting and imple-
menting the suggestions collected from all Employees, pursued in this 
period, combined with a posture of greater dialogue and internal 
collaboration between directorates, was very successful.

The dimensions evaluated for the determination of this index are:

• Employees’ experience in their professional evolution and in their 
professional/personal life balance.

-

Net Promoter Score
Evolution of the favourability
rate of the Engagement
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Environmental Policy

In addition to the distinctive character of Banco Best’s offer in terms of 
offering products that invest in companies committed to the environment 
and the dissemination of sustainability themes in the forums where it 
participates, at the operational level Best also applies the most advanced 
environmental policy measures applicable to the financial sector:

• through a rational consumption, restricted to the minimum necessary, 
of supplies and services of third parties, such as, namely, the 
maximum energy efficiency, the reduction of paper and practically 
eliminating plastic consumption;

• with the adoption of a predominantly digital environment in all 
operative processes, reducing to a minimum the need to print both 
in the relationship with the Customer and in the back-office processes, 
with the objective of the full digitalization of the processes;

• with the opting for environmentally friendly products, namely with 
the consumption of treated drinking water from the water dispenser, 
the provision of ceramic coffee cups and glass water bottles to all 
Employees and the provision of paper cups and recyclable wooden 
straws for visitors, thus eliminating the use of plastic;

• through efficient waste management, including the recycling of 
paper and printer toners;

• by removing individual paper bins and the provision of recycling 
bins in the workspaces, thus enabling an additional recycling of  
current-use plastic and paper;

• in the choice of suppliers, with environmental factors being considered 
in the selection and award process;

• by replacing professional travel with telematic contacts, or, in the 
case of these being made, using the most environmentally friendly 
means of transport;

• the teleworking regime decidedly adopted at Best since the beginning 
of the pandemic has contributed decisively to a reduction of the 
environmental footprint, not only because of the decrease in the 
commute to and from work but also through the experience obtained 
in adapting to digital the work and commercial relationship processes.

Best’ experience in terms of telework in 2021, was the basis that 
allowed Best to adopt a hybrid regime of telework and work at the 
office, with simultaneous production and Employee satisfaction gains. 

Risk Management
Bank of Portugal’s Notice no. 3/2020 (29-07-2020) implemented a 
thorough review of the framework regulating the conduct and culture, 
the governance and the internal organization of financial entities, with 
a view to promoting a sound and prudent management of their activity, 
in line with the guidelines of the European Banking Authority (EBA) on 
internal governance. Notice no. 3/2020 explains the possibility for 
institutions, when they are part of a financial group, to establish common 
services for the development of the responsibilities assigned to the 
functions of risk management, compliance and internal audit, with the 
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in risk management throughout the successive stages of the loan 
process. This approach is complemented by the introduction of continuous 
improvements both in methodologies and tools for risk assessment 
and control, as well as at the level of the decision procedures and 
circuits. In this regard, the monitoring of the Bank’s credit risk profile, 
namely regarding the evolution of credit exposures and the monitoring 
of credit losses, is carried out regularly by the Risk Committee. Compliance 
with the approved credit limits and the correct operation of the mechanisms 
associated with credit line approvals are also regularly analysed within 
the scope of the day-to-day commercial activity. At the end of 2021, 
the amount of the gross loans’ exposure and the impairment constituted 
was Euros 149 million and Euros 1 million, respectively.

Market risk management, which generally represents any loss resulting 
from an adverse change in the value of a financial instrument because 
of changes in interest rates, exchange rates and share and commodity 
prices, is integrated with the balance sheet management through the 
Capital, Assets and Liabilities Committee (CALCO) structure constituted 
at the novobanco Group level. 

This body analyses the Bank’s liquidity position, namely the balance 
sheet evolution, an extensive analysis of the gaps and the key indicators 
of the activity (Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), liquidity and commercial 
gaps, evolution of deposit rates and credit). In summary, a comprehensive 
risk assessment of liquidity and its evolution is carried out, with a special 
focus on the current liquidity buffers and the generation/maintenance 
of eligible assets and their respective impacts on the LCR liquidity ratio. 
At the end of 2021, the regulatory minimum LCR of 100% was, in the 
case of Best, 124%.

At the market risk level, the main risk measurement element is the 

specific regime to be observed in these cases being mentioned in 
article 50 of the aforementioned Notice. In this context and given that 
the entire share capital of Best is held directly or indirectly by novobanco 
and that the requirements set out in the aforementioned Bank of Portugal 
Notice for the establishment of common services for the development 
of the responsibilities assigned to the functions of risk management, 
compliance and internal audit, a contract designated “Framework 
Agreement – Intragroup Services” was signed on 30-12-2020 between 
Best and novobanco, which includes, among others, the formalization 
of these common services in the control functions.

With regard specifically to the Risk Management function, Banco Best 
carries out the activity inherent to this function based on the practices, 
guidelines and IT systems established and applied by the Risk Management 
function of the novobanco Group. Notwithstanding the specificities 
motivated by Banco Best’s business model, this Bank has a direct 
functional dependence on novobanco, as determined by the Board of 
Directors of the latter entity, for the exercise of the responsibilities 
attributed to the Risk Management function.

In the novobanco Group, the process of identifying risks and the 
respective materiality takes place on an annual basis when carrying 
out the ICAAP and ILAAP regulatory exercises, as well as the process 
of defining/revising the risk appetite. In these, novobanco defines a set 
of risk appetite metrics on a consolidated basis and applicable to all 
entities of the Group, including, naturally, Banco Best, namely the liquidity 
management and market risks, as well as non-financial risks that 
present statements applicable to all entities of the Group.

In relation to credit risk, a permanent management of the loan portfolios 
is carried out, favouring interaction between the various teams involved 
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Currently, under the new legal order of Basel III, the capital elements
of Best for the purpose of determining the solvency ratio, are divided 
into Common Equity Tier 1, Tier 1, Tier II and Total Own Funds, with 
the following composition:

• Common Equity Tier I: this category includes, essentially, realized 
share capital, share premiums, eligible reserves, and the positive 
results for the financial year, when audited. The deductions from 
Common Equity Tier I include the eligible amount of intangible 
assets, the negative actuarial deviations arising on post-employment 
liabilities to employees, the excess value of deferred tax assets and 
of shareholdings in financial companies and, where applicable, the 
negative results for the financial year;

• Tier I: in addition to the amounts considered in Common Equity Tier I, 
this category includes, where applicable, preference shares and 
hybrid equity instruments;

• Tier II: mainly incorporates, where applicable, eligible subordinated 
debt issued.

The capital of Best is exclusively composed of Common Equity Tier I 
elements, with the solvency ratio reaching the figure of 44.1% at the end of 
2021, thus complying with the capital ratio imposed by the Bank of Portugal. 

The Risk Management function, which is vital for the development
 of Banco Best’s activity, aims to identify, assess, monitor and report 
all materially relevant risks to which the Bank is subject, both internally 
and externally, and performs its functions in a manner independent 
of the functional areas, providing risk management advice to the 
management body.

estimation of potential losses under adverse market conditions, for 
which the Value at Risk (VaR) methodology is used. The Bank uses 
a VaR with recourse to the Monte Carlo simulation, with a confidence 
interval of 99% and an investment period of 10 days. Volatility and 
correlations are historical, based on a one-year observation period. As 
a complement to the VaR, extreme scenarios (stress-testing) have been 
developed that allow for the evaluation of the impacts of potential losses 
higher than those considered in the VaR measurement. At the end of 
2021, Best had a VaR of Euros 14 thousand for its trading positions.

For operational risk management, which includes operational, information 
systems, compliance and reputational risks, a system has been developed 
and implemented to ensure the standardization, systematization, and 
recurrence of the activities for the identification, monitoring, control, 
and mitigation of this risk. This system is supported by an organizational 
structure, integrated in the Global Risk Department of novobanco 
exclusively dedicated to this task as well as Operational Risk Management 
representatives designated by each of the departments and subsidiaries 
considered relevant, who are responsible for compliance with the 
established procedures and the day-to-day management of this risk
in their areas of competence.

Lastly, regarding Capital Management and Solvency and Leverage 
Ratios, it should be noted that, in prudential terms, the Bank is subject 
to the supervision of the Bank of Portugal, which, based on the 
Community’s capital adequacy Directive, establishes the rules that 
should be observed at this level by the various institutions under its 
supervision. These rules determine a minimum ratio of total own funds 
in relation to the requirements resulting from the risks assumed, which 
the institutions must comply with.
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compared with the 0.18% of the previous year.

The favourable growth in Customer deposits of +5% compared with 
the previous year, combined with an increase in Loans and advances 
to customers of +20%, were directly reflected in an increase in the 
transformation of deposits into credit ratio of +2.6 p.p. compared 
with the previous year to 20.3%, even so a very prudent level, in line 
with Best’s high liquidity and equity ratios previously presented.

The increase in shareholders’ equity in relation to the previous year 
of 1%, resulted from the positive Net Income of 2021 of + Euros 3.3 
million and the incorporation of the entire result generated in the 
previous year of + Euros 1.8 million, with no distribution of dividends, 
more than offsetting the deviation in the value of the Revaluation 
Reserves (- Euros 2.7 million) due to the realization of capital gains 
in results, which together with the reduction in market interest rates 
reduced the value of the unrealized gains.

Regarding the Income Statement, Banking Income came in at Euros 
17.5 million, 5.5% above the previous year, with the increase in 
commissions received in the amount of + Euros 3.2 million compared 
with the previous year, more than offsetting the reduction in Net 
Interest Income of - Euros 0.7 million and in capital gains/losses and 
other results from the sale of assets of - Euros 0.3 million. The reduction 
in Net Interest Income compared with the previous year was mainly 
due to the reduction in the interest rates received from the application 
of Best’s surplus cash with novobanco, resulting from the internal 
Transfer pricing model.

Net commissions, which directly reflect the core activities of Best, grew 
18% over the previous year. This growth reflects the good commercial 

The Risk Management function, is centralized in the Risk, Compliance 
and Integrity Directorate (RCID) and is independent of the business areas, 
operating with the functional support of the Global Risk Department 
of novobanco.

Balance Sheet and Income Statement

Regarding the 2021 Financial Statements, the 4% growth in Net assets 
in Banco Best’s Balance Sheet over the previous year is to be highlighted, 
having closed the financial year with a total value of Euros 860 million, 
value which, when compared with the volume of AUMs that Customers 
hold with Best of Euros 2.7 thousand million, shows the greater relative 
importance that the off-balance sheet activity has for Best in relation 
to the volumes on the Balance Sheet.

At the end of 2021, Customer deposits (“Due to customers”) amounted 
to Euros 728 million, corresponding to a positive variation of +5% 
compared with 2020. Illustrating the extent of the digitization of Best’s 
Customer database, 98% of term deposit operations were carried out 
via self-servicing on the digital channels (App and Website). The 
increase of Euros 25.1 million in Loans and advances to customers 
compared with the previous year allowed the recovery of credit to 
levels similar to those of the pre-pandemic period and was achieved 
maintaining the typology of high-quality credit in Best’s portfolio, which 
is 99% made up of credit collateralized by financial assets. Best has 
no loans under moratorium and the value of overdue loans and interest 
continues under strict control, with this aggregate having reached a 
reduced value of Euros 258 thousand at the end of the year, putting the 
ratio of overdue loans in Loans and advances to customers at 0.17% 
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The reinforcement of the equity of Best in 2021 through self-financing 
and the growth of loans and advances to customers, allowed the Core 
Tier 1 ratio to remain at a very prudent level, with a value of 44.1% in 
2021 compared with 45.3% in 2020, with this indicator also being at a 
very high level when compared with other banks, both nationally and 
internationally.

The Return on Equity (ROE) of 4.1%, higher than the 2.2% recorded in 
2020, is, however, hampered by the too high level of equity allocated to 
Best, so a ROE calculation on the theoretical level of a Euros 35 million 
capital, considered sufficient for the operation of Best, has a very 
favourable value of 9.3%.

performance, with the increase in income generated by funds, insurance 
and portfolio management of + Euros 1.1 million and from the Customer 
Trading and PSO activity also growing + Euros 1.1 million compared 
with the previous year, more than offsetting the increase in commissions 
paid to External Advisors of + Euros 0.5 million and the reduction in 
commissions received for Guarantees issued in favour of novobanco 
of - Euros 0.35 million.

Operating costs, always under strict control at Best, were 3% below the 
previous year, because of the decrease in variable costs due to the 
restructuring of the stock exchanges’ feed systems and the reduction 
of legal costs. The reduction in staff costs, resulting from the centralization 
in novobanco, was annulled in December by the cost of the compensation 
paid to 2 employees who did not accept the transfer.

The decrease in costs, combined with the increase in banking income, 
led to a favourable evolution in the Cost to Income ratio to 78.6%, 
compared with the 85.7% verified in the previous year.

In terms of provisions, there is an accumulated net reversal of – Euros 
755 thousand, which compares with the amount of the net reinforcement 
of Euros 317 thousand made in the previous year, this favourable 
evolution being fully justified by the reversal of provisions for legal 
proceedings with a value of – Euros 898 thousand.

In terms of income taxes, there is a growth of Euros 1 million compared 
with the previous year, as a direct consequence of the strong increase 
in Pre-tax income from Euros 2 million in 2020 to Euros 4.5 million in 2021.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Corporate Bodies of Best were as follows:

General Meeting Board
Patrícia Afonso Fonseca Moraes Bastos (Chair)
Mário Nuno de Almeida Martins Adegas (Secretary)

Board of Directors
Albert Sylvain May (Chair) 
Maria Madalena Monteiro da Mata Torres Pitta e Cunha (Vice-Chair)
Pedro Alexandre Lemos Cabral das Neves (Member) 
Nuno Miguel Gomes Moutinho Rocha (Member)
Jorge Daniel Lopes da Silva (Member)
Isabel Maria Costa Pereira Ramos de Almeida (Member)
João Carlos Brito da Silva Dias (Member)

Supervisory Board
Fernando Jorge Henriques Bernardo (Chair) 
João José Barragàn Pires (Member) 

Statutory Auditor
Effective: Ernst & Young & Associados - SROC, S.A. - Statutory Auditor 
no. 178 
Represented by António Filipe Dias da Fonseca Brás - Statutory Auditor 
no. 1661 
Alternate: João Miguel Alves - Statutory Auditor no. 896 

Company Secretary
José Alexandre Pereira Soares de Santo António 
Alternate: Mário Nuno de Almeida Martins Adegas

Shareholder Structure and Corporate Bodies

In financial year 2021, the shareholder structure of Banco Best had a 
slight change because of the liquidation of Novo Banco Servicios 
Corporativos, S.L.U., which occurred on 20-11-2021, with the 100 
shares previously held by same coming to integrate the novobanco 
shareholding, with Best thus continuing to be 100% held within the 
novobanco Group, with the following split: 
 

TAXPAYER No. COMPANY NAME No. SHARES %

513 204 016 NOVO BANCO, SA 62 999 800 99.9997%

512 061 840 NOVO BANCO DOS AÇORES, SA 100 0.0002%

502 933 380 GNB Gestão de Ativos SGPS, SA 100 0.0002%

TOTAL 63 000 000 100.0000%
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Outlook
The process of integrating Best’s core and support areas in novobanco, 
which took place on 1 December 2021, with the objective of obtaining 
synergies and economies of scale in terms of reducing operating 
costs, may affect the positioning and development of Best, namely the 
maintenance of its business model and the development of the activity, 
depending on the strategic options that may be defined by the 
shareholder novobanco.

The successive pandemic waves during this period caused by the 
COVID-19 virus and the effects, as yet unknown, on financial markets 
and on world economies related to the recent invasion of Ukraine by 
Russia and the consequent widespread imposition of sanctions, have 
increased uncertainty and volatility in the financial markets, the 
uncertainty as to the continuity of the recovery of economic activity 
and the fear that these events will jeopardize the economic activity 
recovery that was just beginning to materialize. Regarding this last 
aspect, the form and speed in which the aid and stimulus plans for 
the recovery of economies, which had just begun to be launched by
the various governments and international multilateral institutions, will 
be discontinued will be decisive for the evolution of the economies. 
This uncertainty regarding macroeconomic policies in an environment 
still undefined in terms of interest rates, but with signs of rising infla-
tion, potentially exacerbated by recent events to the East, may maintain 
high volatility in financial markets, with a direct impact on the valuation 
of the financial assets made available and sold by Banco Best.

In any case, the impacts on Banco Best’s own activity may be mitigated:

Regarding the composition of the Corporate Bodies of Best, except 
for the Statutory Auditor who was reappointed at the General Meeting 
of Best of 17 September 2021 for a three-year period (2020-2023), 
the remaining Corporate Bodies were elected at the General Meeting 
of Best held on 8 October 2019 for a three-year term (2019-2021), 
with the Company Secretary being elected at the Board of Directors 
meeting of 23 October 2019.

In a letter dated 29 March 2021, Mr. António Joaquim Andrade Gonçalves, 
Chair of the Supervisory Board resigned with effect on the date of the 
General Meeting approving the accounts for the 2020 financial year, 
which took place on 28 April 2021. The alternate member elected at 
the General Meeting of 8 October 2019, Mr. João José Barragàn Pires, 
assumed the functions of effective member, along with Ms. Isabel 
Maria Beja Gonçalves Novo and Mr. Fernando Jorge Henriques Bernardo. 
In a meeting held on 28 April 2021, under the terms and for the purposes 
of article 415(2) of the Portuguese Commercial Companies Code, 
Mr. Fernando Jorge Henriques Bernardo was elected by the members 
as Chair of the Supervisory Board. Subsequently, in a letter dated 25 
October 2021, Ms. Isabel Maria Beja Gonçalves Novo resigned from 
the function of Member of the Supervisory Board with effect on 15 
November 2021.

Relevant facts after the close of the financial year

At the corporate level there is nothing of note, Best has no assets on 
the Balance Sheet with risk related to Russia, Ukraine or other Eastern 
European countries.
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• by the strong increase in the Portuguese people’s use of and 
confidence in digital banking and in communication channels at a 
distance, which expands Best’s potential target market, which was 
born digital and has an optimized structure and offer for this 
banking model;

• by the income generation benefitting from the diversification that 
results from an extensive offer of financial products, both in terms 
of on balance sheet banking products, such as deposits, cards and 
bank credit, but mainly in terms of financial products recorded off 
balance sheet, such as investment funds, shares, bonds, insurance, 
mortgage loans, renting and service platforms for other entities;

• by the light operating and distribution cost structures, fully adapted 
to a remote offer through digital channels; 

• by the low level of risk on the Balance Sheet, namely with the 
inexistence of risks assumed in relation to Eastern Europe, combined 
with very prudent levels of transformation, liquidity and leverage ratios.

Despite the uncertainties mentioned, Banco Best projects the development 
of its activity in 2022 along the following main lines  of action:

• Continuing to offer a high-quality service to all Customers and 
future Customers through the different channels, with a greater 
focus on digital channels, while also offering Customers the        
possibility of enjoying different levels of customized service, up     
to the level of the Exclusive service for Customers of greater value 
and sophistication.

• Maintaining the diversification and independence of the financial 
offer, through a wide range of Asset Management and Trading 
products and services that aim to satisfy the need for diversification 
of financial assets and currencies and allow Customers to quickly 
take advantage of investment opportunities that arise in function  
of a constantly changing financial environment.

• Reinforcing the digital interaction tools with Customers.

• Maintaining Best’s employees, internal and external, with a high 
level of technical and interpersonal relationship training, to provide 
the best quality service and support to all Customers and partners 
of Best, through the most appropriate and efficient channels for 
each type of interaction.

All these initiatives are accompanied by the maintenance of efforts 
to control and contain costs, with the emphasis being on making the 
offer available through the most efficient channels, for each product 
and Customer, aiming, in this manner, to improve the efficiency levels 
of Best, in a market context that is expected to remain highly competitive.

Proposal for the appropriation of the results

Pursuant to Article 66(5)(f) of the Portuguese Commercial Companies 
Code, the Board of Directors of Banco Best proposes for approval by 
the Shareholders’ General Meeting that the net income for the period, 
positive in the amount of Euros 3 268 692.16 (three million two hun-
dred and sixty-eight thousand six hundred and ninety-two Euros and 
sixteen Cents) be appropriated as follows:
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• Euros 326 869.22 to the Legal Reserve;

• Euros 2 941 822.94 to Other Reserves and Retained Earnings.

Additional Information

In compliance with legal requirements, the Board of Directors expressly 
confirms that:

• The Bank neither holds treasury shares nor did it acquire or sell any.

• There were no transactions between the Bank and its Directors.

• The Bank has no past due debts to the State, namely Social          
Security and the Tax Authorities.

• The Bank has no branches.

Concluding remarks
On concluding the Management Report for 2021, the Board of 
Directors wishes to acknowledge the cooperation of all those who,
in the performance of their duties, have contributed towards 
achieving the established goals, namely:

• the Monetary and Financial Authorities and Supervisory entities, 
notably the Bank of Portugal, the Securities and Exchange         
Commission and the Portuguese Insurance Institute for their 
collaboration and support;

• our Customers for their trust and preference;

• our Shareholders for their constant support and interested            
accompanying of the activity of the Bank;

• the General Meeting Board and Supervisory Board members, the 
Statutory Auditor and the Company Secretary for their participatory 
and constructive attitude at all times; 

• our Employees for their commitment, motivation, willingness,     
and professional competence demonstrated.
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Lisbon, 21 March 2022

Board of Directors:

Albert Sylvain May

Maria Madalena Monteiro da Mata Torres Pitta e Cunha

Pedro Alexandre Lemos Cabral das Neves

Nuno Miguel Gomes Moutinho Rocha

Jorge Daniel Lopes da Silva 

Isabel Maria Costa Pereira Ramos de Almeida

João Carlos Brito da Silva Dias
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Annexes to the Management Report
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1. In compliance with that laid down in Article 447 of the Portuguese 
Commercial Companies Code, we declare that none of the members 
of the Management and Supervisory bodies are holders of the 
Company’s shares.

2. Shareholders holding more than one tenth of the share capital of the 
Company, as at 31 December 2021, in compliance with that laid down 
in Article 448 of the Portuguese Commercial Companies Code, are:

Annexes to the Management Report 
Lisbon, 21 March 2022

The Board of Directors:

Albert Sylvain May

Maria Madalena Monteiro da Mata Torres Pitta e Cunha

Pedro Alexandre Lemos Cabral das Neves

Nuno Miguel Gomes Moutinho Rocha

Jorge Daniel Lopes da Silva 

Isabel Maria Costa Pereira Ramos de Almeida

João Carlos Brito da Silva Dias

SHAREHOLDERS No. SHARES %

NOVO BANCO, SA 62 999 800 99.9997%
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(thousands 
of Euros)

Notes Dez 2021 Dez 2020

Assets
Cash and deposits with Central and other banks 17 67 516 56 016

Financial assets held for trading 18 17 20

Financial assets mandatory at fair value through
profit or loss

19  1 412 1 310

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  

19 43 191 50 877

Financial assets at amortized cost 19 737 134 704 871

Securities 4 991 18 406

Loans and advances to banks 584 013 563 436

Loans and advances to customers 148 130 123 029

Tangible assets 2 966 3 910

Tangible fixed assets 20 2 966 3 910

Intangible assets 21 415 460

Tax assets 22 122 -

Deferred tax assets 122 -

Other assets 23 7 224 9 215

Total Assets 859 997 826 679

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading 18 278 131

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 24 763 211 730 612

Deposits from central and other banks 33 043 35 522

Due to customers 728 260 693 889

Other financial liabilities 1 908 1 201

Provisions 25 3 452 4 432

Tax liabilities 22 1 554 1 471

Current tax liabilities 1 554 728

Deferred tax liabilities - 743

Other liabilities 26 8 937 8 002

Total Liabilities 777 432 744 648 

(thousands 
of Euros)

Notes Dez 2021 Dez 2020

Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital 27 63 000 63 000

Accumulated other comprehensive income 28 (130) 2 604

Other reserves 28 16 426 14 637

Results attributable to shareholders of the
holding company 

28 3 269 1 790

Total Shareholders’ Equity 82 565 82 031

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 859 997 826 679

Balance Sheet 
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(thousands 
of Euros)

Notes Dez 2021 Dez 2020

Interest income 5 3 873 4 964

Interest expenses 5 (295) (659)

Net interest income 3 578 4 305

Dividend income 6 49 54

Fee and commission income 7 17 626 14 391

Fee and commission expenses 7 (5 858) (4 434)

Net gains/(losses) from derecognition of financial 
assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss

8 2 110 2 289

Net gains/(losses) from financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading 9 (150) 143

Net gains/(losses) from financial assets mandatorily 
measured at fair value through profit or loss 10 (7) 180

Net gains/(losses) from foreign exchange revaluation 11 213 (116)

Other operating income 12 367 290

Other operating expenses 12 (318) (443)

Total operating income 17 610 16 659

Administrative expenses (12 186) (12 702)

Staff costs 13 (5 479) (5 493)

Other administrative expenses 14 (6 707) (7 209)

Contributions to resolution and deposits’ 
guarantee funds 15 (131) (96)

Depreciation and amortization 20, 21 (1 545) (1 495)

Provisions, net of reversals 25 927 (501)

Commitments and guarantees issued 17 (69)

Other provisions 910 (432)

Impairment of financial assets not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, net of reversals 19 (173) 184

Profit/(loss) of continuing operational units 
before income tax 4 502 2 049

(thousands 
of Euros)

Notes Dez 2021 Dez 2020

Tax expense or income related to profit/(loss) 
of continuing operational units 22 (1 233) (259)

Current taxes ( 1137) (135)

Deferred taxes (96) (124)

Net income for the period 3 269 1 790

Basic earnings per share (in Euros) 16 0, 05 0,03

Diluted earnings per share (in Euros) 16 0, 05 0,03

Basic earnings per share of continuing activities 
(in Euros) 16 0, 05 0,03

Diluted earnings per share of continuing activities 
(in Euros) 16 0, 05 0,03

Income Statement
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Notes to the Financial Statement and Annexes
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(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Interest income 5  3 873  4 964
Interest expenses 5 (  295) (  659)

Net interest income  3 578  4 305

Dividend income 6   49   54
Fee and commission income 7  17 626  14 391
Fee and commission expenses 7 ( 5 858) ( 4 434)

Net gains/(losses) from derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss 8  2 110  2 289

Net gains/(losses) from financial assets and liabilities held for trading 9 (  150)   143
Net gains/(losses) from financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 10 (  7)   180
Net gains/(losses) from foreign exchange revaluation 11   213 (  116)
Other operating income 12   367   290
Other operating expenses 12 (  318) (  443)

Total operating income  17 610  16 659

Administrative expenses ( 12 186) ( 12 702)
   Staff costs 13 ( 5 479) ( 5 493)
   Other administrative expenses 14 ( 6 707) ( 7 209)

Contributions to resolution and deposits' guarantee funds 15 (  131) (  96)
Depreciation and amortization 20, 21 ( 1 545) ( 1 495)
Provisions, net of reversals 25   927 (  501)

   Commitments and guarantees issued   17 (  69)
   Other provisions   910 (  432)

Impairment of financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net of reversals 19 (  173)   184

Profit/(loss) of continuing operational units before income tax  4 502  2 049

Tax expense or income related to profit/(loss) of continuing operational units 22 ( 1 233) (  259)

   Current taxes ( 1 137) (  135)
   Deferred taxes (  96) (  124)

Net income for the period  3 269  1 790

Basic earnings per share (in Euros) 16 0.05 0.03
Diluted earnings per share (in Euros) 16 0.05 0.03

Basic earnings per share of continuing activities (in Euros) 16 0.05 0.03
Diluted earnings per share of continuing activities (in Euros) 16 0.05 0.03

INCOME STATEMENT

BEST - BANCO ELECTRÓNICO DE SERVIÇO TOTAL, S.A.

  FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020

The attached explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements

Notes
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(thousands of Euros)

Net income for the period   3 269   1 790 

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement   4   13
Change in the fair value of equity instruments at fair value

through other comprehensive income a)   4   13

Items that may be reclassified to the income statement ( 2 738)   1
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income a) ( 2 738)   1

Total comprehensive income for the period   535  1 804

a) See Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

BEST - BANCO ELECTRÓNICO DE SERVIÇO TOTAL, S.A.

The attached explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020

31.12.2021 31.12.2020Notes
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(thousands of Euros)

Notes 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Assets
Cash and deposits with Central and other banks   17  67 516  56 016
Financial assets held for trading   18   17 20
Financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss   19  1 412  1 310
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income   19  43 191  50 877
Financial assets at amortized cost   19  737 134  704 871

Securities  4 991  18 406
Loans and advances to banks  584 013  563 436
Loans and advances to customers  148 130  123 029

Tangible assets  2 966  3 910
Tangible fixed assets   20  2 966  3 910

Intangible assets   21   415   460
Tax assets   22   122 -

Deferred tax assets   122 -
Other assets   23  7 224  9 215

Total Assets  859 997  826 679-

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading   18   278   131
Financial liabilities at amortized cost   24  763 211  730 612

Deposits from central and other banks  33 043  35 522
Due to customers  728 260  693 889
Other financial liabilities  1 908  1 201

Provisions   25  3 452  4 432
Tax liabilities   22  1 554  1 471

Current tax liabilities  1 554   728
Deferred tax liabilities -   743

Other liabilities   26  8 937  8 002

Total Liabilities  777 432  744 648

Shareholders' Equity
Share capital   27  63 000  63 000
Accumulated other comprehensive income   28 (  130)  2 604
Other reserves   28  16 426  14 637
Results attributable to shareholders of the holding company   28  3 269  1 790

Total Shareholders' Equity  82 565  82 031

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  859 997  826 679

The attached explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements

BEST - BANCO ELECTRÓNICO DE SERVIÇO TOTAL, S.A.
BALANCE SHEET 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
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(thousands of Euros)

Balance at 31 December 2019   63 000   2 590   11 968   2 669   80 227 

Other increases/decreases in equity - -   2 669 (  2 669) - 
Appropriation of net income of the prior year in other reserves - -   2 669 (  2 669) - 

Total comprehensive income for the period -    14 -   1 790   1 804 
Changes in fair value, net of tax    28 -    16 - -    16 
Impairment reserves of securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income    28 - (   3) - - (   3)

Reserves of disposals of securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income    28 -    1 - -    1 

Net income for the period - - -   1 790   1 790 

Balance at 31 December 2020   63 000   2 604   14 637   1 790   82 031 

Other increases/decreases in equity - -   1 789 (  1 790) (   1)
Appropriation of net income of the prior year in retained earnings - -   1 790 (  1 790) - 
Other movements - - (   1) - (   1)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (  2 734) -   3 269    535 
Changes in fair value, net of tax    28 - (  2 735) - - (  2 735)
Impairment reserves of securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income    28 -    1 - -    1 

Net income for the period - - -   3 269   3 269 

Balance at 31 December 2021   63 000 (   130)   16 426   3 269   82 565 

The attached explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements

Share 
capital

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income

Net income 
for the 
period

Total 
Shareholders' 

Equity
Notes Other 

reserves

BEST - BANCO ELECTRÓNICO DE SERVIÇO TOTAL, S.A.
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 and 2020
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(thousands of Euros)

Notes 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received  3 616  5 755 
Interest paid (  274) ( 1 336)
Fees and commissions received  17 626  14 391 
Fees and commissions paid ( 5 858) ( 4 434)
Recovery of loans and advances   46   121 
Contributions to resolution and deposits' guarantee funds (  131) (  96)
Cash payments to employees and suppliers ( 12 129) ( 12 650)

 2 896  1 751 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Deposits with/from Central banks (  519) ( 1 145)
Financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (  4) (  418)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -   10 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ( 8 701) ( 1 997)
Financial assets at amortized cost ( 32 528) ( 134 069)

Securities  13 415 ( 16 449)
Loans and advances to banks ( 20 590) ( 143 596)
Loans and advances to customers ( 25 353)  25 976 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost  31 871  158 581 
Deposits from banks ( 2 479)  11 672 
Due to customers  34 350  146 909 

Other operating assets and liabilities  18 943 ( 4 150)

Cash flows from operating activities before
     income taxes  11 958  18 563 

Income taxes paid (  684) (  439)

Net cash flows from operating activities  11 274  18 124 

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends received   49   54 
Acquisition of other tangible assets (  294) ( 3 306)
Disposal of other tangible assets   27  1 579 
Acquisition of intangible assets (  288) (  340)

Net cash flows from investing activities (  506) ( 2 013)

Net changes in cash and cash equivalents  10 768  16 111 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  49 278  33 283 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   213 (  116)
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents  10 768  16 111 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  60 259  49 278 

Cash and cash equivalents include:
Cash and deposits with Central and other banks 17  67 516  56 016 
    (of which, Mandatory deposits) (a) 17 ( 7 257) ( 6 738)

Total  60 259  49 278 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020

The attached explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements

BEST - BANCO ELECTRÓNICO DE SERVIÇO TOTAL, S.A.

(a) BEST constitutes its minimum reserves indirectly through Novo Banco, S.A. (see Note 17)
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BEST – Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements as at 31 December 2021 
 
(Amounts stated in thousands of Euros, except when otherwise indicated) 

 

 
NOTE 1 – ACTIVITY 
 
BEST – Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. (Bank or BEST or Banco Best) is a financial institution with registered 
office in Portugal. For the purpose, it holds the necessary authorizations from the Portuguese authorities, the Bank of 
Portugal (i.e., the Central Bank – “Banco de Portugal”) and other regulatory authorities to operate in Portugal. 
 
BEST was incorporated by public deed of 9 May 2001, with a share capital of Euros 32 422 thousand, having begun its 
activity on 25 June of that year. In 2002 and 2003, BEST increased its share capital to Euros 43 000 thousand and Euros 
55 000 thousand, respectively (see Note 27). In 2005, the share capital was again increased to Euros 61 000 thousand and, 
in 2006, to Euros 63 000 thousand. 
 
Banco Best offers the full range of products and services of a universal Bank, assisting its customers, essentially from the 
private segment, in identifying savings solutions and investment opportunities available at any moment in time, as well as 
in aspects related to their financing needs and day-to-day financial management. With a digitally based business model 
(complemented by a follow-up carried out by a network of managers) and an open architecture, Banco Best has its own 
middleware platform and has a service provision contract with novobanco which ensures the essentials of the Control 
functions and part of the Operational processes. 
 
On 3 August 2014, following the Resolution Measure applied by the Bank of Portugal to Banco Espírito Santo, its majority 
shareholder, BEST was included in the novobanco Group’s consolidation perimeter.  
 
The Bank forms part of the novobanco Group and its financial statements are fully consolidated in those of novobanco, 
with registered office at Avenida da Liberdade, no. 195, in Lisbon. During 2015, a shareholding exchange was realized 
whereby the novobanco shareholding in Saxo Bank A/S was exchanged for the latter’s 25% shareholding in BEST. With 
this share exchange operation, the novobanco Group now holds the entire share capital of BEST (see Note 27). 
 
 
NOTE 2 – MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 
2.1. Bases of presentation 
 
In accordance with Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002, of 19 July, of the European Council and Parliament, and Notice no. 
5/2015 of the Bank of Portugal, the separate financial statements of BEST – Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. (Bank 
or BEST) are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union and in force as at 1 January 2021.  
 
The IFRS comprise accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as well as 
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and its predecessor body 
- Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). 
 
The financial statements of BEST herein presented relate to 31 December 2021. The accounting policies applied by the 
Bank in their preparation are consistent with those used in the preparation of the financial statements with reference to 31 
December 2020. 
 
New standards issued and standards amended 

The Bank adopted in the preparation of the financial statements as of 31 December 2021, the accounting standards issued 
by the IASB and the IFRIC interpretations, effective since 1 January 2020, described in Note 33. The accounting policies 
adopted by the Bank in the preparation of the financial statements, described in this Note, were adopted accordingly. 
 
Changes in accounting estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the application of judgement and the use of 
estimates and assumptions by the Bank that affect both the process of applying the accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of income, expenses, assets and liabilities. Changes in such assumptions and differences between these and the 
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reality in the future may impact these estimates and judgement applied. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or of complexity or where the assumptions and estimates used are significant to the financial statements are analysed in 
Note 3.  
 
The financial statements and the Management Report as of 31 December 2021 were approved at the Board of Directors’ 
meeting of 21 March 2022 and will be presented to the Shareholders’ General Meeting, which has the power to deliberate, 
with justification, that changes need to be made. However, it is the opinion of the Board of Directors that these will be 
approved without changes. 
 
 
2.2. Foreign currency transactions 
 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the foreign exchange rates prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions.  
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Euros at the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on this translation are recognized in the income 
statement. 
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost, denominated in foreign currency, are translated using the 
foreign exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currency that are stated at fair value are translated into Euros at the foreign exchange rates ruling on the date the fair value 
was determined. The resulting foreign exchange differences are accounted for in the income statement, except if related to 
equity instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, which are accounted for 
in reserves.  
 
Foreign exchange differences relating to the effective portion of cash flow hedges and hedging of net investments in foreign 
operating units, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
 
2.3. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
 
 
Classification 

The Bank classifies its derivatives portfolio into (i) hedging derivatives (fair value hedges) and (ii) trading derivatives that 
include, besides derivatives contracted with the objective of earning income, derivatives contracted to hedge certain financial 
assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss but that were not classified as hedging derivatives (fair 
value option).  
 
Recognition and measurement 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered (trade date). Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the fair value of derivative financial instruments is re-measured on a regular basis and the resulting gains 
or losses on re-measurement are recognized directly in the income statement, except for derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments. The recognition of the gains or losses resulting on the derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends 
on the nature of the risk being hedged and the hedging model used.  
 
Derivatives traded on organized markets, namely futures and some options contracts are recorded as derivatives held for 
trading and are revalued through the income statement. The margin accounts are recorded in Other assets and Other 
liabilities (see Notes 23 and 26) and include the minimum collateral required in respect of open positions. The fair values of 
the remaining derivative financial instruments correspond to their market value, if available, or are determined using 
valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate. 
 
Hedge accounting 

• Classification criteria 
Hedge accounting is used for derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments, provided the following 
criteria are cumulatively met: 
(i) The hedging instruments and the hedged items are eligible for a hedging relationship; 
(ii) At the inception of the hedge, the hedging relationship is identified and formally documented, including the identification 

of the hedged item and of the hedging instrument, the nature of the risk covered and the evaluation of the effectiveness 
of the hedge;  

(iii) There is an economic relationship between the item hedged and the hedging instrument; 
(iv) The credit risk effect does not dominate the changes in value resulting from that economic relationship; and 
(v) The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis. 
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For cases in which the Bank uses macro hedging, accounting is performed in accordance with IAS 39 (using the option 
provided for in IFRS 9), with the Bank carrying out prospective tests on the date of commencement of the hedging 
relationship, when applicable, and retrospective tests in order to confirm, at each balance sheet date, the effectiveness of 
the hedging relationships, demonstrating that changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are covered by changes 
in the fair value of the hedged item in the portion attributed to the hedged risk. Any ineffectiveness found is recognized in 
the income statement when it occurs, in Gains or losses arising in hedge accounting. 
 
The use of derivatives is framed within the risk management strategy and objectives of the Bank. 
 
 
• Fair value hedge 
In a fair value hedge, the carrying value of the asset or liability, determined in accordance with the respective accounting 
policy, is adjusted to reflect the change in the fair value attributable to the hedged risk. Changes in the fair value of hedging 
derivatives are recognized in the income statement, together with the changes in fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities 
attributable to the hedged risk. In cases where the hedging instrument covers an equity instrument designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, the changes in fair value are also recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
If the coverage no longer meets the requirement of effectiveness, but the objective of risk management remains, the Bank 
can adjust the coverage to meet the eligibility criteria (rebalancing). 
 
If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting (in the event the hedging instrument expires, is sold, 
terminates or is exercised, without its substitution having been made in accordance with the documented risk management 
objective of the entity) the derivative financial instrument is transferred to the trading portfolio and hedge accounting is 
discontinued prospectively. If the asset or liability corresponds to a fixed income instrument, the re-measurement adjustment 
is amortized in the income statement to maturity using the effective interest rate method. 
 
• Cash flow hedge 
When a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge against the variability of highly probable future cash flows 
(cash flow hedge), the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative is recognized in reserves, 
being recycled to the income statement in the financial years in which the hedged item affects the income statement. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is immediately recognized in the income statement. 

 
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss recognized in reserves is recycled to the income statement when the hedged transaction also affects 
the income statement. When a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss recorded in 
equity is immediately recognized in the income statement and the hedging instrument is transferred to the trading portfolio.  
 
As part of the application of Commission Regulation (EU) 2021/25, of 13 January 2021 – Benchmark Interest Rate Reform, 
which led to the transition from EONIA to € STR in the course of 2020, BEST changed the discount curve of its positions in 
derivative financial instruments cleared in a central counterparty (CCP) from EUR OIS to EUR € STR and from USD OIS to 
USD SOFR. In accordance with the implementation principle of said regulation, that no substantial changes to the original 
objective of risk management or discontinuation of hedging relationships should occur, in Banco Best too, as expected, 
there were no relevant impacts on retrospective and prospective effectiveness, considering that all assets and liabilities 
involved in hedging relationships were subject to the same change (hedged and hedging items). 

 
Embedded derivatives 
If a hybrid contract includes a base contract that is a financial asset under IFRS 9, the Bank classifies the entire contract in 
accordance with the policy outlined in Note 2.4. 
 
If a hybrid contract includes a base contract that is not an asset under IFRS 9, an embedded derivative shall be separated 
from the base contract and accounted for as a derivative under this Standard if, and only if: 
 
a) The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics 
and risks of the base contract; 
b) A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would satisfy the definition of a derivative; and 
c) The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value being recognized in profit or loss (i.e., a 
derivative that is embedded in a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is not separated). 
 
These embedded derivatives are recorded at fair value with the changes being recognized in the income statement. 
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2.4. Other financial assets: Loans and advances to banks, Loans and advances to customers and Securities 
 
 
Since 1 January 2018, the Bank classifies financial assets at the time of acquisition based on the business model considered 
and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of these assets. This classification determines how the asset is 
measured after its initial recognition: 
 
• At amortized cost: if it is included in a business model which objective is only to obtain contractual cash flows, which 

correspond only to payments of principal and interest on the amount of the principal outstanding (SPPI - solely 
payments of principal and interest); 

• At fair value through other comprehensive income: if included in a business model which purpose is to obtain 
contractual cash flows and/or sales proceeds and the contractual cash flows fall within the scope of SPPI. In addition, 
it may be irrevocably chosen at initial recognition to present in equity the subsequent changes in the fair value of an 
investment in an equity instrument; 

• Measured mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss: all cases not falling within the scope of SPPI; 
• Measured at fair value through profit or loss: the remaining financial instruments not included in the business models 

described above. If these assets are acquired for the purpose of being transacted in the short term, they are classified 
as held for trading. 
 

Initial recognition and measurement, and derecognition 

These financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs, except for financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, where transaction costs are directly recognized in the income statement. 
 
Loans and advances to banks and Loans and advances to customers are recorded on the date the amount of the transaction 
is advanced to the counterpart. The acquisitions and disposals of securities are recognized on the trade date, that is, on the 
date the Bank undertakes to acquire or dispose of the asset. 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost or accounted at fair value through other comprehensive income 

In accordance with IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or 
at fair value through other comprehensive income, it is necessary that: 
 
(i) the contractual clauses shall give rise to cash flows that correspond only to payments of principal and interest on the 

outstanding amount (SPPI-solely payments of principal and interest). For the purposes of the SPPI test, the principal 
is the fair value of the financial asset at the time of initial recognition. The contractual flows that are SPPI are consistent 
with a basic loan agreement. Contractual clauses that introduce exposure to risks or volatility of contractual cash flows 
that are not related to a basic loan agreement, such as exposure to changes in share or commodity prices, do not give 
rise to contractual cash flows that are only payments relating to principal and interest calculated on the amount of 
principal outstanding. In these cases, financial assets must be measured at fair value through profit or loss; 

(ii) the business model of the financial asset is to receive only the contractual flows to maturity (asset at amortized cost) 
or to receive the contractual flows to maturity and obtain a gain on its sale (asset at fair value through other 
comprehensive income). The assessment of the business models of the financial asset is fundamental for its 
classification. The Bank determines business models by financial asset groups according to how they are managed to 
achieve a particular business objective. The Bank’s business models determine whether cash flows will be generated 
by obtaining only contractual cash flows, flows from the sale of financial assets or both. On the initial recognition of a 
financial asset, the Bank determines whether it is part of an existing business model or reflects a new business model. 
The Bank reassesses its business models in each reporting period to determine whether changes in business models 
have occurred since the last reporting period. 
 

The above requirements do not apply to lease receivables, which meet the criteria set out in IFRS 16 - Leases. 
 
Financial assets that are subsequently measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income 
are subject to impairment. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently also 
measured at fair value; however, the respective changes are recognized in reserves (other comprehensive income) until 
the assets are derecognized, at which point the accumulated amount of the potential gains and losses recorded in reserves 
is transferred to the caption Gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. In the specific case of 
equity instruments, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other equity is not reclassified to profit or loss, being 
transferred between equity accounts. However, the dividends received from these equity instruments are recognized in the 
income statement. 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost are initially recorded at acquisition cost and are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost based on the effective interest rate method. Interest, calculated at the effective interest rate, and dividends are 
recognized in the income statement. 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

An asset recorded at fair value through profit or loss presents the following characteristics: 

• the contractual cash flows are not SPPI (mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss); or/and 
• it is held in a business model that is not intended to obtain only contractual cash flows or to obtain contractual cash 

flows and its sales proceeds; or, 
• it is designated at fair value through profit or loss as a result of applying the fair value option. 
 
These assets are measured at fair value and the respective revaluation gains or losses are recognized in the income 
statement. 
 
Reclassifications  

In the event the Bank changes a business model, the financial assets included in that model are reclassified, and the 
classification and measurement requirements for the new category are applied prospectively as from that date. 
 
Impairment 

The Bank recognizes impairment for expected credit losses ("ECLs") on the following debt instruments: 

• Loans and advances to customers; 
• Guarantees issued; 
• Unused credit lines; 
• Deposits and loans and advances to banks (“Money Market”); 
• Own securities’ portfolio. 

 
The debt instruments of this universe that are classified at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income 
are considered in the scope of the impairment calculation. 
 
The impairment losses identified are recorded in the income statement and are subsequently reversed through the income 
statement if, in a subsequent period, the estimated loss amount decreases. 
 
The approach taken for the calculation of impairment distinguishes between the calculation of expected losses at 12 months 
- Stage 1 - and the calculation of expected lifetime losses. To determine expected lifetime losses, the approach considers 
the projection of the contractual cash flows - Stage 2 - or the present value of the expected recoveries - Stage 3. Thus, the 
model of impairment by Stage is summarized as follows: 
 

• expected loss resulting from a potential loss event occurring within the next 12 months after the calculation date 
(Stage 1); or 

• expected loss, resulting from all potential loss-to-maturity events, applied to the projection of the contractual cash 
flows (Stage 2); or 

• expected loss resulting from the difference between the amount outstanding and the present value of the cash 
flows estimated to be recovered from the exposure1 (Stage 3). 
 

Therefore, for the determination of impairment, all exposures are previously classified by Stage according to their level of 
credit risk, as summarized in the figure below:  
 
 

 
     
 
 
 
 

 
1 Parameters used to determine recoveries vary, essentially, in function of the risk profile/nature of the exposure.  
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• Stage 3 
The process of assigning a Stage to an exposure starts by checking whether the Stage 3 criterion applies. If the 
exposure is classified as in Default - according to the internal definition in force2 - that exposure is classified as 
Stage 3. 
 
Thus, the classification of exposures in Stage 3 is based on the occurrence of a default event, with objective 
evidence of loss being verified at the time as from which a significant change occurs in the creditor/borrower 
relationship, which subjects the creditor to a monetary loss. 
 
Whether by measuring the specific triggers of Default, or using the indicators for determining Stage 3, the result 
will be the determination of Default and Stage 3 in a consistent manner, starting with the marking of Default. 
 
Within the scope of the impairment calculation process and in the context of the application of IFRS 9, the 
exposures of customers and of impaired credits (in Credit Impaired Stage 3) will be identified. These Stage 3 
exposures are considered Default. The Impairment calculation and analysis process includes the evaluation of the 
following indicators of possible occurrences of unlikely-to-pay (UTP): 
 
a) A borrower's sources of recurring income are no longer available to meet the payment of instalments; 
b) There are justified concerns about a borrower's future ability to generate stable and sufficient cash flows; 
c) The institution executed a collateral, including a guarantee; 
d) The borrower's level of indebtedness has increased significantly or there are reasons to believe that it will 

increase in the near future; 
e) Absence of an active market for the debtor's financial instruments; 
f) When there is a default of a company wholly owned by an individual, when the latter has provided the institution 

with a personal guarantee for all the obligations of the company; 
g) Fraud; 
h) Postponement or extension of loans beyond the economic life span; 
i) The borrower's license is withdrawn. 
j) The debtor used the contractual possibility to unilaterally change the established payment plan. 
 
The Impairment calculation and analysis process also considers the customer’s evaluation and the exposures at 
the level of the interconnected customer group, when applicable, namely if some of the relevant exposures or 
actors in that group are in a Default situation. 
 
In turn, the Default marking for a given credit position is made automatically in cases where at least one of the 
specific triggers for the purpose is positive, encompassing, described in a non-exhaustive manner, the following 
situations: 
 
§ Existence of credit amounts in default for more than 90 calendar days above the materiality threshold; this 

threshold is checked daily and consists of an absolute and a relative component; material non-compliance is 
considered to exist when it cumulatively exceeds the absolute and relative thresholds; the amounts of overdue 
credit and exposure considered are determined at the level of the credit position type (i.e., at the level of the 
credit facility or at the level of the debtor); 

§ Application of insolvency measures and/or other special protection measures; 
§ Sale of credit portfolios with material economic losses; 
§ Recognition of credit losses; 
§ Implementation of restructuring measures due to the existence of indicators of financial difficulties. 
 
The present definition of Default incorporates concurrent procedures (automatic and manual) for the evaluation 
and determination of the objective improvement of the quality of a debtor. This evaluation will be automatic, 
throughout any quarantine period, through the application of a criterion that automatically cancels and resets the 
referred probative periods (restart of quarantine). The quarantine is a period during which the default marking of 
the contract, the customer or the debtor remains active, even when the situation that originated the marking is 
regularized. Depending on the trigger and disregarding the restarts, the minimum quarantine periods can range 
from 3 to 12 months. Only after the full and uninterrupted counting of the quarantine period can the trigger to which 
the period applies be deselected. Although this automatic criterion guarantees an extensive evaluation of all 
exposures and debtors, the improvement of the debtor's quality will be supplementarily verified in all processes of 
deactivation of manual triggers (when active) and in the process of assigning credit ratings (when applicable). 

 
• Stage 2 

Exposures are classified as Stage 2 whenever there is a significant increase in the exposure’s credit risk. If there 
is no objective evidence of loss associated with the exposure, the criteria are analysed to determine whether the 
exposure has suffered a significant increase in credit risk. 
 

 
2 The internal definition of Default is aligned with Article 178 of the CRD IV, that prescribes the criteria as material non-performance over 
90 days and unlikely to pay. 



  

 
Report & Accounts 2021                                                                   Page                      51 

The significant increase in credit risk is assessed through qualitative and quantitative indications. Once it is verified 
that - at least - one of these indications is active, the exposure is classified in Stage 2. The table below details the 
criteria and respective limits applicable. 
 

 
 
As explained in IFRS 9, the assessment of the significant increase in credit risk also involves comparing the current 
level of risk of an exposure against its level of risk at origination. 
 
Thus, the Bank assigns to the exposure/borrower an internal credit risk rate, depending on the quality of the 
respective exposure/borrower, and associated with that rate is a probability of default. On assessing whether the 
credit risk of an exposure has increased significantly since its initial recognition, the Bank compares, at the current 
reporting date, the exposure risk to maturity versus the same risk of default on the recognition date of the financial 
instrument. Depending on whether the change observed is above a defined threshold - relative and/or absolute - 
the exposure is classified in Stage 2. 
 
In addition to this indication, others are considered and imply, by their verification, the classification in Stage 2 – 
for example, material non-compliance for more than 30 days, signs of risk in the financial system and an internal 
credit risk rate above a certain threshold, among others. 
 

• Stage 1 
The classification of exposures in Stage 1 depends on: 

(i) the absence of active indications of Stage 3 and Stage 2 classification, mentioned and described above; or, 
(ii) the framing of these exposures under the scope of the low-credit risk exemption. These exposures, if not in 

Stage 3, are automatically classified in Stage 1. 

The vision outlined above is based not only on the requirement of IFRS 9, but also on the approach defined for 
calculating capital, where for these exposures a 0% risk weighting is considered. Thus, entities that are not 
classified as being in default and fully comply with the conditions mentioned above are classified as low credit risk, 
being assigned stage 1. Monthly, the list of entities in these conditions is reviewed, with same being essentially 
composed of Portuguese public debt, public debt of the Eurozone, American public debt and/or similar. 

 
The Bank calculates impairment, on a collective or individual basis, on the incidence base by means of an initial classification 
of its respective risk level - Stage 1, 2 or 3 in the collective analysis model, and the going concern or gone concern approach 
in the individual analysis model. 
 
If, for a given loan, there is no objective evidence of impairment on an individual perspective, such loan is included in a 
group of loans with similar credit risk characteristics (loan portfolio segment), which is assessed collectively by applying risk 
factors estimated for the respective segment of the exposure - impairment analysis on a collective basis. For the exposures 
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that are assessed individually and for which, as a result of that analysis, an impairment loss is identified, the corresponding 
amount calculated prevails over the impairment calculated in the collective analysis. 
 
For the individual analysis, the following customers are selected: 

• for all customers in default (stage 3), or stage 2 and with no rating assigned, with an exposure higher than Euros 
1 million; 

• for all customers in stage 2, with an exposure higher than Euros 5 million; 
• for all customers in stage 1 and without a rating, with a credit exposure higher than Euros 5 million; 
• for all customers belonging to the real estate development or financial holding sectors, with a credit exposure 

higher than Euros 5 million; 
• for all other customers in stage 1 with an exposure higher than Euros 25 million; and 
• the following customers are also selected: 

- those identified by the Bank itself based on another criterion that is justified (e.g., activity sector); 
- those which in the past had been attributed specific impairment; 
- those which in the face of some new element that may have repercussions on the calculation of impairment, are 
proposed for analysis by one of the members of the Impairment Committee or by another Body/Forum. 

 
In the context of the impairment analysis on a collective basis, exposures are grouped based on similar credit risk 
characteristics in function of the risk assessment defined by the Bank. For each of these homogeneous risk groups, risk 
factors are estimated and then applied in the scope of the impairment calculation. 
 
For the purposes of determining collective impairment, the operations are allocated to subsegments of risk according to the 
definitions in the table below: 
 

1st Segmentation 
Customer Type 

Companies Individuals/Sole Traders 

2nd Segmentation 

Risk Segment Product Type 

Large Companies 
Medium Companies 

Small Companies 
Start-Ups 

Financial Institutions 
Sovereign 

Consumer Loans 
Credit Cards 

Other Individuals 

3rd Segmentation Rating  Scoring  

4th Segmentation 

Collateral – LTV 

Typically, Corporate segments consider the value 
of the collateral for segmentation purposes 

 

 
 
Scenario analysis 

As envisaged in the IFRS 9 regulations, the impairment estimate should reflect different expectations of macroeconomic 
developments, i.e., it should incorporate multiple scenarios. To incorporate the effects of future macroeconomic behaviour 
on loss estimates, forward looking macroeconomic estimates are included in some of the risk parameters used to calculate 
impairment. In fact, different possible scenarios are considered that give rise to the same number of impairment results. 
 
In this context, the process for the definition of macroeconomic scenarios must consider the following principles: 

• Representative scenarios that capture the existing non-linearities (e.g., a baseline scenario, a scenario with more 
favourable macroeconomic perspectives and a scenario with less favourable macroeconomic perspectives); 

• The baseline scenario should be consistent with the inputs used in other exercises in the Bank (e.g.: Planning). 
This is ensured because the option used for the purpose of calculating impairment was precisely the same as the 
one used in internal and/or regulatory planning exercises.  

• Alternative scenarios to the baseline scenario should not translate extreme scenarios; 
• The correlation between the projected variables must be realistic with the economic reality (e.g.: if GDP is 

increasing, unemployment is expected to be decreasing). 
 

A probability of occurrence is also attributed to each of the scenarios defined above, which depends on the risk assessment 
as to the future evolution of the economy. Thus, when revising/updating the scenarios – with a minimum annual periodicity 
- the respective probabilities of execution are also reviewed. Once the scenarios are updated, the values of the risk 
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parameters are updated for later consideration in the scope of the Impairment calculation. The final impairment calculated 
will thus result from the sum of the impairment value of each scenario, weighted by the respective probability of execution. 
 
The exercise of constructing the central and alternative macroeconomic scenarios for the Portuguese economy is based on 
a combination of econometric forecasts, information on forecasts from other external institutions and the exercise of 
subjective expert judgement. 
 
In the first component, GDP growth is estimated via the estimates for the growth of the Expenditure components, 
determining GDP through the formula: GDP = Consumption + Investment + Exports - Imports. The econometric 
specifications chosen are those that, after testing different alternatives, generate the best result. 
 
The econometric estimates thus obtained are then weighted with forecasts from external institutions, according to the 
principle that the combination of different projections tends to be more accurate than a single forecast (the risk of errors and 
bias associated with specific methods and variables is minimized). 
 
The forecasts for prices (consumption and real estate) and unemployment follow a similar methodology: own forecasts 
based on an estimated model, weighted with forecasts from external institutions, if these are available. In a base scenario, 
the projections for interest rates start from market expectations (provided by Bloomberg), with possible adjustments in 
accordance with the principles defined above, if considered appropriate (weighting based on expert judgement and forecasts 
from external institutions). The alternative scenarios are based on the historical observation of deviations from the trend in 
GDP behaviour (cost and contraction cycles), the reference of EBA recommendations for extreme adverse scenarios, the 
stylized facts of economic cycles, with respect to the components of expenditure, prices, unemployment, etc. and estimates. 
 
Thus, when reviewing/updating the scenarios, the respective probabilities of execution are also reviewed. Once the 
scenarios are updated, the values of the risk parameters are updated for subsequent consideration in the scope of the 
impairment calculation. The final impairment calculated will thus result from the sum of the impairment value of each 
scenario, weighted by the respective probability of execution. 
 
It is also important to mention that there is a specific universe of portfolios where the internal credit risk rates incorporate, 
through their allocation process, forward-looking information. We refer to the portfolios commonly denominated Low Default 
Portfolios for which the allocation of the internal credit risk rate is made from a medium- and long-term perspective and 
incorporates all the available forward-looking information. 
 
Thus, for this universe of portfolios the incorporation of forward-looking information is assured. 
 
COVID-19 Pandemic 

The COVID-19 pandemic situation was an event that significantly impacted the normal development of economic activity, 
both due to limitations in the exercise of the activity and in the consumption and investment pattern, as well as to significant 
restrictions in the manner of operation in almost all sectors of the economy. This exceptional context justified the 
implementation of different protection measures for families and companies, so the Bank, in the face of these material and 
formal changes, ensured an immediate adherence to the moratorium regimes and promoted a timely review of its credit risk 
appetite rules.  
 
Within the framework of the statutory and private initiative moratorium schemes, the Bank granted access to these 
suspension measures in the repayment of capital/interest to all eligible proposing customers, with all these having 
terminated in the second half of 2021. 
 
The Bank will monitor the profile of customers who adhered to these moratorium regimes, and their pattern of compliance 
and solvency, to identify in advance those who are unable to meet their future debt service after the end of the moratorium 
period and may need other forms of support or restructuring, preventing their entry into default. 
 
In the review of the credit risk appetite, given the distinct impact that the COVID-19 pandemic had on the various sectors of 
economic activity, BEST segregated them into two groups: a group for the sectors directly most impacted by this event and 
for which it defined more conservative credit policy rules, and another group consisting of all other activities. These risk 
appetite rules continue to be monitored on a permanent basis, to ensure that the Bank always maintains updated policies 
that are appropriate to the risk profile of each customer. 
 
Write-offs 

A write-off is defined as the derecognition of a financial asset from the Bank’s balance sheet, which should only occur when 
cumulatively: 
 
(i) The total amount of the loan has been demanded, that is to say, the loans must be fully booked in non-performing 

loans, with no maturing debt. Exemptions from this requirement are debt restructuring/pardon made under extrajudicial 
agreements, PERs (Special Recovery Processes) and Insolvencies, where part of the loan may be kept active while 
the remainder of the loan owed is written off under a judicial/extra-judicial decision; 
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(ii) All recovery efforts considered adequate have been developed (and relevant evidence of same gathered) and further 
attempts to recover the asset are not considered economically viable; 

(iii) Loan recovery expectations are very low, leading to an extreme scenario of total impairment – 100% impairment. This 
rule is only applicable for contracts without guarantees and provided the entire contract is considered past due. In the 
remaining cases, it is necessary to ensure that the amount to be written off from the asset is 100% impaired (constituted 
at least one month prior to the write-off); and 

(iv) A definitive agreement is obtained in the context of a restructuring or debt pardon and the remaining balance can no 
longer be collected; 
 

Or, additionally, if it is considered more economical to sell the loan to a third party. At the time of sale, the difference between 
the sale amount and the carrying value must be 100% provisioned, and at the time of sale the derecognition of the loan sold 
against the receipt of the funds/assets and consequent utilization of the impairment in the balance sheet will be made. 
 
Receipts subsequent to write-off shall be recorded as write-off recoveries, with an impact on the income statement in the 
caption Other operating income. 
 
Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognized from the balance sheet when (i) the Bank’s contractual rights to their cash flows have 
expired, (ii) the Bank has substantially transferred all the risks and benefits associated with their holding, or (iii) although 
the Bank retained part, but not substantially all the risks and rewards associated with their holding, control over the assets 
was transferred. When an operation measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is derecognized, the 
accumulated gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. In the specific 
case of equity instruments, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other equity is not reclassified to profit or 
loss, being transferred between equity accounts. 
 
In the specific case of loans to customers, at the time of sale the difference between the sales value and the balance sheet 
value should be 100% provisioned, and at the time of the sale the loan sold will be derecognized against the funds/assets 
received and the consequent use of the impairment on the balance sheet. 
 
 
2.5. Sale and repurchase agreements, securities’ loans and short sales 
 
 
The securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (repos) at a fixed price or at sales price plus a return are not de-
recognized from the balance sheet. The corresponding liability is included in amounts due to banks or to customers, as 
appropriate. The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and deferred over the life of the 
agreement, using the effective interest rate method. 
 
The securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repos) at a fixed price or at purchase price plus a return are 
not recognized in the balance sheet, with the purchase price paid being recorded as loans and advances to banks or 
customers, as appropriate. The difference between the purchase and resale price is treated as interest and deferred over 
the life of the agreement, using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Securities ceded under loan agreements are not de-recognized, being classified and valued in accordance with the 
accounting policy described in Note 2.4. Securities received under loan agreements are not recognized in the balance sheet.  
 
Short sales represent securities sold that are not included in the assets of the Bank. These are recorded as a financial 
liability held for trading, at the fair value of the assets to be returned under the resale agreement. Gains and losses resulting 
from the respective change in fair value are recognized directly in the income statement. 
 
 
2.6. Financial Liabilities 
 
 
An instrument is classified as a financial liability when it contains a contractual obligation which settlement is to occur through 
the transfer of cash or another financial asset, irrespective of its legal form. Financial liabilities are de-recognized when the 
underlying obligation is settled, expires or is cancelled.  
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities include deposits from banks and due to customers, loans, debt securities, other 
subordinated debt and short sales. 
 
These financial liabilities are recognized (i) initially, at fair value less transaction costs and (ii) subsequently, at amortized 
cost, using the effective interest rate method, except for short sales and financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss, which are measured at fair value. 
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The Bank designates, at inception, certain financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or loss when:  

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces an inconsistency of measurement or recognition that would 
otherwise result; 

• the financial liability integrates a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and 
measured on a fair value basis, in accordance with the risk management or investment strategy of the Bank; or, 

• such financial liabilities contain embedded derivatives and IFRS 9 allows the totality of the hybrid contract to be 
designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Reclassifications between categories of liabilities are not permitted. 
 
The structured products issued by the Bank - except for structured products in respect of which the embedded derivatives 
were separated and recorded separately and revalued at fair value - because they always fall into one of the situations 
described above, follow the valuation method of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The fair value of quoted financial liabilities is their quoted price. In the absence of a quoted price, the Bank establishes fair 
value using valuation techniques based on market information, including the own credit risk of the Group’s issuing entity.  
 
Gains or losses arising on the revaluation of liabilities at fair value are recorded in the income statement. However, the 
change in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk is recognized in other comprehensive income. At the time of the 
derecognition of the liability, the amount recorded in other comprehensive income related to changes in credit risk is not 
transferred to the income statement. 
 
The Bank accounts for a substantial modification of the terms of an existing liability or part thereof as an extinction of the 
original financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. The terms are assumed to be substantially different if the 
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any commissions paid net of any commissions received, 
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the present value of the remaining 
discounted cash flows of the original financial liability. The difference between the carrying value of the original liability and 
the amount of the new liability is recorded in profit or loss. 
 
If the Bank repurchases debt issued, same is annulled from the balance sheet and the difference between the carrying 
value of the liability and the purchase amount is recorded in profit or loss in the caption Other operating income/expenses. 
 
 
2.7. Financial and performance guarantees 
 
 
Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make payments to compensate the holder for losses incurred 
due to non-compliance of contractual terms of debt instruments, namely payments of the respective principal and/or interest. 
 
Financial guarantees issued are initially recognized at fair value. Subsequently, these guarantees are measured at the 
higher of (i) the fair value initially recognized and (ii) the amount of any obligations arising under the guarantee contract, 
measured at the balance sheet date. Any variation of the amount of the obligation associated with financial guarantees 
issued is recognized in the income statement. 
 
Financial guarantees issued by the Bank usually have a defined maturity and a periodic fee charged in advance, which 
varies depending on the counterpart’s risk, amount and contract period. On that basis, the fair value of the guarantees on 
the date of initial recognition is roughly equivalent to the initial commission amount received, considering that the agreed 
conditions are market conditions. Thus, the amount recognized on the acquisition date equals the amount of the initial 
commission received, which is recognized in the income statement during the period to which it relates. Subsequent 
commissions are recognized in the income statement in the period to which they relate. 
 
Performance guarantees 

Performance guarantees are contracts that result in the compensation of one of the parties if same does not fulfil the 
contractual obligation. Performance guarantees are initially recognized at fair value, which is normally evidenced by the 
value of the commissions received during the term of the contract. When the contract is breached, the Bank has the right 
to revert the guarantee, with the amounts being recognized in Loans to customers after the transfer of the loss compensation 
to the guarantee beneficiary. 
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2.8. Equity instruments 
 
 
An instrument is classified as an equity instrument when it does not contain a contractual obligation for its settlement to be 
made through the delivery of cash or another financial asset, irrespective of its legal form, but evidences a residual interest 
in the assets of an entity after deducting all its liabilities.  
 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are recognized under equity as a deduction from 
the issue proceeds. Amounts paid or received relating to purchases or sales of equity instruments are recognized in equity, 
net of transaction costs. 
 
Distributions to holders of an equity instrument are debited directly against equity as dividends when declared. 
 
 
2.9. Offsetting of financial instruments 
  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is an enforceable 
legal right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable right may not be contingent on future events and should be 
executable in the normal course of the Bank’s activity, as well as in the event of the default, bankruptcy or insolvency of the 
Bank or the counterpart. 
 
 
2.10. Assets acquired in recovery of loans and non-current assets held for sale 
 
 
In the course of its current lending activity, the Bank incurs in the risk of not being able to recover all of its loans. In the case 
of loans with mortgage collateral, the Bank proceeds with the execution of same receiving real estate and other assets in 
settlement of the loan granted. Under the provisions of the General Regime governing Credit Institutions and Financial 
Companies (RGICSF), Banks are barred, unless authorized by the Bank of Portugal, from acquiring real estate that is not 
indispensable to their installation and operation or to the pursuit of their corporate purpose (Article 112(1) of the RGICSF), 
but may acquire real estate in reimbursement of its own loans, with the resulting situations having to be regularized within 
a period of 2 years which, if there is good reason, may be extended by the Bank of Portugal, under such conditions as it 
may determine (Article 114 of the RGICSF). 
 
Although the Bank’s objective is the immediate sale of all properties received in settlement of loans, during the 2016 financial 
year the Bank altered the classification of these properties from Non-current assets held for sale to Other assets, given that 
the assets are held in the portfolio for longer than 12 months. However, the method of accounting did not change, being 
recorded at initial recognition at the lower of their fair value less expected costs to sell and the carrying value of the loan 
being recovered. Subsequently, these assets are measured at the lower of the initial recognition value and the fair value 
less costs to sell and are not amortized. Unrealized losses on these assets, thus determined, are recorded in the income 
statement. 
 
The valuations of these properties are carried out according to one of the following methodologies, applied according to the 
specific situation of the property: 

(i) Market Method 
The Market Method refers to property transaction values similar and comparable to the property object of the study 
obtained through market prospecting realized in the area. 

(ii) Revenue Method 
This method aims to estimate the value of the property through the capitalization of its net rentals, discounted to the 
present moment, using the discounted cash flow method. 

(iii) Cost Method 
The Cost Method aims to reflect the amount that would be currently required to substitute the assets in their present 
condition, breaking down the value of the property into its fundamental components: Urban Land Value and Urbanity 
Value; Construction Value; and Indirect Costs Value. 

 
The valuations are performed by independent professional appraisers. The valuation reports are analysed internally to 
measure the adequacy of the assumptions, comparing the historical sales amounts with the revalued amounts of the 
properties, to ensure that the parameters and valuation processes are in line with the market evolution. 
 
In addition, since these are assets which fair value level in the hierarchy of IFRS 13 mostly corresponds to level 3, given 
the subjectivity of some assumptions used in the valuations and the fact that there are external indications with alternative 
values, the Bank carries out internal analyses of the assumptions used, which may imply additional adjustments to their fair 
value, supported by additional internal or external valuations. 
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2.11. Other tangible assets 
 
 
The tangible fixed assets of the Bank are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.  
 
Subsequent costs incurred with tangible fixed assets are recognized only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with same will flow to the Bank. All other repair and maintenance expenditure is charged to the income statement 
during the financial year in which it is incurred.  
 
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is calculated using the straight-line method, applied over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows:  

 
 
The useful lives and residual values of the tangible fixed assets are reviewed at each reporting date. 
 
When there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, IAS 36 requires that its recoverable amount be estimated, and 
an impairment loss recognized when the carrying value of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognized in the income statement, being reversed in subsequent financial years, when the reasons that led to the 
initial recognition cease to exist. For this purpose, the new depreciated amount shall not exceed that which would be 
accounted for had impairment losses not been recognized on the assets, considering the depreciation that these would 
have undergone. 
 
The recoverable amount is determined as the lower of its fair value less selling costs and its value in use, the latter being 
determined based on the net present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be obtained from the continued 
use and ultimate disposal of the asset.  
 
On the date of the derecognition of a tangible asset, the gain or loss calculated by the difference between the fair value less 
costs to sell and the net carrying value is recognized in the income statement in the caption Other operating income or 
Other operating expenses. 
 
 
2.12. Intangible assets 
 
 
The costs incurred with the acquisition, production and development of software are capitalized, as are the costs incurred 
to bring same into use. These costs are amortized using the straight-line method over their expected useful lives, which 
usually range between 3 and 6 years. 
 
Costs that are directly associated with the development by the Bank of identifiable software, and that will probably generate 
economic benefits beyond one financial year, are recognized and recorded as intangible assets.  
 
All remaining costs related to IT services are recognized as an expense as incurred. 
 
 
2.13. Leases 
 
 
The Bank adopted IFRS 16 - Leases on 1 January 2019, replacing IAS 17 - Leases, which was in effect until 31 December 
2018. The Bank had not previously adopted any of the requirements of IFRS 16 in previous periods. This standard 
establishes the requirements regarding the scope, classification/recognition and measurement of leases. 
 
 
 

Number of years

Buildings for own use 35 to 50
Improvements in leasehold property 10
Computer equipment 4 to 8
Furniture 4 to 10
Fixtures 5 to 10
Security equipment 4 to 10
Office equipment 4 to 10
Motor vehicles 4
Other equipment 5
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IFRS 16 Leases 

According to IFRS 16: 

- from a lessee position, the standard introduces a single model for accounting, with the recognition of the assets under 
right of use representative of the rights to use the underlying assets and the liabilities of the lease representative of the 
obligations to make lease payments, with the exception of leases with a period of less than 12 months or leases that focus 
on low value assets, in which the lessee may opt for the exemption from recognition provided for in IFRS 16, in which case, 
the lessee must recognize the associated lease payments on these agreements as expenses;  
- from a lessor position, the accounting depends on the classification of the lease as financial or operational. 
 
The Bank adopted IFRS 16 using the Modified Retrospective approach, for which reason there was no impact on the net 
equity, given that there are no differences between the right of use asset and the lease liability at the time of the initial 
recognition on 1 January 2019. 
 
A. Definition of lease 

- Determining whether an Agreement Contains a Lease. The Bank assesses whether an agreement is or contains a lease 
based on the definition of a lease. According to IFRS 16, an agreement is, or contains, a lease if it carries the right to control 
the use of an identified asset over a certain period, in exchange for a consideration. 
 
For leases where the entity is a lessee, it was decided not to separate the non-lease components but rather to account for 
the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
 
B. As lessee 

While lessee, the Bank initially classified leases as operating or finance leases, based on the general assessment of whether 
the lease transfers substantially all the risks and benefits associated with the ownership of the underlying assets. In 
accordance with IFRS 16, the Bank recognizes assets under right of use and lease liabilities for some asset classes, i.e., 
these leases are included in the entity's balance sheet. 
 
Financial leasing agreements are recorded on the date they start, in assets and liabilities, being capitalized at the lower of 
the fair value of the leased assets and the minimum lease payments contracted. Instalments comprise (i) an interest charge, 
which is recognized in the income statement and (ii) the repayment of principal, which is deducted from liabilities. Finance 
charges are recognized as costs over the lease period, to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability in each period. 
 
The Bank leases several assets, including real estate, vehicles, and computer equipment. 
 
As previously referred, the Bank chose not to recognize assets under right of use and liabilities for short-term leases, where 
the lease term is equal to or less than 12 months, and for low-value asset leases (e.g., computer equipment), with a value 
when new of under Euros 5 thousand. The Bank recognizes lease payments associated with these leases as expenses on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term, in the caption General and Administrative Expenses – Rentals. 
 
The Bank presents assets under right of use that do not fit the definition of investment property under "Tangible fixed assets", 
in the same lines of the items where it presents the underlying assets of the same nature that are its own property. Assets 
under right of use that fall under the definition of investment property are presented as investment property 
 
The Bank presents the lease liabilities under "Other liabilities" in the statement of financial position. 
 
Significant judgement in determining the lease term of the agreements 
 
The Bank applied judgement in determining the lease term for some agreements, in which it is in the lessee position, which 
include renewal and termination options. The Bank determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, 
together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain that it will be exercised, or any 
periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably sure not to be exercised. This assessment will have 
an impact on the lease term, which will significantly affect the amount of the lease liabilities and the assets under right of 
use recognized. 
 
The Bank has the option, namely in real estate lease agreements, to lease the assets for additional terms of 1 month through 
20 years. The Bank applies judgement when assessing whether it is reasonably certain it will exercise the renewal option, 
that is, it considers all the relevant factors that create an economic incentive for the exercising of the renewal option. 
 
Measurement and remeasurement of assets under right of use and of lease liabilities 
 
Lease payments are discounted according to the lessee's incremental financing interest rate, which incorporates the risk-
free interest rate curve plus a Bank risk spread, applied over the weighted average term of each lease agreement. 
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The lease liability is initially recorded at the present value of the future cash flows of the lease and is subsequently measured 
(i) by increasing its carrying amount to reflect interest on it, (ii) by decreasing its carrying amount by to reflect lease payments 
made. 
 
An asset under right of use, initially measured at cost, must consider the present value of the future cash flows of the lease 
liability, being subsequently subject to depreciation/amortization according to the lease term of each agreement and to 
impairment tests. 
 
C. As lessor 

According to IFRS 16, lessors will continue to classify leases as finance or operating, there being no significant changes 
vis-à-vis that defined in IAS 17. 
 
Finance leases 

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Leasing 
contracts are recorded in the balance sheet as loans granted for the amount equivalent to the net investment made in the 
leased assets, together with any estimated non-guaranteed residual value. Interest included in instalments charged to 
customers is recorded as interest income, while the repayments of principal, also included in the instalments, are deducted 
from the amount of the loans granted to customers. The recognition of the interest reflects a constant periodic rate of return 
on the lessor's net outstanding investment.  
 
Operating leases 

All leases not falling within the definition of finance leases are classified as operating leases. Payments made by the Bank 
under operating lease agreements, from the lessee’s perspective, are charged to the income statement in the periods to 
which they relate. 
 
Hence, the accounting policies applicable to the Bank as lessor are not different from the accounting policies applicable 
under IAS 17. 
 
 
2.14. Employee benefits 
 
 
Variable remuneration paid to employees and other obligations  
The Bank recognizes in costs the short-term benefits attributed to employees who rendered services in the respective 
accounting period.  
 
• Profit-sharing and bonus plans  

The Bank recognizes the estimated costs with profit-sharing pay-outs and bonuses when it has a present, legal or 
constructive, obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and can make a reliable estimate of the 
obligation. 

• Obligations with regard to holidays, holiday subsidy and Christmas subsidy 
In accordance with the legislation in force in Portugal, employees are annually entitled to one month of holidays and 
one month of holiday subsidy, this being a right acquired in the year prior to their payment. In addition, employees are 
annually entitled to one month of Christmas subsidy, which right is acquired throughout the year and settled during the 
month of December of each calendar year. Hence, these liabilities are recorded in the period in which the employees 
acquire the right to same, regardless of the date of their respective payment. 
 

 
2.15. Income taxes 
 
 
The Bank is subject to the tax regime laid down in the Corporate Income Tax Code (Código do Imposto sobre o Rendimento 
das Pessoas Coletivas (CIRC). 
 
Total income taxes for the period comprise current and deferred taxes. Income tax is recognized in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, fact which implies its recognition in equity. Deferred 
taxes recognized directly in equity relating to the measurement of assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
and of cash flow hedges are subsequently recognized in the income statement when the gains or losses giving rise to the 
income tax are also recognized in the income statement.  
 
Current tax is the tax expected to be paid on the taxable income for the period, calculated using tax rules and tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, in each jurisdiction and any adjustments to taxes of prior 
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periods. The tax is recognized in each financial reporting period, based on Management's estimates of the average annual 
effective tax rate forecast for the entire fiscal year. 
 
Current tax is calculated based on the taxable income for the period, which differs from the accounting income due to 
adjustments resulting from expenses or income that are not relevant for tax purposes or that will only be considered in 
subsequent years. 
 
Deferred tax is determined on timing differences arising between the carrying values of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and their respective tax base and is calculated using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the balance sheet date, in each jurisdiction, and that are expected to come to apply when the timing differences reverse. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable timing differences, except for i) the differences arising on the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities that neither affect the accounting nor the taxable income; ii), those that do not result from 
a business combination, and iii) the differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available to absorb the 
deductible timing differences for tax purposes (including tax losses carried forward).  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are always recorded, regardless of the Bank’s performance. 
 
The Bank proceeds, as established in IAS 12, paragraph 74, to offset deferred tax assets and liabilities whenever (i) it has 
the legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and current tax liabilities; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income tax levied by the same taxing authority on the same taxable entity or different taxable entities that want to 
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each 
future period in which the deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered. 
 
 
2.16. Provisions and Contingent liabilities 
 
 
Provisions are recognized when: (i) the Bank has a present, legal or contractual, obligation, (ii) it is probable that its 
settlement will be required in the future and (iii) a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. 
 
Provisions related to legal proceedings, opposing the Bank to third parties, are set up in accordance with the internal risk 
assessments carried out by Management, with the support and advice of its legal consultants. 
 
Where the discounting effect is material, the provision represents the present value of the expected future payments 
discounted at a rate that considers the risk associated with the obligation. In these cases, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognized in financial costs. 
 
Provisions shall be recognized for restructuring when the Bank has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and 
such restructuring has started or has been publicly announced. 
 
A provision for onerous contracts shall be recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Bank from a contract 
are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations arising under same. This provision shall be measured at 
the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net costs of continuing the 
contract.  
 
If a future outflow of funds is not probable, this situation reflects a contingent liability. Contingent liabilities are always 
disclosed, except when the likelihood of their occurrence is remote. 
 
 
2.17. Recognition of interest income and expense 
 
 
Interest income and expenses are recognized in the income statement under interest income and interest expenses, 
respectively, for financial instruments measured at amortized cost and for the financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, using the effective interest rate method. Interest income and expenses arising from financial assets 
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are also included under interest income or interest expenses, respectively.  
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts throughout the 
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying value of the financial asset 
or liability. The effective interest rate is calculated at inception, and it is not subsequently revised except with respect to 
financial assets and liabilities at a variable rate, which is re-estimated periodically considering the estimated future impacts 
on cash flows resulting from the change in the reference interest rate. 
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When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all the contractual terms of the 
financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes 
all fees and commissions paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all 
other directly related premiums or discounts.  
 
Interest income includes interest on financial assets for which impairment was recognized. The interest on financial assets 
classified in Stage 3 are determined applying the effective interest rate method to the net carrying value. When the assets 
cease to be included in Stage 3, the interest is calculated based on the gross carrying value. 
 
For derivative financial instruments, the interest component inherent in the changes in fair value of derivative financial 
instruments classified as fair value hedges and fair value options are recognized in the captions of interest income or interest 
expenses. For the remaining derivatives, the interest component inherent in the change in fair value will not be separated 
and will be classified under the caption Net gains/(losses) from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss (see Note 2.3).  
 
 
2.18. Recognition of fee and commission income 
 
 
Fee and commission income is recognized as revenue from contracts with customers in the same measure the performance 
obligations are met: 

• Fees and commissions that are earned on the execution of a significant act, such as loan syndication fees, are 
recognized as income when the significant act has been completed;  

• Fees and commissions earned over the period during which the services are provided are recognized as income in the 
period to which they relate; 

• Fees and commissions that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are recognized as 
income using the effective interest rate method.  
 
 

2.19. Recognition of dividend income 
 
 
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive the payment is established. 
 
 
2.20. Segmental reporting 
 
 
Since the Bank’s equity or debt securities are not publicly traded, considering paragraph 2 of IFRS 8 - Operating Segments, 
the Bank does not disclose information on the segments. 
 
 
2.21. Earnings per share 
 
 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income available to the shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period, excluding the average number of ordinary shares purchased by 
the Bank and held as treasury stock. 
 
For the diluted earnings per share calculation, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation is adjusted to 
reflect the conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares, such as convertible debt and share options granted to 
employees. The dilution effect reflects a decrease in the earnings per share and results from the assumption that all 
convertible debt is converted and that all the options granted are exercised.  
 
 
2.22. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 
For cash flow statement purposes, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with a maturity of less than three months 
from the acquisition/contracting date and which risk of change in value is immaterial, including cash and deposits with 
Central and other banks. Cash and cash equivalents exclude mandatory deposits with Central Banks. 
 
 
 
 



  

 
Report & Accounts 2021                                                                   Page                      62 

NOTA 3 – MAIN ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS USED IN PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Considering that the current accounting framework requires applying judgements and calculating estimates involving some 
degree of subjectivity, the use of different parameters or judgements based on different evidence may result in different 
estimates. The most significant accounting estimates and judgements used are discussed in this Note so as to increase the 
understanding of how their application affects the Bank’s reported results and their disclosure.  
 
The COVID-19 pandemic, despite the government and regulatory response measures adopted, resulted in an additional 
high level of uncertainty about the Portuguese and European economy and, in particular, the banking activity, with an impact 
on the judgements and estimates used in the financial statements. However, the internal control policies and standards 
adopted by the Bank allow us to consider that these judgements and estimates were made independently and appropriately 
as at 31 December 2021. 
 
The relevant judgements made by management in the application of the Bank's accounting policies and the main sources 
of uncertainty in the estimates were the same as those described in the last Financial Statements. 
 
 
3.1. Impairment of financial assets accounted for at amortized cost and at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 
 
 
The critical judgements with the greatest impact on the recognized amounts of impairment of financial assets accounted for 
at amortized cost and at fair value through other comprehensive income are as follows: 

• Assessment of the business model: the classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of 
the SPPI test and the definition of the business model. The Bank determines the business model depending on how it 
wants to manage financial assets and business objectives. Annually, the Bank monitors whether the business model 
classification is appropriate based on the analysis of the anticipated derecognition of assets at amortized cost or at fair 
value through other comprehensive income, assessing whether a prospective change is necessary; 

• Significant increase in credit risk: as stated in policy 2.4 - Other financial assets, the determination of the transfer of an 
asset from stage 1 to stage 2 for the purpose of determining its impairment is made on the basis of a significant increase 
in its credit risk, with IFRS 9 not objectively defining what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk; 

• Classification of an exposure as “in default”: the internal definition at the novobanco Group of an exposure in default 
is broadly in line with the regulatory definition in Article 178 of the CRR/CRD IV. This same regulation establishes 
qualitative criteria for the assessment of the state of default – “unlikely to pay” -, criteria which are replicated in the 
internal definition implemented by the Bank and which result in judgements regarding the high probability that the 
borrower does not fulfil the obligations under the conditions agreed with the Bank; 

• Definition of groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics: when the expected credit losses are measured in 
a collective model, the financial instruments are grouped based on the same risk characteristics. The Bank monitors 
the adequacy of the credit risk characteristics in order to ensure that a proper reclassification of the assets is made, in 
case of changes in credit risk characteristics; 

• Models and assumptions used: the Bank uses several models and assumptions in the measurement of the estimate of 
expected credit losses. The judgement is applied in the identification of the most appropriate model for each type of 
asset as well as to determine the assumptions used in these models, including the assumptions related to the main 
drivers of credit risk. In addition, in compliance with the IFRS 9 regulations that explain the need for the impairment 
result to consider multiple scenarios, a methodology for incorporating scenario analysis in the risk parameters was 
implemented. Thus, the collective impairment calculation considers several scenarios with a specific weighting, based 
on the internal methodology defined for scenario analysis - definition of multiple perspectives of macroeconomic 
evolution, with a relevant probability of occurrence. 

 
The internal and regulatory framework of the definition of Default is described in internal regulations and is implemented in 
accordance with Article 178 of EU Regulation No. 575/2013, CRR. The concept of Default has existed at the Bank for 
several years; however, either due to legal requirements or due to the internal efficiency of the process, the underlying 
definition has undergone some changes over the past few years. 
 
The concept of Default was first determined by the criteria defined in section 2.1. of Part 4 of Annex IV of Notice no. 5/2007 
and the additional clarifications agreed with the Bank of Portugal at the meeting of 17 March 2008 on this topic. In this 
sense, a situation of Default, with respect to a given debtor or contract, was considered to exist when one or more of the 
following events occurs: a) the debtor has a delay of more than 90 days, with respect to any significant credit obligation vis-
à-vis the banking group; or b) the Bank considers that there is a reduced probability that the debtor will fully comply with the 
respective obligations to the Bank, without resorting to specific mitigation actions, such as the activation of any guarantees 
held. 
 
Since then, the definition of Default has undergone adaptations in accordance with the new regulatory requirements 
provided for by the CRR and, also, by subsequent guidelines issued by EBA and provided for in this regulation. In 2016, 
with the publication of the final guidelines on the application of the definition of default under the terms of Article 178 of the 
CRR (EBA/GL/2016/07 and EBA/RTS/2016/06), EBA established the objective of harmonizing the application of the 
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definition of Default in all entities covered by the SSM, leading to consistency and comparability in the calculation of capital 
requirements, both in the Standard (SA) and IRB approaches. These guidelines issued introduce changes in the entire 
perimeter of the definition in force at the Bank until 2020, namely in the frequency of the process, in the criterion of days in 
arrears, materiality of the default and also in the indicators of reduced probability of payment. This new definition of Default 
(nDoD) is in effect at the Bank through a daily process created specifically for this purpose since 31 May 20203. In addition 
to the daily process, an effort has been made to recover historical information since 2009 (on a monthly perspective), to 
apply these marking and demarking of Default rules, and on which the ongoing risk parameter revision process is based. 
The output of the historical Default markings’ recovery process served as input to the daily rules’ engine, to reduce the gap 
existing between the Default dates. 
 
The close relationship between the definition of Default and other regulatory definitions, such as Non-performing Loans 
(NPL) and/or Non-performing Exposures (NPE), Credit Impaired Stage 3 and even Credit Forborne, led to the determination 
of an alignment of the concepts. In practical terms, the criteria for marking and demarking Default will be as demanding as 
the applicability, not only of its specific regulatory requirements, but also of the requirements of these other regulatory 
definitions. 
 
The definition of Default in effect after 2020 considers a set of concepts that were not evaluated by the previous definition, 
namely the concepts of debtor and joint materiality in the default trigger. However, and in general lines, given the guidelines 
EBA/GL/2016/07 and the alignment between other regulatory definitions, the definition of Default is based on the following 
pillars, determined daily, summarized in the following figure: 

§ Default Days; 
§ Deterministic situations of Unlikely to pay; 
§ Propagation effect (pulling effect included); 
§ Quarantine period; 
§ Default exit condition. 

 
 

3.2. Fair value of derivative financial instruments and other financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
 
 
Fair values are based on listed market prices, when available; otherwise, fair value is determined based on the price of 
recent similar arm’s length transactions, or valuation methodologies, based on the net present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted taking into consideration the market conditions, time value, yield curve and volatility factors of the 
underlying instruments in conformity with the principles of IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement. The Bank uses various 
models and assumptions in the measurement of the fair value of financial assets. Judgement is applied in identifying the 
most appropriate model for each asset type as well as to determine the assumptions used in these models, including the 
assumptions related to the main drivers of credit risk.  
 
Consequently, the use of different methodologies or the use of different assumptions or judgements in applying a particular 
model might have produced different measurements from those reported and summarized in Note 31. 
 
 
3.3. Income taxes 
 
 
The Bank is subject to taxes on its income. Significant interpretations and estimates are required in determining the global 
amount of income taxes. Different interpretations and estimates could result in a different level of income taxes, current and 
deferred, being recognized in the period, and evidenced in Note 22. 
 
The Tax Authorities are entitled to review the Bank’s taxable income self-assessment during a period of four years (except 
in the event tax losses have been carried forward, as well as any other deduction or tax credit, in respect of which the 
statutory limitation period is the exercise of that right). Hence, it is possible that the taxable income may be corrected, mainly 
because of differences in interpretation of tax law. However, the Board of Directors of the Bank is confident that there will 
be no material tax corrections to the income taxes recorded in the financial statements. 
 
 
NOTE 4 – SEGMENTAL REPORTING 
 
 
Given that the Bank does not hold treasury stock or debt securities that are publicly traded, in accordance with paragraph 
2 of IFRS 8 - Operating Segments, it does not disclose segmental information. 
 
 
 

 
3 Definition in force in accordance with JST’s approval. 
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NOTE 5 – NET INTEREST INCOME 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 
 
 
NOTE 6 – DIVIDEND INCOME 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 
 
 
NOTE 7 – NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 

(thousands of Euros)

Of assets/liabilities at 
amortized cost and assets at 

fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Of assets/liabilities at 
amortized cost and assets at 

fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Interest income
Interest from loans and advances to customers  2 217  2 041 
Interest from deposits with and loans and advances to banks  1 321  2 152 
Interest from securities   333   760 
Other interest and similar income   2   11 

 3 873  4 964 
Interest expense

Interest on amounts due to customers   287   661 

Interest on deposits from Central and other banks   1   1 

Other interest and similar charges   7 (  3)

  295   659 

 3 578  4 305 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Of non-negotiable financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss
Shares   9   9 

Of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Shares   40   45 

  49   54 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Fee and commission income
From banking services  12 278  9 822 
From guarantees issued  1 726  2 076 
From transactions with securities  2 446  1 518 
Transactions realized on behalf of third parties - cross-selling  1 030   733 
Other fee and commission income   145   239 

 17 626  14 391 
Fee and commission expense

On banking services rendered by third parties   393   375 
On transactions with securities   225   229 
Other fee and commission expenses  5 240  3 830 

 5 858  4 434 

 11 768  9 957 
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NOTE 8 – NET GAINS/(LOSSES) FROM DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOT 
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 
 
 
NOTE 9 – NET GAINS/(LOSSES) FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 
 
 
NOTE 10 – NET GAINS/(LOSSES) FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 
 
 
NOTE 11 – NET GAINS/(LOSSES) FROM FOREIGN EXCHANGE REVALUATION 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 
This caption includes the foreign exchange differences arising from the revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 2.2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Gains Losses Total Gains Losses Total

Of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Securities

Bonds and other fixed-income securities
     Of Government/public issuers  2 110 -  2 110  2 289 -  2 289 

 2 110 -  2 110  2 289 -  2 289 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

Gains Losses Total Gains Losses Total

Derivative financial instruments
Exchange rate contracts   150   300 (  150)   326   183   143 

  150   300 (  150)   326   183   143 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

Gains Losses Total Gains Losses Total

Gains or losses from financial assets mandatorily
measured at fair value through profit or loss

Securities
Shares -   7 (  7)   180 -   180 

-   7 (  7)   180 -   180 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Gains Losses Total Gains Losses Total

Foreign exchange revaluation  7 658  7 445   213  8 811  8 927 (  116)

 7 658  7 445   213  8 811  8 927 (  116)
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NOTE 12 - OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 
 
 
NOTE 13 – STAFF COSTS 
  
 
Staff costs have the following breakdown:  

 
 
The number of Bank employees, by professional category, is analysed as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Other operating income
Results of loan recoveries   46   121 
Other   321   169 

  367   290 

Other operating expenses
Direct and indirect taxesDirect and indirect taxes (  24) (  42)
Banking levy (  258) (  207)
Other (  36) (  194)

(  318) (  443)
Other operating income/(expenses)   49 (  153)

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Wages and salaries  4 364  4 377 
Remuneration  4 364  4 377 

Mandatory social charges   854  1 020 
Other costs   261   96 

 5 479  5 493 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Top management functions 24   37 
Middle management functions 8   11 
Specific functions 48   73 
Administrative and other functions 10   11 

  90   132 
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NOTE 14 – GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 
 
This caption comprises: 

 
The fees invoiced during financial years 2021 and 2020 by the Statutory Audit Firm, disclosed in accordance with the 
provision of Article 66-A of the Portuguese Commercial Companies Code, have the following breakdown: 
 

 
 
 
NOTE 15 – CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE RESOLUTION AND DEPOSITS’ GUARANTEE FUNDS 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption is analysed as follows:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Rentals   121   131 
Advertising   847   888 
Communication  1 091  1 331 
Maintenance and repairs   141   110 
Travel and entertainment   9   18 
Transport of valuables   2   18 
Insurance   91   33 
IT services  1 579  1 467 
Independent work   48   81 
Assignment of human resources  1 628  1 607 
Temporary work   13   19 
Electronic payment systems   280   289 
Legal costs   71   181 
Consultants and auditors   142   119 
Water, energy and fuel   42   57 
Consumables   10   8 
Other costs   592   852 

 6 707  7 209 

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Statutory audit fees   30   21 
Other services   12   22 

Total amount of the services invoiced   42   43 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Contribution to the Sole Resolution Fund   15   15 
Contribution to the National Resolution Fund   115   80 
Contribution to the Deposits' Guarantee Fund   1   1 

  131   96 
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NOTE 16 - EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
 
Basic earnings per share  

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to shareholders of the Bank by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the financial year. 

 
 
Diluted earnings per share  

The diluted earnings per share is calculated considering the income attributable to the shareholders of the Bank and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation, adjusted for the effects of all potential dilutive ordinary shares. 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Bank had no potential dilutive ordinary shares, and so the diluted earnings per 
share is equal to the basic earnings per share. 
 
 
 
NOTE 17 – CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH CENTRAL AND OTHER BANKS 
 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption is analysed as follows:  

 
 
 
In accordance with Article 10 of Regulation no. 2818/98 of the European Central Bank, of 1 December, and through Circular 
Letter no. 204/DMRCF/DMC, of 5 June 2001, the Bank of Portugal authorized BEST to constitute its minimum mandatory 
reserves indirectly, through Novo Banco, S.A.. Quarterly, BEST settles through a deposit account with novobanco the 
amount related to the minimum mandatory reserves to be constituted. As of 31 December 2021, the balance of that account 
amounted to Euros 7 257 thousand (31 December 2020: Euros 6 738 thousand), and the average interest rate in both 
financial years 2021 and 2020 was nil. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Net income attributable to the shareholders of the Bank  3 269  1 790 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation (thousands)  63 000  63 000 

Basic earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of the Bank (in Euros) 0.05 0.03

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Deposits with banks in Portugal
    Demand deposits   23 509  17 328 

 23 509  17 328 

Deposits with banks abroad
 Other deposits   44 007  38 688 

 44 007  38 688 

  67 516   56 016 
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NOTE 18 – FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption is analysed as follows:  

 
 
Derivatives 
 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the derivatives held for trading may be analysed as follows: 

 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the analysis of derivatives held for trading by period to maturity is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
NOTE 19 – FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS, AT 
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND AT AMORTIZED COST 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, these captions are analysed as follows:  

 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Financial assets held for trading
Derivatives

Derivatives held for trading with a positive fair value    17   20 
  17   20 

Financial liabilities held for trading
Derivatives

Derivatives held for trading with a negative fair value    278   131 
   278    131 

(thousands of Euros)

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Derivatives held for trading

Exchange rate contracts  93 376   17   278  85 844   20   131 

   17    278    20    131 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

(thousands of Euros)

 
Buy Sell  Buy Sell

Derivatives held for trading
Up to 3 months  93 376  93 370 (  261)  85 844  85 846 (  111)

 93 376  93 370 (  261)  85 844  85 846 (  111)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Notional Net fair value Notional Net fair value

(thousands of Euros)

Mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss

Fair value through 
other comprehensive 

income
Amortized cost Total

Securities   1 412   43 191   4 991   49 594 
Loans and advances to banks - -   584 013   584 013 
Loans and advances to customers - -   148 130   148 130 

  1 412   43 191   737 134   781 737 

31.12.2021
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Securities 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of the Securities’ portfolio is as follows:  

 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the detail of the securities at fair value through other comprehensive income is as 
follows: 

 
 

 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss

Fair value through 
other comprehensive 

income
Amortized cost Total

Securities   1 310   50 877   18 406   70 593 
Loans and advances to banks - -   563 436   563 436 
Loans and advances to customers - -   123 029   123 029 

  1 310   50 877   704 871   757 058 

31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Securities mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss

Shares  1 412  1 310 

 1 412  1 310 

Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income

Bonds and other fixed-income securities
Of Government/public issuers  42 771  50 462 

Shares   420   415 

 43 191  50 877 
Securities at amortized cost

Bonds and other fixed-income securities
Of other issuers  5 044  18 446 

Impairment (  53) (  40)

 4 991  18 406 

 49 594  70 593 

(thousands of Euros)

Positive Negative

Bonds and other fixed-income securities
Of Government/public issuers  42 856   634 (  719)  42 771 (  27)

Residents  38 253   634 (  700)  38 187 (  24)
Non-residents  4 603 - (  19)  4 584 (  3)

Shares   548 - (  128)   420 - 
Residents   548 - (  128)   420 - 

Balance at 31 December 2021  43 404   634 (  847)  43 191 (  27)
(1) Acquisition cost relating to shares and other equity instruments and amortized cost relating to debt securities

Cost (1)
Fair value reserves Carrying 

value
Impairment 

reserves

(thousands of Euros)

Positive Negative

Bonds and other fixed-income securities
Of Government/public issuers  46 846  3 616 -  50 462 (  26)

Residents  46 846  3 616 -  50 462 (  26)

Shares   549 - (  134)   415 - 
Residents   549 - (  134)   415 - 

Balance at 31 December 2020  47 395  3 616 (  134)  50 877 (  26)
(1) Acquisition cost relating to shares and other equity instruments and amortized cost relating to debt securities

Cost (1)
Fair value reserves Carrying 

value
Impairment 

reserves
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The movements occurring in the impairment of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are as follows: 

 
 
During financial year 2021, the Bank disposed of financial instruments classified at fair value though other comprehensive 
income in the amount of Euros 21 700 thousand (31 December 2020: Euros 28 878 thousand), having recorded no gain or 
loss on the transaction. 
 
According to the accounting policy described in Note 2.4, the Bank regularly assesses whether there is any objective 
evidence of impairment in its portfolio of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income following the 
judgement criteria described in Note 3.1. 
 
The detail of the securities’ portfolio, by fair value hierarchy, is presented in Note 31. 
  
The movements occurring in impairment losses of securities at amortized cost are as follows: 

 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the analysis of the securities’ portfolio by period to maturity is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at 31 December 2019    29 - -    29 

Increases due to changes in credit risk    36 - -    36 
Decreases due to changes in credit risk (   39) - - (   39)

Balance at 31 December 2020    26 - -    26 

Increases due to changes in credit risk    29 - -    29 
Decreases due to changes in credit risk (   29) - - (   29)
Other movements    1 - -    1 

Balance at 31 December 2021    27 - -    27 

Movement in impairment of securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

(thousands of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at 31 December 2019 -    82 -    82 

Increases due to changes in credit risk    73    887 -    960 
Decreases due to changes in credit risk (   64) (   938) - (  1 002)
Other movements (   1)    1 - - 

Balance at 31 December 2020    8    32 -    40 

Increases due to changes in credit risk    138    46 -    184 
Decreases due to changes in credit risk (   94) (   77) - (   171)
Other movements    1 (   1) - - 

Balance at 31 December 2021    53 - -    53 

Movement in impairment of securities at amortized cost

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Securities mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss
Undetermined  1 412  1 310 

 1 412  1 310 

Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Up to 3 months   172   572 
3 months to 1 year   360  - 
1 to 5 years  4 572   363 
More than 5 years  37 667  49 527 
Undetermined   420   415 

 43 191  50 877 

Securities at amortized cost (*)
Up to 3 months   22  18 446 
More than 5 years  5 022  - 

 5 044  18 446 

 49 647  70 633 
(*) Gross amount before impairment
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Loans and advances to banks 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the analysis of loans and advances to banks is as follows: 

 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the analysis of loans and advances to banks by period to maturity is as follows: 

 
 
 
The movements occurring in impairment losses on loans and advances to banks are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Loans and advances to banks in Portugal
Deposits   584 117  563 646 

 584 117  563 646 

Impairment losses (   104) (  210)

 584 013  563 436 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Up to 3 months   227 427   361 024 
3 months to 1 year   356 690   201 453 
1 to 5 years -   1 169 

  584 117   563 646 

(thousands of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at 31 December 2019    355 - -    355 

Increases due to changes in credit risk    277 - -    277 
Decreases due to changes in credit risk (   420) - - (   420)
Other movements (   2) - - (   2)

Balance at 31 December 2020    210 - -    210 

Increases due to changes in credit risk    981 - -    981 
Decreases due to changes in credit risk (  1 089) - - (  1 089)
Other movements    2 - -    2 

Balance at 31 December 2021    104 - -    104 

Loans and advances to banks
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Loans and advances to customers 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption is analysed as follows:  

 
 
The movements occurring in impairment losses of loans and advances to customers are as follows: 

 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the analysis of loans and advances to customers by period to maturity is as follows: 

 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Domestic loans and advances
Corporate

Current account loans and advances  31 319  27 188 
Individuals

Consumer and other loans  107 861  90 491 
 139 180  117 679 

Foreign loans and advances
Corporate

Current account loans and advances -   90 
Individuals

Consumer and other loans  9 735  5 813 
 9 735  5 903 

Past due loans and advances and interest
Up to 90 days   5   1 
More than 90 days   253   220 

  258   221 

 149 173  123 803 

Impairment losses ( 1 043) (  774)

 148 130  123 029 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at 31 December 2019    389    209    172    770 

Increases due to changes in credit risk    889    309    42   1 240 
Decreases due to changes in credit risk (  1 012) (   219) (   5) (  1 236)
Other movements    131 (   130) (   1) - 

Balance at 31 December 2020    397    169    208    774 

Increases due to changes in credit risk    214    242    24    480 
Decreases due to changes in credit risk (   140) (   62) (   10) (   212)
Other movements    40 (   53)    14    1 

Balance at 31 December 2021    511    296    236   1 043 

Movement in impairment of loans and advances to customers

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Up to 3 months   62 233   51 308 
3 months to 1 year   79 434   65 480 
1 to 5 years    575    593 
More than 5 years   6 673   6 201 
Undetermined (overdue credit)    258    221 

  149 173   123 803 
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The distribution of Loans and advances to customers by type of rate is as follows: 

 
 
 
NOTE 20 – TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption is analysed as follows:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Fixed rate  77 690  60 299 
Variable rate  71 483  63 504 

 149 173  123 803 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Real estate property
Improvements in leasehold property  1 525  1 524 

 1 525  1 524 

Assets under right of use
Real estate property  3 195  3 083 
Equipment   517   526 

 3 712  3 609 

Equipment
Computer equipment  3 010  2 996 
Fixtures   431   430 
Furniture  1 509  1 509 
Security equipment   67   67 
Machinery and tools   119   119 
Other   1   1 

 5 137  5 122 
 10 374  10 255 

Accumulated depreciation ( 7 408) ( 6 345)

 2 966  3 910 
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The movement in this caption is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
NOTE 21 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption is analysed as follows:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Real estate 
property Equipment Assets under 

right of use
Fixed assets in 

progress Total

Acquisition cost
Balance at 31 December 2019   1 409   5 024   2 629 -   9 062 

Additions    115    96   3 093    2   3 306 
Disposals/write-offs - - (  2 113) - (  2 113)
Transfers -    3 (   2)    1 
Other (   1) - (   1)

Balance at 31 December 2020   1 524   5 122   3 609 -   10 255 
Additions    1    13    280 -    294 
Disposals/write-offs - - (   177) - (   177)
Transfers -    2 -    2 

Balance at 31 December 2021   1 525   5 137   3 712 -   10 374 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 31 December 2019    943   3 905    695 -   5 543 

Depreciation for the period    61    376    905 -   1 342 
Disposals/write-offs - - (   534) - (   534)
Foreign exchange variations and other movements - - (   6) - (   6)

Balance at 31 December 2020   1 004   4 281   1 060 -   6 345 
Depreciation for the period    62    385    765 -   1 212 
Disposals/write-offs - - (   150) - (   150)
Foreign exchange variations and other movements -    1 - -    1 

Balance at 31 December 2021   1 066   4 667   1 675 -   7 408 

Carrying value at 31 December 2021    459    470   2 037 -   2 966 

Carrying value at 31 December 2020    520    841   2 549 -   3 910 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Acquired from third parties
Software - Automatic data processing system   4 677   4 389 

Accumulated amortization (  4 262) (  3 929)

   415    460 
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The movement in this caption is as follows: 

 
 
 
NOTE 22 – INCOME TAXES 
 
 
The Bank is subject to taxation under the Corporate Income Tax Code (“Imposto sobre o Rendimento das Pessoas 
Coletivas” (IRC)) and the corresponding Surcharges (“Derrama”). 
 
Income taxes (current or deferred) are recognized in the income statement except in cases where the underlying 
transactions have been reflected in other equity captions. In these situations, the corresponding tax is also reflected in 
equity, not affecting the net income for the period.  
 
The current income tax for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 was determined based on the nominal IRC tax rate 
and Municipal Surcharge in force, increased by an additional State Surcharge (“Derrama Estadual”) levied depending on 
the taxable income determined (3%, for taxable income between Euros 1.5 million and Euros 7.5 million; 5% for taxable 
income between Euros 7.5 million and Euros 35 million and 9% for taxable income in excess of Euros 35 million). 
 
Deferred taxes are calculated based on the tax rates anticipated to be in force at the date of the reversal of the timing 
differences, which correspond to the rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.  
 
For financial year 2021, the deferred tax calculation was, broadly, calculated based on an aggregate rate of 26%, resulting 
from the sum of the corporate income tax rate (21%), approved by Law no. 82-B/2014, of 31 December, the Municipal 
Surcharge rate of 1.5% and an average estimated rate of 3.5% for the State Surcharge. 
 
On 4 September 2019, Law no. 98/2019 was published, which amended the IRC Code on the tax treatment of impairment 
of credit institutions, creating rules applicable to impairment losses recorded in the tax periods beginning before 1 January 
2019, not yet accepted for tax purposes. This law enshrined a transition period for the aforementioned tax regime, which 
allows taxpayers in the five tax periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, to continue to apply the tax regime in force 
before the publication of this law, unless they exercise the “opt in” until the end of October of each tax period of the transition 
period. 
 
In October 2020, the Bank manifested its intention to adhere to the new tax regime for impairment of credit and other 
financial institutions provided for in Law No. 98/2019, of 4 September, with effect from 1 January 2020. 
 
Despite the Bank having adhered to the aforementioned tax regime so as to have its credit impairments fully tax deductible, 
the impairment stock taxed under the previous regime (that is, until 31 December 2019) will continue to represent a deferred 
tax asset until fully reversed, under the terms of Article 3 of Law No. 98/2019. 
 
The Portuguese Tax Authorities are entitled to review the annual tax returns of the Bank for a period of four years. Hence, 
it is possible that some additional taxes may be assessed, mainly because of differences in interpretation of tax law. 
However, Management is confident that no additional material tax charges will arise. 
 

(thousands of Euros)
Automatic data 

processing system Total

Acquisition cost
Balance at 31 December 2019   4 050   4 050 

Additions:
Acquired from third parties    340    340 

Foreign exchange variations and other movements (   1) (   1)

Balance at 31 December 2020   4 389   4 389 
Additions:

Acquired from third parties    288    288 

Balance at 31 December 2021   4 677   4 677 

Accumulated amortization
Balance at 31 December 2019   3 776   3 776 

Amortization for the period    153    153 

Balance at 31 December 2020   3 929   3 929 
Amortization for the period    333    333 

Balance at 31 December 2021   4 262   4 262 

Carrying value at 31 December 2021    415    415 

Carrying value at 31 December 2020    460    460 



  

 
Report & Accounts 2021                                                                   Page                      77 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, may be analysed as 
follows:  

 
 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet in this financial year, may be analysed as follows: 

 
 
 
The movements in the deferred tax balance sheet captions affected the following accounts: 

 
 
The tax recognized in the income statement and reserves during financial years 2021 and 2020 had the following origins: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Current tax -   1 554 -    728 
Corporate income tax recoverable/payable -   1 554 -    728 

Deferred tax    122 - -    743 

   122   1 554 -   1 471 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

Assets Liabilities Net
31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Financial instruments   221   45 (  165) (  940)   56 (  895)
Impairment of loans and advances to customers   57   111 - -   57   111 
Provisions   9   41 - -   9   41 
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)   287   197 (  165) (  940)   122 (  743)

Offsetting of deferred tax assets/liabilities (  165) (  197)   165   197 - - 

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)   122 - - (  743)   122 (  743)

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Opening balance (  743) (  614)
Recognized in the income statement (  96) (  124)
Recognized in fair value reserves    960 (   5)
Recognized in other reserves  -  -

Closing balance - Asset/(Liability)   122 (  743)

(thousands of Euros)

Recognized in 
the income 
statement

Recognized in 
reserves

Recognized in 
the income 
statement

Recognized in 
reserves

Financial instruments    10 (   960)    11    6 
Impairment of loans and advances to customers    54 -    131 - 
Provisions    32 - (   18) - 

Deferred taxes    96 (   960)    124    6 

Current taxes   1 137 -    135 - 

Total tax recognized (income)/expense   1 233 (   960)    259    6 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
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The reconciliation of the corporate income tax rate may be analysed as follows: 

 
 
 
As shown in the table above, the Bank has an effective tax rate of 27.4% in 2021, which is especially influenced by the 
adoption of the credit impairment tax regime (Law No. 98/2019), through which the credit impairments are now tax deductible 
in their entirety. 
 
Following the enactment of Law no. 55-A/2010, of 31 December, a Banking Levy (“Contribuição sobre o Sector Bancário”) 
was created, being levied on the average annual liability calculated based on the balance sheet, net of own funds and the 
deposits covered by the Deposits’ Guarantee Fund and on the notional value of derivative financial instruments. The 
Banking Levy is not eligible as a tax cost, and its regime has been being extended. As at 31 December 2021, the Bank 
recognized the amount of Euros 216 thousand (31 December 2020: Euros 170 thousand) as Banking Levy cost, pursuant 
to Law no. 114/2017, of 29 December. The cost recognized was calculated and paid based on the maximum rate of 0.110% 
that is levied on the average annual liability calculated based on the balance sheet, net of own funds and deposits covered 
by the Deposits’ Guarantee Fund, approved by Law no. 7-A/2016, of 30 March and by Ordinance no. 165-A/2016, of 14 
June. 
 
In 2021, following one of the measures foreseen in the Economic and Social Stabilization Program (PEES) and following 
Art. 18 of Law no. 27-A/2020, of 24 July, the Solidarity Additional on the Banking Sector was created, which, similarly to the 
Contribution on the Banking Sector, is levied on the average annual liabilities calculated based on the balance sheet, net of 
own funds and deposits covered by the Deposits’ Guarantee Fund, and on the notional value of derivative financial 
instruments. 
 
Its settlement is carried out until the end of June of the year following the year to which the additional relates. 
 
A transitional regime was established for the years 2020 and 2021, the assessment of which is carried out in accordance 
with the following rules: 
 

• The incidence base is calculated by reference to the half-yearly average of the final balances of each month, which 
correspond in the accounts for the first half of 2020, in the case of the solidarity additional due in 2020, and in the 
accounts for the second half of 2020, in the case of the solidarity additional due in 2021, which are published in 
compliance with the obligation established in Bank of Portugal Notice No. 1/2019; 

• The assessment is made by the taxable person through returns to be submitted by 15 December 2020 and 2021, 
respectively, with the payments being due on the same dates. 

 
The Solidarity Additional on the Banking Sector is not eligible as a tax cost. 
 
As of 31 December 2021, the Bank recognized an expense related to the Solidarity Additional on the Banking Sector in the 
amount of Euros 42 thousand (31 December 2020: Euros 37 thousand). The expense recognized was assessed and paid 
based on the maximum rate of 0.02% levied on the average annual liabilities calculated based on the balance sheet, less 
the own funds and deposits covered by the Deposits’ Guarantee Fund. 

 

 

 

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Result before tax  2 049  4 071 
Extraordinary Contribution and Solidarity Additional on the Banking Sector   207   163 

 2 256  4 234 

Tax rate 26.0 26.0
Tax charge determined based on tax rate   587  1 101 
Non-deductible expenses 3.3   68 0.5   22 
Corporate tax reimbursement and Excess tax estimates of previous years (22.8) (  468) 0.0  -
Autonomous taxation 1.5   30 0.7   28 
Other 2.0   42 6.2   251 

Effective tax rate/Corporate income tax 12.6   259 34.4  1 402 

% Amount % Amount
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NOTE 23 - OTHER ASSETS 

 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the caption Other assets is analysed as follows:  

 
 
The movements in real estate property included in Other assets were as follows: 

 
 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the detail of the real estate property, by typology, is as follows: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Public sector administration   61   48 
Other debtors  3 186  1 038 
Accrued income  2 938  2 198 
Prepayments   512   593 
Real estate property   13   13 
Other transactions pending settlement   500  5 313 
Other assets   14   12 

 7 224  9 215 

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Opening balance   13 - 

Additions -   13 

Closing balance   13   13 

(thousands of Euros)

Number of real 
estate 

properties
Gross amount Impairment Net carrying 

value
Fair value of the 

asset (a)

Land
Rural   1   13 -   13   52 

  1   13 -   13   52 
(a) determined according to accounting policy referred in Note 2.10

31.12.2021

(thousands of Euros)

Number of real 
estate 

properties
Gross amount Impairment Net carrying 

value
Fair value of the 

asset (a)

Land
Rural   1   13 -   13   52 

  1   13 -   13   52 
(a) determined according to accounting policy referred in Note 2.10

31.12.2020
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Below is presented the detail of the ageing of the real estate property: 

 
 

 
 
 
NOTE 24 – FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption is analysed as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
Deposits from Central and other banks 
 
 
The caption Deposits from Central and other banks, by nature, is presented as follows: 

 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Up to 1 year 1 to 2.5 years 2.5 to 5 years More than 5 
years

Total net 
carrying value

Land
Rural -   13 - -   13 

-   13 - -   13 

31.12.2021

(thousands of Euros)

Up to 1 year 1 to 2.5 years 2.5 to 5 years More than 5 
years

Total net 
carrying value

Land
Rural   13 - - -   13 

  13 - - -   13 

31.12.2020

Measured at amortized 
cost

Measured at amortized 
cost

Deposits from Central and other banks   33 043   35 522 
Due to customers   728 260   693 889 
Other financial liabilities   1 908   1 201 

  763 211   730 612 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Deposits from banks
In Portugal

Deposits    202    314 
  202   462 

Abroad
Deposits   3 668   2 848 
Other funds   29 173   32 212 

 32 841  35 060 

 33 043  35 522 
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As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the analysis of deposits from banks by period to maturity is as follows:  

 
 
 
Due to customers 
 
 
The caption Due to customers, by nature, has the following breakdown: 

 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the analysis of the caption Due to customers by period to maturity is as follows:  

 

 

NOTE 25 – PROVISIONS 

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the caption Provisions has the following breakdown: 

 
As regards provisions for guarantees and commitments assumed, the movement of the provision is as follows:  

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Deposits from banks
Up to 3 months   33 043   35 522 

 33 043  35 522 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Deposits on sight
   Demand deposits   560 556   515 471 

Time deposits
   Time deposits   164 309   175 162 

Savings deposits
   Other    376    505 

Other funds
   Other   3 019   2 751 

 728 260  693 889 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Payable on sight   560 556   515 471 

With agreed maturity
Up to 3 months   123 605   145 490 
3 months to 1 year   44 077   31 836 
1 to 5 years    22   1 092 

  167 704   178 418 

  728 260   693 889 

(thousands of Euros)
Provisions for 

guarantees 
and 

commitments

Other 
provisions Total

Balance at 31 December 2019   87  3 844  3 931 

Allocations/(reversals) for period   69   432   501 
Foreign exchange differences and other (  1)   1 - 

Balance at 31 December 2020   155  4 277  4 432 

Allocations/(reversals) for period (  17) (  910) (  927)
Usage - (  53) (  53)

Balance at 31 December 2021   138  3 314  3 452 
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Other provisions include provisions for ongoing legal proceedings in the amount of Euros 3 272 thousand (31 December 
2020: Euros 4 170 thousand). The amount of these provisions results from a prudent evaluation carried out by the Bank 
with reference to the balance sheet date, considering the latest developments in the proceedings. 
 
 
 
NOTE 26 – OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the caption Other liabilities is analysed as follows:  

 
 
 
NOTE 27 – SHARE CAPITAL  
 
 
Ordinary shares  
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Bank’s share capital, amounting to Euros 63 000 thousand, is represented by 63 
million shares, with a nominal value of Euro 1 each, was fully subscribed and realized in cash.  
 
In 2002, the Bank increased its share capital from Euros 32 422 thousand to Euros 43 000 thousand through the issuance 
of 10 578 thousand ordinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 1 each, which were fully subscribed and realized in cash. 
In February 2003, the Bank undertook a new share capital increase through the issuance of 12 million ordinary shares with 
a nominal value of Euro 1 each. In 2005, share capital was again increased through the issuance of 6 million ordinary shares 
and, in 2006, once again, through the issuance of a further 2 million ordinary shares.  
 
The Bank’s shareholder structure is as follows: 

 

(thousands of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at 31 December 2019   62   25 -   87 

Increases due to change in credit risk   216   23 -   239 
Decreases due to change in credit risk (  160) (  10) - (  170)
Other movements   21 (  22) - (  1)

Balance at 31 December 2020    139    16 -    155 
Increases due to change in credit risk    199    3 -    202 
Decreases due to change in credit risk (   214) (   5) - (   219)

Balance at 31 December 2021    124    14 -    138 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Public sector administration    715    810 
Suppliers   3 494   3 727 
Other creditors    201    144 
Staff costs   1 339   1 468 
Other accrued expenses   1 015    488 
Deferred income    211    208 
Other transactions pending regularization   1 962   1 157 

 8 937  8 002 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Novo Banco, S.A. 100.00% 100.00%
Novo Banco dos Açores, S.A. 0.00% 0.00%
Novo Banco Servicios Corporativos, S.L. - 0.00%
GNB - Gestão de Ativos, SGPS, S.A. 0.00% 0.00%

100.00% 100.00%

% Share capital
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As referred to in Note 1, the Bank integrates the novobanco Group, for which reason its financial statements are fully 
consolidated by novobanco, with registered office at Avenida da Liberdade, no. 195, in Lisbon.  
 
 
 
NOTE 28 – OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, RETAINED EARNINGS AND OTHER RESERVES 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, accumulated other comprehensive income, retained earnings and other reserves 
were as follows: 

 
 
 
Legal reserve 
 
The legal reserve can only be used to absorb accumulated losses or to increase share capital. Portuguese legislation 
applicable to the banking sector (Article 97 of Decree-Law no. 298/92, of 31 December) requires that 10% of the net profit 
for the period be transferred to the legal reserve until it equals share capital, or the sum of the free reserves constituted plus 
the retained earnings, if higher. 
 
 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 
 
 
The movements in Accumulated other comprehensive income are as follows: 

 
 
 
Fair value reserves 
 
The fair value reserves represent the amounts of unrealized gains and losses arising on the portfolio of financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income, net of impairment. The amount of this reserve is presented net of deferred 
taxes.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

 31.12.2021  31.12.2020 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (  130)  2 604 
Other reserves and Retained earnings  16 426  14 637 

Legal reserve  6 537  6 358 
Other reserves  9 889  8 279 

 16 296  17 241 

(thousands of Euros)

Balance at 31 December 2019   29 -  2 561  2 590 

Changes in fair value, net of tax - -   16   16 
Impairment reserves of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (  3) - - (  3)
Reserves of disposals of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income -   1 -   1 

Balance at 31 December 2020   26   1  2 577  2 604 

Changes in fair value, net of tax - - ( 2 735) ( 2 735)
Change in credit risk of financial liabilities at fair value, net of tax - - - - 
Impairment reserves of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income   1 - -   1 

Balance at 31 December 2021   27   1 (  158) (  130)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

 Total  Impairment 
reserves 

 Disposal 
reserves 

 Fair value 
reserves 
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The movements in fair value reserves net of tax and in impairment reserves are as follows: 

 
 
 
The fair value reserves are analysed as follows: 

 
 
 
NOTE 29 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 
 
In addition to derivative financial instruments, as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the off-balance sheet elements included 
the following: 

 
 
 
Guarantees and standby letters are banking operations that do not imply an outflow from the Bank.  
 
As of 31 December 2021, the caption Assets pledged as collateral includes:  

• Securities pledged as collateral to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Comissão do Mercado de Valores 
Mobiliários”) in the scope of the Investors Indemnity System (“Sistema de Indemnização aos Investidores” (SII)) in the 
amount of Euros 1 189 thousand (31 December 2020: Euros 1 261 thousand); 

• Securities pledged as collateral to the Deposits’ Guarantee Fund (“Fundo de Garantia de Depósitos” (FGD)) in the 
amount of Euros 595 thousand (31 December 2020: Euros 630 thousand); 

• Securities pledged as collateral for a trading platform of the Bank’s customers in the amount of Euros 4 572 thousand 
(31 December 2020: this did not exist). 
 

(thousands of Euros)

 Financial assets 
at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income 

 Reserves for 
deferred 

taxes 

 Total fair 
value 

reserves 

 Financial assets 
at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income 

 Reserves for 
deferred 

taxes 

 Total fair 
value 

reserves 

Opening balance  3 482 (  905)  2 577  3 460 (  899)  2 561 

Changes in fair value ( 1 584) - ( 1 584)  2 300 -  2 300 
Disposals during period ( 2 111) - ( 2 111) ( 2 278) - ( 2 278)
Impairment recognized in period - - - - - - 
Deferred taxes recognized in reserves during period -   960   960 - (  6) (  6)

Closing balance (  213)   55 (  158)  3 482 (  905)  2 577 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Fair value reserves Fair value reserves

(thousands of Euros)

 31.12.2021  31.12.2020 

Amortized cost of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  43 404  47 395 

Market value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  43 191  50 877 

Unrealized gains/(losses) recognized in fair value reserves (  213)  3 482 

Deferred taxes   55 (  905)

Fair value reserve attributable to shareholders of the Bank (  158)  2 577 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Contingent liabilities 
   Guarantees and standby letters  118 673  135 052 
   Assets pledged as collateral  6 356  1 891 

 125 029  136 943 
Commitments
   Revocable commitments  53 948  61 809 
   Irrevocable commitments  1 286  1 056 

 55 234  62 865 
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These financial assets pledged as collateral are recorded in the various categories of assets on the Bank's balance sheet 
and can be executed in the event of non-compliance with the contractual obligations assumed by the Bank, under the terms 
and conditions set forth in the contracts entered into. 
 
The commitments, revocable and irrevocable, represent contractual agreements for credit concession entered with the 
Bank’s customers (ex. unused credit lines) which, in general, are contracted for fixed periods or with other expiry 
requirements and, normally, imply the payment of a commission. Practically all credit concession commitments in force 
require customers to abide by certain requirements that are already verified at the moment of the respective formalization.  
 
Notwithstanding the particular characteristics of these contingent liabilities and commitments, the analysis of these 
operations follows the same basic principles applied to any other commercial operation, namely that of the solvency of the 
underlying customer and business, with the Bank requiring such operations to be adequately covered by collateral, when 
necessary. Since it is expected that most of these contingent liabilities and commitments will expire without having been 
used, the amounts indicated do not necessarily represent future cash flow needs.  
 
Additionally, the liabilities accounted for off-balance sheet relating to banking services rendered are as follows: 

 
 
In Other responsibilities related to banking services are considered the amounts related to customers’ assets invested in 
Funds. 
 
 
Fundo de Resolução (Resolution Fund) 
 
Fundo de Resolução is a public legal entity with administrative and financial autonomy, created by Decree-law no. 31-
A/2012, of 10 February, which is governed by the General Regime governing Credit Institutions and Financial Companies 
("RGICSF") and by its regulation and which mission is to provide financial support for the resolution measures implemented 
by the Bank of Portugal, while national resolution authority, and to perform all other functions conferred by law in the 
implementation of such measures.  
 
The Bank, as with the generality of financial institutions operating in Portugal, is one of the institutions participating in the 
Resolution Fund, making contributions that result from the application of a rate defined annually by the Bank of Portugal 
based, essentially, on the amount of its liabilities. As at 31 December 2021, the periodic contribution made by the Bank 
amounted to Euros 115 thousand (31 December 2020: Euros 80 thousand). 
 
As part of its responsibility as supervisory and resolution authority, the Bank of Portugal decided to apply, on 3 August 2014, 
a resolution measure to BES, under Article 145-G(5) of the General Regime governing Credit Institutions and Financial 
Companies (RGICSF), which consisted of the transfer of most of its activity to novobanco, created specifically for this 
purpose, with the capitalization having been assured by the Fundo de Resolução.  
 
To realize the share capital of novobanco, Fundo de Resolução made available Euros 4 900 million, of which Euros 365 
million corresponded to own funds. A loan was also granted by a banking syndicate to Fundo de Resolução, amounting to 
Euros 635 million, with the share of each credit institution having been weighted depending on various factors, including its 
respective size. The remaining amount (Euros 3 900 million) came from a reimbursable loan granted by the Portuguese 
State.  
 
In December 2015, the national authorities decided to sell most of the assets and liabilities associated with the activity of 
Banif - Banco Internacional do Funchal, SA (Banif) to Banco Santander Totta, S.A. (Santander Totta), for Euros 150 million, 
also in the scope of the application of a resolution measure. This operation involved an estimated Euros 2 255 million of 
public funding, aimed at covering future contingencies, financed in Euros 489 million by Fundo de Resolução and in Euros 
1 766 million directly by the Portuguese State. In the context of this resolution measure, the assets of Banif identified as 
problematic were transferred to an asset management vehicle, created for the purpose – Oitante, S.A..  
 
The situation of severe financial imbalance in which BES found itself, in 2014, and BANIF, in 2015, and which justified the 
application of the resolution measures, created uncertainties related to the risk of litigation involving Fundo de Resolução, 
which is significant, as well as the risk of an insufficiency of funds to ensure compliance with its responsibilities, namely the 
short-term repayment of the loans contracted. 
 
It was in this context, in the second half of 2016, that the Portuguese Government reached an agreement with the European 
Commission to change the terms of the financing granted by the Portuguese State and by the Banks participating in Fundo 
de Resolução to preserve its financial stability, through the promotion of conditions that endow predictability and stability to 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

   Deposit and custodianship of securities  373 871  319 112 
   Other responsibilities related to banking services  12 804  13 065 

 386 675  332 177 
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the contributory efforts to Fundo de Resolução. To this end, an addendum to the financing agreements with Fundo de 
Resolução was formalized, which introduced a number of changes to the repayment schedule, remuneration rates and 
other terms and conditions associated with said loans such that these are adjusted to Fundo de Resolução’s ability to fully 
meet its obligations based on its regular revenues, that is, without the need to call on the Banks participating in Fundo de 
Resolução for special contributions or any other extraordinary contribution. 
 
According to the announcement of 21 March 2017 made by Fundo de Resolução, the revision of the terms of the financing 
granted by the Portuguese State and by the participant Banks was aimed at ensuring the sustainability and financial 
equilibrium of Fundo de Resolução, based on a stable, predictable and affordable charge for the banking sector. Based on 
this revision, Fundo de Resolução assumed that the full payment of its liabilities, as well as its respective remuneration, is 
assured, without the need for recourse to special contributions or any other type of extraordinary contributions by the 
banking sector. 
 
On 31 March 2017, the Bank of Portugal announced that it had selected Loan Star Funds for the acquisition of novobanco, 
which was completed on 18 October 2017, through the injection, by the new shareholder, of Euros 750 million, followed by 
a new capital injection of Euros 250 million, realized on 21 December 2017. Loan Star Funds came to hold 75% the share 
capital of novobanco and Fundo de Resolução the remaining 25%. In addition, the approved conditions include: 

- A contingent capitalization mechanism, under which Fundo de Resolução may be called upon to make payments 
in the event of the materialization of certain cumulative conditions, related to: i) the performance of a restricted set 
of assets of novobanco and ii) the evolution of the Bank’s capitalization levels. The possible payments to be 
realized under this contingent mechanism are subject to an absolute maximum limit of Euros 3 890 million; 
- An indemnity mechanism in favour of novobanco if, subject to certain conditions, same comes to be condemned 
in the payment of any liability, by a final court decision that does not recognize or is contrary to the resolution 
measure applied by the Bank of Portugal, or to the perimeter of assets and liabilities of novobanco.  

 
Notwithstanding the possibility provided for in the applicable legislation for the call up of special contributions, in view of the 
renegotiation of the conditions of the loans granted to Fundo de Resolução by the Portuguese State and by a banking 
syndicate, and of the public announcements made by Fundo de Resolução and the Office of the Finance Minister stating 
that this possibility will not be used, the present financial statements reflect the expectation of the Board of Directors that 
the Bank will not be required to make special contributions or any other type of extraordinary contributions to finance the 
resolution measures applied to  BES and Banif, as well as the contingent capitalization mechanism and the indemnity 
mechanism referred to in the previous paragraphs.  
 
According to the statement made by Fundo de Resolução on 1 March 2019, for the payment to be made to novobanco 
within the scope of the contingent capitalization mechanism, the available financial resources, resulting from the 
contributions paid directly or indirectly by the banking sector, will be used in the first place, with these resources being 
supplemented by the use of a loan agreed with the Portuguese State in October 2017, with the annual ceiling, then set, of 
Euros 850 million. 
 
Any changes regarding this subject matter and the application of these mechanisms may have relevant implications on the 
financial statements of the Bank. 
 
 
NOTE 30 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Bank’s transactions with related parties, as well as the respective expenses and 
income recognized during the financial years, are summarized as follows: 

 
 
Interest generating assets contracted with novobanco Group entities present interest rates between 0.06% and 6.15% and 
between 0.06% and 6.15%, respectively. 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 (in accordance with the scope defined in IAS 24) there were no loans and advances 
granted to the members of the Board of Directors of BEST. The Supervisory Board of BEST had no loan responsibilities.  
 

(thousands of Euros)

Assets Liabilities Guarantees Income Expense Assets Liabilities Guarantees Income Expense

Shareholder
novobanco  606 537   140  117 958  3 111  2 250  577 499   375  133 996  4 368  1 891 

Related companies
novobanco Açores   333 - - - -   297 - - - - 
GNB GA   206 - -   557 -   117 - -   364 - 
Edenred -  17 106   62 -   13 -  17 098   62 -   20 

 607 076  17 246  118 020  3 668  2 263  577 913  17 473  134 058  4 732  1 911 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
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NOTE 31 – FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
 
The governance model for valuing the Bank's financial instruments is defined in internal regulations, which establish the 
policies and procedures to be followed in identifying and valuing financial instruments, the control procedures, and the 
definition of the responsibilities of those involved in this process. 
 
In accordance with the methodology for valuing assets and liabilities at fair value, these are classified in the corresponding 
fair value hierarchy defined in IFRS 13 - Fair Value. The following is a brief description of the type of assets and liabilities 
included in each level of the hierarchy and the corresponding form of valuation: 
 
 
Quoted market prices (level 1)  
 
This category includes financial instruments with quoted market prices available on official markets and with dealer price 
quotations provided by entities that usually provide transaction prices for these instruments traded on active markets. 
 
The priority as regards the prices used is given to those observed on the official markets; in cases where there is more than 
one official market, the option falls on the main market where these financial instruments are traded. 
 
The Bank considers as market prices those disclosed by independent entities, assuming that they act in their own economic 
interest and that these prices are representative of the active market, using, whenever possible, prices provided by more 
than one entity (for a certain asset and/or liability). In the re-valuation process of the financial instruments, the Bank analyses 
the different prices to select the one that appears most representative for the instrument under analysis. Additionally, when 
these exist, prices related to recent transactions of similar financial instruments are used as inputs, which are subsequently 
compared with those provided by the referred entities to better justify the Bank's option for a given price. 
 
This category includes, among others, the following financial instruments: 

(i) Derivatives traded on an organized market; 
(ii) Shares listed on a stock exchange; 
(iii) Open securities’ funds listed on a stock exchange; 
(iv) Closed securities’ funds which underlying assets are purely financial instruments quoted on a stock exchange; 
(v) Bonds with more than one provider and for which the instruments are listed on a stock exchange; 
(vi) Financial instruments with market offers even if not available from normal sources of information (e.g. securities to 

be traded based on the recovery rate). 
 
 
Valuation models based on observable market parameters/prices (level 2)  
 
In this category are considered the financial instruments valued using internal valuation models, namely discounted cash 
flow models and option pricing models, which imply the use of estimates and require judgements that vary in accordance 
with the complexity of the financial instruments. Notwithstanding, the Bank uses as inputs in its models observable market 
data such as interest rate curves, credit spreads, volatility and market indexes. These also include instruments with dealer 
price quotations, but which are not traded on active markets. Additionally, the Bank also uses as observable market 
variables, those that result from transactions with similar instruments and that are observed with a certain regularity on the 
market. 
 
This category includes, among others, the following financial instruments: 
 
(i) Unlisted bonds; and 
(ii) OTC derivatives. 
 
 
Valuation models based on non-observable market information (level 3) 
  
In this level are included the valuations determined based on the use of internal valuation models or quotations provided by 
third parties but which imply the use of non-observable market information. The bases and assumptions of the calculation 
of fair value are in accordance with IFRS 13. 
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This category includes, among others, the following financial instruments: 
 
(i) Debt securities valued using inputs not observable on the market; 
(ii) Unlisted shares; 
(iii) Closed real estate funds; 
(iv) Hedge funds; 
(v) Private equities; 
(vi) Restructuring Funds; and 
(vii) OTC derivatives with quotations provided by third parties. 

 
The valuation models used by type of instrument are as follows: 
 
 
Money market operations and loans to customers: the fair value is determined using the discounted cash flow method, with 
the future cash flows discounted considering the currency yield curve plus the credit risk of the entity that will contractually 
settle said flow. 
 
 
Commercial paper: its fair value is determined by discounting the future cash flows against the currency yield curve 
increased by the credit risk of the issuer determined in the issuance program. 
 
 
Debt instruments (bonds) with liquidity: the methodology used is the independent valuation selection based on observations 
available in Bloomberg, called 'Best Price', where all available valuations are requested, but only previously validated 
sources are considered as input, with the model also considering the exclusion of prices due to ageing and for outliers. In 
the specific case of Portuguese public debt, and due to the Bank’s market making activity and the materiality of its positions, 
the CBBT sourced valuations are always considered (CBBT is a composite of valuations prepared by Bloomberg, which 
considers the average of executable prices with high liquidity). 
 
 
Debt instruments (bonds) with low liquidity: the models considered for valuing low-liquidity bonds with no observable market 
values are determined taking into account the information available on the issuer and the instrument, with the following 
models being considered: (i) discounted cash flows - cash flows are discounted considering the interest rate risk, credit risk 
of the issuer and any other risks that may underly the instrument; or (ii) valuations made available by external counterparties, 
in the impossibility of determining the fair value of the instrument, with the selection being made from reliable sources with 
reputable credibility in the market and independence in the valuation of the instruments under analysis. 
 
 
Convertible bonds: cash flows are discounted considering the interest rate risk, credit risk of the issuer and any other risks 
that may be associated with the instrument, increased by the net present value ('NPV') of the convertibility options embedded 
in the instrument. 
 
 
Listed shares and funds: in the case of capital products listed on the market, the quotation presented by the respective 
stock exchange is considered. 
 
 
Unlisted shares: The valuation is made using external valuations carried out on the companies in which it holds interests. If 
an external valuation is not justified due to the immateriality of the position in the balance sheet, the position is revalued 
considering the book value of the entity. 
 
 
Unlisted funds: the valuation provided by the management company is considered, which considers assumptions not 
observable on the market. In the event that there are capital calls after the reference date of the last valuation made 
available, the valuation is recalculated considering the capital calls made after the reference date at the amounts these 
were made, until a new valuation that incorporates the capital calls realized is made available by the management company. 
It should be noted that although the valuations provided by the management companies are accepted, whenever applicable 
under the funds’ regulations, the Bank requests the legal certification of accounts issued by the independent auditors, to 
obtain the additional comfort necessary to the information provided by the management company. 
 
 
Derivative instruments: if these are traded on organized markets, the valuations are observable on the market, otherwise 
they are valued using standard models using variables observable on the market, notably: 

• Foreign exchange options: these are valued through the front-office system, which considers models such as Garman-
Kohlhagen, Binomial, Black&Scholes, Levy or Vanna-Volga; 
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• Interest rate swaps and foreign exchange swaps: the valuation of these instruments is made through the front-office 
system, where the cash flows of the fixed leg of the instrument are discounted from the yield curve of the respective 
currency, and the cash flows of the variable leg are projected considering the forward curve and discounted considering, 
also, the discount factors and forward rates from the yield curve of the respective currency. 

• Credit Default Swaps: Both legs of the CDS are composed of cash flows contingent on the credit risk of the underlying 
asset, for which reason they are valued through market credit spreads. 

• Futures and Options: The Bank trades these products on an organized market; however, there is the possibility of 
trading on the OTC market. In the organized futures and options market, valuations are observable on the market, with 
the valuation being received daily through the broker selected for these products. In the OTC futures and options market 
and based on the product type and the underlying asset type, models can be considered in discrete time (binomial) or 
in continuous time (Black & Scholes). 

 
 
The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities of the Bank measured at fair value is as follows: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

31 December 2021

Financial assets held for trading -   17 -   17 
   Derivatives held for trading -   17 -   17 

Exchange rate -   17 -   17 
Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss  1 412 - -  1 412 

Shares  1 412 - -  1 412 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  42 771 -   420  43 191 

Bonds of Government/public issuers  42 771 - -  42 771 
Shares - -   420   420 

Assets at fair value  44 183   17   420  44 620 

Financial liabilities held for trading -   278 -   278 
Derivatives held for trading -   278 -   278 

Exchange rate -   278 -   278 

Liabilities at fair value -   278 -   278 

Measured at fair value

Total fair valueQuoted Market 
Prices

Valuation models 
with parameters 

based on 
observable market 

information

Valuation models 
with parameters 
based on non-

observable market 
information

(thousands of Euros)

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

31 December 2020

Financial assets held for trading -   20 -   20 
   Derivatives held for trading -   20 -   20 

Exchange rate -   20 -   20 

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss  1 310 - -  1 310 
Shares  1 310 - -  1 310 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  50 462 -   415  50 877 
Bonds of Government/public issuers  50 462 - -  50 462 
Shares - -   415   415 

Assets at fair value  51 772   20   415  52 207 

Financial liabilities held for trading -   131 -   131 
Derivatives held for trading -   131 -   131 

Exchange rate -   131 -   131 

Liabilities at fair value -   131 -   131 

Measured at fair value

Quoted Market 
Prices

Valuation models 
with parameters 

based on 
observable market 

information

Valuation models 
with parameters 
based on non-

observable market 
information

Total fair value
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The movement in financial assets valued based on non-observable market information (level 3 of the fair value hierarchy), 
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, may be analysed as follows: 

 

 
 
 
The main parameters used in the valuation models, as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:  
 
 
Interest rate curves 
 
The short-term rates presented reflect benchmark interest rates for the money market, while for the long term the values 
presented represent the swap interest rates for the respective periods:  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Balance on 31 December 2020   415   415 
Changes in value   5   5 

Balance on 31 December 2021   420   420 

31.12.2021
Financial assets at 
fair value through 

other comprehensive 
income

Total assets

(thousands of Euros)

Balance on 31 December 2019   398   398 
Changes in value   17   17 

Balance on 31 December 2020   415   415 

31.12.2020
Financial assets at 
fair value through 

other comprehensive 
income

Total assets

(%)

EUR USD GBP EUR USD GBP

Overnight -0.5740 0.0644 0.2100 -0.5780 0.0776 0.1000
1 month -0.5830 0.1013 0.2400 -0.5540 0.1439 0.0900
3 months -0.5720 0.2091 0.3900 -0.5450 0.2384 0.0900
6 months -0.5460 0.3388 0.6100 -0.5260 0.2576 0.1450
9 months -0.5235 0.4603 0.6700 -0.5125 0.2995 0.1950

1 year -0.5010 0.5831 0.8246 -0.4990 0.3419 -0.0125
3 years -0.1450 1.1495 1.2972 -0.5080 0.2370 0.0913
5 years 0.0160 1.3460 1.2910 -0.4575 0.4275 0.1926
7 years 0.1300 1.4530 1.2373 -0.3845 0.6478 0.2799

10 years 0.3030 1.5610 1.2095 -0.2650 0.9170 0.3966
15 years 0.4920 1.6800 1.1817 -0.0720 1.1835 0.5200
20 years 0.5480 1.7708 1.1518 0.0090 1.3033 0.5730
25 years 0.5240 1.7316 1.1264 0.0090 1.3680 0.5805
30 years 0.4790 1.7160 1.1030 -0.0250 1.3998 0.5741

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
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Interest rate volatility 
 
The values presented below refer to the implied volatilities (at the money) used for the valuation of interest rate options: 

 
 
Foreign exchange rates and volatility 
 
The foreign exchange rates (European Central Bank) at the balance sheet date and the implied volatilities (at the money) 
for the main foreign currency pairs used in the valuation of derivatives are presented next: 

 
 

 
The Bank uses in its valuation models the spot rate observed on the market at the time of the valuation. 
 
 
Equity indexes 
 
The table below presents the evolution of the main equity indexes and the respective volatilities used in the valuation of 
equity derivatives: 

 

(%)

EUR USD GBP EUR USD GBP

1 year 23.16 73.74 76.14 15.39 118.44 -
3 years 55.79 59.15 63.57 21.33 91.12 -
5 years 65.81 56.88 71.17 28.38 84.06 -
7 years 68.34 54.59 79.98 34.60 65.41 -

10 years 68.98 50.93 88.08 41.18 62.77 -
15 years 66.28 - - 46.54 - -

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Foreign 
exchange 
rate pair 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1 month 3 months 6 months 9 months 1 year
EUR/USD 1.1326 1.2271 5.15 5.38 5.55 5.57 5.58
EUR/GBP 0.8403 0.8990 5.13 5.63 6.05 6.25 6.39
EUR/CHF 1.0331 1.0802 4.33 4.63 4.90 4.98 4.95
EUR/NOK 9.9888 10.4703 9.01 9.18 9.20 9.18 9.18
EUR/PLN 4.5969 4.5597 5.43 5.60 5.79 5.85 5.83
EUR/RUB 85.3004 91.4671 7.51 8.07 8.71 9.29 9.58
USD/BRL a) 5.5713 5.1940 15.91 16.24 16.59 17.19 17.79
USD/TRY b) 13.4500 7.4265 77.79 60.35 49.71 45.58 41.29

Volatility (%)

a) Calculated based on the EUR/USD and EUR/BRL rates
b) Calculated based on the EUR/USD and EUR/TRY rates

31.12.2021 31.12.2020 % change 1 month 3 months

DJ Euro Stoxx 50  4 298       3 553      20.99% 24.38 17.81 -
PSI 20  5 569       4 898      13.70% 13.34 14.68 -
IBEX 35  8 714       8 074      7.93% 23.88 18.20 -
FTSE 100  7 385       6 461      14.30% 16.62 12.21 11.96
DAX  15 885       13 719      15.79% 21.77 16.10 13.76
S&P 500  4 766       3 756      26.89% 18.23 13.84 12.53
BOVESPA  104 822       119 017      -11.93% 21.59 23.76 24.48

Implicit 
volatility

Historical volatilityQuotation
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The fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost in the balance sheet is analysed as follows, 
having been estimated based on the main methods and assumptions described below: 

 
 

 
 
 
Cash, deposits with Central and other banks, Loans and advances to banks and Deposits from Central banks 
These assets and liabilities are very short term for which reason their carrying value is a reasonable estimate of their fair 
value. 
 
 
Securities at amortized costs 
The fair value of securities recorded at amortized cost is estimated based on the methodologies followed for the valuation 
of securities recorded at fair value, as described in the beginning of this Note. 
 
 
Loans and advances to customers  
The fair value of loans and advances to customers is estimated based on the discounting of the expected future cash flows 
of capital and interest, assuming that the instalments are paid on the dates contractually defined. The expected future cash 
flows of loans with similar credit risk characteristics, such as, for example, housing loans, are estimated on a portfolio basis. 
The discount rates used by the Bank are the current interest rates used in loans with similar characteristics at the balance 
sheet date. 
 
 
Deposits from banks  
The fair value of the deposits from Central and other banks is estimated based on the present value of the estimated cash 
flows of capital and interest. 
 
 
Due to customers  
The fair value of these financial instruments is estimated based on the discounting of the expected future cash flows of 
capital and interest. The discount rates used are the current interest rates used for deposits with similar characteristics as 
at the balance sheet date. Considering that the interest rates applicable to these instruments are renewed for periods 
substantially lower than one year, the differences between the fair value and carrying value are not material. 

(thousands of Euros)

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

31 December 2021

Cash, deposits with Central and other banks  67 516 -  67 516 -  67 516 
Financial assets at amortized cost

Securities  4 991 - -  4 972  4 972 
Loans and advances to banks  584 013 -  584 013 -  584 013 
Loans and advances to customers  148 130 - -  145 790  145 790 

Financial assets  804 650 -  651 529  150 762  802 291 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Deposits from Central and other banks  33 043 -  33 043 -  33 043 
Due to customers  728 260 - -  728 260  728 260 
Other financial liabilities  1 908 - -  1 908  1 908 

Financial liabilities  763 211 -  33 043  730 168  763 211 

Assets/liabilities 
measured at 

amortized cost

Fair value

Quoted Market Prices

Valuation models with 
parameters/prices 

based on observable 
market information

Valuation models with 
parameters not 

observable in the 
market 

Total fair value

(thousands of Euros)

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

31 December 2020

Cash, deposits with Central and other banks  56 016 -  56 016 -  56 016 
Financial assets at amortized cost

Securities  18 406 - -  18 449  18 449 
Loans and advances to banks  563 436 -  563 436 -  563 436 
Loans and advances to customers  123 029 - -  122 787  122 787 

Financial assets  760 887 -  619 452  141 236  760 688 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Deposits from Central and other banks  35 522 -  35 522 -  35 522 
Due to customers  693 889 - -  693 889  693 889 
Other financial liabilities  1 201 - -  1 201  1 201 

Financial liabilities  730 612 -  35 522  695 090  730 612 

Fair value

Total fair value

Assets/liabilities 
measured at 

amortized cost
Quoted Market Prices

Valuation models with 
parameters/prices 

based on observable 
market information

Valuation models with 
parameters not 

observable in the 
market 



  

 
Report & Accounts 2021                                                                   Page                      93 

Debt securities issues, Subordinated debt and Liabilities associated with assets transferred 
The fair value of these instruments is based on market quotations when available; if these do not exist, it is estimated by 
discounting the cash flows of capital and interest expected in the future for these instruments. 
 
 
Other financial liabilities 
These liabilities are short term for which reason their carrying value is a reasonable estimate of their fair value. 
 
 
 
NOTE 32 – ACTIVITY RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 
The Bank is exposed to the following risks arising from the use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk; 
• Market risk; 
• Liquidity risk; 
• Operational risk. 

 
 

Credit risk 

Credit risk represents the potential financial loss arising from the failure of a borrower or counterpart to honour its contractual 
obligations established with the Bank in the scope of its lending activity. Credit risk is essentially present in traditional 
banking products – loans, guarantees issued and other contingent liabilities. For credit default swaps (CDS), the net 
exposure between buyer and seller protection positions over each entity subjacent to the operations, constitutes a credit 
risk for the Bank. CDSs are recorded at their fair value according to the accounting policy described in Note 2.3. 
 
The loan portfolio management is an ongoing process that requires interaction between the various teams responsible for 
risk management throughout the consecutive stages of the loan process. This approach is complemented with the 
continuous introduction of improvements in the methodologies and in the risk assessment and control tools, as well as in 
the procedures and in the decision-making processes.  
 
The risk profile of the Bank is analysed on a regular basis by the Risk Committee, especially as regards the evolution of 
credit exposure and credit losses. The observance of approved credit limits and the correct application of the mechanisms 
associated with the approval of credit lines during the day-to-day activity of the commercial structure are also subject to 
regular analyses.  
 
BEST’s maximum credit risk exposure is analysed as follows: 

 
 
For financial assets recognized in the balance sheet, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 
value, net of impairment. For the off-balance sheet elements, the maximum exposure of the guarantees is the maximum 
amount that the Bank would have to pay if the guarantees were executed and for the loan commitments and other credit-
related commitments of an irrevocable nature, is the total amount of the commitments assumed. 
 
Impairment is calculated on a collective or individual basis in accordance with the accounting policy defined in Note 2.4. In 
the cases where the value of the collateral, net of haircuts (differentiated by type of collateral) equals or exceeds the 
exposure, the impairment may be nil. Thus, the Bank does not have past due financial assets for which it has not carried 
out an assessment as to their recovery and consequent recognition of the respective impairment, when verified.  
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Gross amount Impairment Net amount Gross amount Impairment Net amount

Deposits with and loans and advances to banks  651 529 (  104)  651 425  619 662 (  210)  619 452
Derivatives held for trading   17 -   17   20 -   20
Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income  42 744 -  42 744  50 435 -  50 435
Securities at amortized cost  5 044 (  53)  4 991  18 446 (  40)  18 406
Loans and advances to customers  149 173 ( 1 043)  148 130  123 803 (  774)  123 029
Other assets  6 124 -  6 124  3 236 -  3 236
Guarantees and standby letters  118 673 (  138)  118 535  135 052 (  155)  134 897
Revocable and irrevocable commitments  55 353 (  119)  55 234  63 002 (  137)  62 865

1 028 657 ( 1 457) 1 027 200 1 013 656 ( 1 316) 1 012 340
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The following table presents the assets that are impaired, or past due but not impaired: 

 
 

 
 
Impaired exposures correspond to (i) exposures with objective evidence of loss ("Exposure in default", according to the 
internal definition of default - corresponding to Stage 3); and (ii) exposures classified as having specific impairment after 
being assessed individually for impairment. 
 
Exposures classified as non-impaired relate to (i) all exposures that present no signs of a significant deterioration of credit 
risk - exposures classified as Stage 1; (ii) exposures that, although presenting signs of a significant deterioration of credit 
risk, have neither objective evidence of impairment nor specific impairment after being assessed individually for impairment. 
 
The following table shows the assets that are impaired or past due without impairment, broken down by the respective 
maturity or ageing (if past due): 

 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Neither past 
due nor 
impaired

Past due but 
not impaired Impaired Total exposure Impairment Net exposure

Deposits with and loans and advances to banks  651 529  -  -  651 529 (  104)  651 425 
Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income  42 771  -  -  42 771 (  27)  42 744 

Debt instruments - Government/public issuers  42 771  -  -  42 771 (  27)  42 744 
Securities at amortized cost  5 044  -  -  5 044 (  53)  4 991 

Debt instruments - other issuers  5 044  -  -  5 044 (  53)  4 991 
Loans and advances to customers  148 874   10   289  149 173 ( 1 043)  148 130 

31.12.2021

(thousands of Euros)

Neither past 
due nor 
impaired

Past due but 
not impaired Impaired Total exposure Impairment Net exposure

Deposits with and loans and advances to banks  619 662  -  -  619 662 (  210)  619 452 
Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income  50 462  -  -  50 462 (  27)  50 435 

Debt instruments - Government/public issuers  50 462  -  -  50 462 (  27)  50 435 
Securities at amortized cost  18 446  -  -  18 446 (  40)  18 406 

Debt instruments - other issuers  18 446  -  -  18 446 (  40)  18 406 
Loans and advances to customers  123 563   12   228  123 803 (  774)  123 029 

31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

Past due but not 
impaired Impaired

Past due
Up to 3 months   7   1 
3 months to 1 year   1   36 
1 to 3 years   1   69 
3 to 5 years   1   65 
More than 5 years  -   77 

  10   248 
Not yet due

3 months to 1 year  -   11 
1 to 3 years  -   9 
More than 5 years  -   21 

 -   41 

  10   289 

31.12.2021

Loans and advances to customers



  

 
Report & Accounts 2021                                                                   Page                      95 

 
 
 
The following table shows the assets that are impaired or past due without impairment, broken down by the respective 
Stage of impairment: 

 
 

 
 
In relation to assets that are not past due or impaired, the distribution by rating level is presented below. For debt 
instruments, the rating attributed by the Rating Agencies is considered, for loans and advances to customers and for cash 
and cash equivalents and loans and advances to banks the internal rating and scoring models are used, based on which a 
risk rating is attributed that is reviewed periodically. For the purpose of presenting the information, the ratings were 
aggregated into five large risk groups, with the last group including unrated exposures. 
 

 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Past due but not 
impaired Impaired

Past due
Up to 3 months  -   1 
3 months to 1 year   7   38 
1 to 3 years   5   59 
3 to 5 years  -   27 
More than 5 years  -   84 

  12   209 
Not yet due

1 to 3 years  -   16 
More than 5 years  -   3 

 -   19 

  12   228 

Loans and advances to customers

31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances to customers   1   9   289   299 

  1   9   289   299 

31.12.2021

(thousands of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loans and advances to customers   1   11   228   240 
  1   11   228   240 

31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

Prime + High 
grade

Upper Medium 
grade

Lower Medium 
grade

Non-investment 
grade 

Speculative + 
Highly 

speculative

Other Total

Deposits with and loans and advances to banks  -  -  45 295   78  606 156  651 529 
Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income  4 584  -  38 187  -  -  42 771 

Debt instruments - Government/public issuers  4 584  -  38 187  -  -  42 771 
Securities at amortized cost  -  -  5 044  -  -  5 044 

Debt instruments - other issuers  -  -  5 044  -  -  5 044 
Loans and advances to customers   285  63 386  45 511  16 294  23 398  148 874 

31.12.2021
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As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the detail of gross loans and advances to customers and impairment recognized by 
segment was as follows: 

 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Prime + High 
grade

Upper Medium 
grade

Lower Medium 
grade

Non-investment 
grade 

Speculative + 
Highly 

speculative

Other Total

Deposits with and loans and advances to banks  -  -  -  -  619 662  619 662 
Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income  -  -  50 462  -  -  50 462 

Debt instruments - Government/public issuers  -  -  50 462  -  -  50 462 
Securities at amortized cost  -  -  -  -  18 446  18 446 

Debt instruments - other issuers  -  -  -  -  18 446  18 446 
Loans and advances to customers   166  77 541  10 807  13 367  21 683  123 563 

31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021

Performing Non-Performing Total loans and advances

Days of delay
<= 90 days > 90 days

Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment

Corporate  31 319   404 - -  31 319   404 - -   1   1   1   1  31 320   405 
Other loans to individuals  117 561   404   4 -  117 565   404   29   13   259   221   288   234  117 853   638 

Total   148 880    808    4 -   148 884    808    29    13    260    222    289    235   149 173   1 043 

ImpairmentExposure

Segment Active or with delay < 30 
days With delay > 30 days Total Total

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2020

Performing Non-Performing Total loans and advances

Days of delay
<= 90 days > 90 days

Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment

Corporate  27 278   146 - -  27 278   146 - -   1 -   1 -  27 279   146 
Other loans to individuals  96 282   423   15   2  96 297   425   17   9   210   194   227   203  96 524   628 

Total   123 560    569    15    2   123 575    571    17    9    211    194    228    203   123 803    774 

Segment Active or with delay < 30 
days With delay > 30 days Total Total Exposure Impairment
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As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of the loans and advances to customers’ portfolio and reference year 
was as follows:  

 
 

 
The amounts presented include, in addition to all the new operation of the year of reference, renovations, interventions and 
restructurings of operations originated in previous years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment 

constituted
Number of 
operations Amount Impairment 

constituted
Number of 
operations Amount Impairment 

constituted

2004 and prior    2 -    2   8 366    586    23   8 368    586    25 
2005 - - -    358    304    17    358    304    17 
2006 - - -    486    352    26    486    352    26 
2007 - - -    405   1 037    91    405   1 037    91 
2008 - - -    306    190    17    306    190    17 
2009    1 - -    274    744    7    275    744    7 
2010 - - -    800   1 286    19    800   1 286    19 
2011    1 - -   1 022   4 381    22   1 023   4 381    22 
2012    1   2 005    92    655   2 825    13    656   4 830    105 
2013    1    45 -    718   5 205    17    719   5 250    17 
2014    5    330    7    522   7 722    26    527   8 052    33 
2015    6   2 334    2    363   7 870    27    369   10 204    29 
2016    7   1 622    11    264   10 778    51    271   12 400    62 
2017    15   5 193    35    303   13 622    45    318   18 815    80 
2018    12   2 215    16    273   7 449    29    285   9 664    45 
2019    15   1 624    12    304   10 701    55    319   12 325    67 
2020    17   4 241    28    372   24 304    99    389   28 545    127 
2021    22   11 711    200    439   18 497    54    461   30 208    254 
Total    105   31 320    405   16 230   117 853    638   16 335   149 173   1 043 

31.12.2021

Year of production
Corporate Other loans to individuals Total

(thousands of Euros)

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment 

constituted
Number of 
operations Amount Impairment 

constituted
Number of 
operations Amount Impairment 

constituted

2004 and prior    2 (   5) -   8 697    590    27   8 699    585    27 
2005 - - -    387    292    18    387    292    18 
2006 - - -    499    314    21    499    314    21 
2007 - - -    418    716    94    418    716    94 
2008 - - -    326    200    18    326    200    18 
2009    1 - -    294    638    7    295    638    7 
2010 - - -    837   1 199    13    837   1 199    13 
2011    1 - -   1 118   3 896    20   1 119   3 896    20 
2012    1   2 009    21    733   2 520    32    734   4 529    53 
2013    4    318    1    816   5 197    20    820   5 515    21 
2014    6    467    3    568   6 338    30    574   6 805    33 
2015    7   2 475    32    411   7 858    35    418   10 333    67 
2016    10   1 895    7    304   9 731    36    314   11 626    43 
2017    20   5 911    40    339   13 244    47    359   19 155    87 
2018    14   2 298    8    309   8 009    23    323   10 307    31 
2019    19   1 771    8    340   11 695    83    359   13 466    91 
2020    25   10 140    26    457   24 087    104    482   34 227    130 
Total    110   27 279    146   16 853   96 524    628   16 963   123 803    774 

31.12.2020

Year of production
Corporate Other loans to individuals Total
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As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of gross loans and advances to customers and impairment assessed 
individually and collectively, by segment, was as follows:  

 
 
 

 
 
In the case of loans analysed by the Impairment Committee for which the impairment determined automatically by the 
Impairment model has not been changed, these are included and presented in the "Collective assessment". 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the detail of the gross loans and advances to customers’ exposure and impairment 
assessed individually and collectively, by geography, was as follows:   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment

Corporate - -   31 320    405   31 320    405 

Other loans to individuals - -   117 853    638   117 853    638 

Total - -   149 173   1 043   149 173   1 043 

(1) Loans and advances for which the final impairment was determined and approved by the Impairment Committee
(2) Loans and advances for which the final impairment was determined automatically by the collective impairment model 

31.12.2021

Individual Assessment (1) Collective Assessment (2) Total

(thousands of Euros)

Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment

Corporate - -   27 279    146   27 279    146 

Other loans to individuals - -   96 524    628   96 524    628 

Total - -   123 803    774   123 803    774 

(1) Loans and advances for which the final impairment was determined and approved by the Impairment Committee
(2) Loans and advances for which the final impairment was determined automatically by the collective impairment model 

Individual Assessment (1) Collective Assessment (2) Total

31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021

Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment

PORTUGAL - -  139 292   992  139 292   992 
LUXEMBOURG - -   8 -   8 - 
UNITED KINGDOM - -   197   1   197   1 
SPAIN - -   893   2   893   2 
IRELAND - -   627   2   627   2 
OTHER - -  8 156   46  8 156   46 

Total - -   149 173   1 043   149 173   1 043 

Country Individual Assessment Collective Assessment Total

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2020

Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment Exposure Impairment

PORTUGAL - -  117 759   730  117 759   730 
LUXEMBOURG - -   3 -   3 - 
UNITED KINGDOM - -   99 -   99 - 
SPAIN - -  1 044   18  1 044   18 
IRELAND - -   438   1   438   1 
OTHER - -  4 459   25  4 459   25 

Total - -   123 802    774   123 802    774 

Country Individual Assessment Collective Assessment Total
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The analysis by sector of activity, as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, may be presented as follows: 

 
 

 
 
The Bank identifies and marks credit agreements restructured due to financial difficulties of the customer whenever there 
are changes to the terms and conditions of a contract in which the customer defaulted, or it is foreseeable that it will default, 
on a financial obligation. A change to the terms and conditions of the contract is deemed to exist when (i) there are 
contractual changes to the customer's benefit, such as extension of the term, introduction of grace periods, rate reduction 
or partial debt pardon; (ii) there is a new loan operation for the settlement of existing debt (total or partial); or (iii) the new 
terms of the contract are more favourable than those applied to other customers with the same risk profile. 
 
The demarcation of a loan restructured due to financial difficulties of the customer can only occur after a minimum period 
of two years from the date of the restructuring, provided that the following conditions are cumulatively met: (i) regular 
payment of principal and interest; (ii) the customer has no past due principal or interest; and (iii) there were no debt 
restructuring mechanisms on behalf of the customer in that period. 
 
The amounts of loans restructured due to financial difficulties of the customer as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as 
follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021

Gross amount Impairment Gross amount Impairment Gross amount Impairment Gross amount Impairment 

Agriculture, Forestry and Fishery   115 (  6) - - - - - - - - 
Food, Beverages and Tobacco - - - - - -   1 010 (   1) - - 
Textiles and Clothing  5 768 (  126) - - - - - - - - 
Paper and Printing Industry   16 - - - - - - - - - 
Chemicals and Rubber   335 (  1) - - - - - - - - 
Production of Transport Material    75 - - - - - - - - - 
Construction and Public Works   86 (  1) - - - - - - - - 
Wholesale and Retail Trade  2 926 (  16) - - - -   1 000 (   37)    530 (   62)
Tourism  2 851 (  13) - - - - - -    74 (   46)
Transport and Communication   29 - - - -   1 015 (   13) - - 
Financial Activities   577 -    17   1 412    420 -   1 020 (   1)   118 020 (   18)
Real Estate Activities  12 119 (  118) - - - - - - - - 
Services Provided to Companies  4 113 (  112) - - - - - - - - 
Public Administration and Services  1 573 (  9) - -   42 771 (   27) - - - - 
Other community service activities   737 (  3) - - - -    999 (   1) - - 
Loans to individuals  117 853 (  638) - - - - - - - - 
Other - - - - - - - -    48 (   12)

TOTAL   149 173 (  1 043)    17   1 412   43 191 (   27)   5 044 (   53)   118 673 (   138)

Securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income Securities at amortized cost Guarantees issuedLoans and advances to customers Derivatives held 

for trading

Securities at 
fair value 

through profit or 
loss

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2020

Gross amount Impairment Gross amount Impairment Gross amount Impairment Gross amount Impairment 

Agriculture, Forestry and Fishery   398 (  1) - - - - - - - - 
Textiles and Clothing  3 147 (  5) - - - - - - - - 
Paper and Printing Industry   1 - - - - - - - - - 
Chemicals and Rubber   195 (  1) - - - - - - - - 
Production of Transport Material    44 - - - - - - - - - 
Construction and Public Works  9 749 (  24) - - - -   16 697 (   32) - - 
Wholesale and Retail Trade  2 637 (  16) - - - -   1 749 (   8)    774 (   41)
Tourism  2 028 (  7) - - - - - - - - 
Transport and Communication   23 - - - - - - - - 
Financial Activities   519 -    20   1 310    415 - - -   134 058 (   18)
Real Estate Activities  4 905 (  58) - - - - - - - - 
Services Provided to Companies  2 180 (  27) - - - - - - - - 
Public Administration and Services  1 148 (  6) - -   50 462 (   26) - - - - 
Other community service activities   305 (  1) - - - - - - - - 
Loans to individuals  96 524 (  628) - - - - - - - - 
Other - - - - - - - -    220 (   96)

TOTAL   123 803 (   774)    20   1 310   50 877 (   26)   18 446 (   40)   135 052 (   155)

Loans and advances to customers Guarantees issuedDerivatives held 
for trading

Securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income Securities at amortized cost

Securities at 
fair value 

through profit or 
loss

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Corporate  1 751  1 751 
Other loans to individuals   79   101 

Total   1 830   1 852 
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Below are the details of the restructuring measures applied to restructured loans and advances until 31 December 2021 
and 2020: 

 
 

 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk represents the possible loss resulting from an adverse change in the value of financial instruments due to 
fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, share prices, commodity prices, and volatility and credit spread.  
 
Market risk management is integrated within the balance sheet management through the Capital, Asset and Liability 
Committee (CALCO), constituted at top management level. This committee is responsible for defining policies for the 
structuring and composition of the balance sheet, and for controlling exposure to interest rate, foreign exchange rate and 
liquidity risk.  
 
The main measure of market risk is the assessment of potential losses under adverse market conditions, for which the 
Value at Risk (VaR) valuation methodology is used. The Bank's VaR model uses the Monte Carlo simulation, based on a 
confidence level of 99% and an investment period of 10 days. Volatilities and correlations are historical, based on an 
observation period of one year. As a complement to VaR, stress testing has been developed, permitting an assessment of 
the impact of potential losses higher than those considered by VaR.  

 
 
As of 31 December 2021, BEST has a VaR of approximately Euros 14 thousand (31 December 2020: Euros 21 thousand) 
for its trading positions. 
 
Following the recommendations of the European Banking Authority explicit in document EBA/GL/2018/02, BEST calculates 
its exposure to interest rate risk based on the shocks prescribed, classifying the notional amounts of all balance and off-
balance captions sensitive to interest rates, which are not part of the trading portfolio, by re-pricing intervals. 

(thousands of Euros)

No. 
transactions Exposure Impairment No. 

transactions Exposure Impairment No. 
transactions Exposure Impairment

Capitalization of interest    1    42    13 - - -    1    42    13 

New loan in total or partial payment of existing loan    3    7    1    2    4    3    5    11    4 

Extension of repayment period    1    3 -    3    6    6    4    9    6 

Change of the lease payment plan - - - - - - - - - 

Other    5   1 767    9    2    1    1    7   1 768    10 

Total    10   1 819    23    7    11    10    17   1 830    33 

Measure

31.12.2021
Performing Non Performing Total

(thousands of Euros)

No. 
transactions Exposure Impairment No. 

transactions Exposure Impairment No. 
transactions Exposure Impairment

Capitalization of interest    1    43    7 - - -    1    43    7 

New loan in total or partial payment of existing loan    3    17    2    3    6    4    6    23    6 

Extension of repayment period    1    4 -    3    7    7    4    11    7 

Change of the lease payment plan    1    2 - - - -    1    2 - 

Other    5   1 772    8    2    1    1    7   1 773    9 

Total    11   1 838    17    8    14    12    19   1 852    29 

Measure

31.12.2020
Performing Non Performing Total

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

December Period average Maximum Minimum December Period average Maximum Minimum

Exchange rate risk 13.63 17.01 41.56 6.88 21.16 14.36 32.81 5.96
Interest rate risk 0.01 0.01 0.03 0.00 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01
Shares and Commodities - - - - - - - -
Volatility - - - - - - - -
Diversification effect -0.00 -0.01 -0.03 -0.00 -0.02 -0.01 -0.03 -0.00

Total 13.63 17.01 41.56 6.88 21.16 14.35 32.80 5.96
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Sensitivity analyses are carried out for the interest rate risk of the bank portfolio based on the present value difference 
between the interest rate mismatch discounted at current rates and the discounted value of the same cash flows, through 
scenarios of the displacement of parallel (displacements of +/- 200 bp) and non-parallel (short rate shock up/down, 
steepener/flattener shocks) yield curves, according to the outliers tests defined by the EBA (assuming linear regulatory 
floors between -1% and 0%, compared with the single regulatory floor of 0% in 2018). 

 
 

(thousands of Euros)

Eligible 
amounts Not sensitive Up to 3 months 3 to 6 months 6 months to 1 

year 1 to 5 years More than 5 
years

Loans to and deposits with banks  651 169 -  295 210  81 233  274 726 - - 
Loans and advances to customers  146 666 -  65 736  56 678  20 189  3 908   155
Securities  45 670 - - -   355  4 415  40 900

Total  360 946  137 911  295 270  8 323  41 055

Deposits from banks  32 821 -  32 821 - - - - 
Due to customers  727 648 -  555 123  30 171  35 784  69 360  37 211
Other liabilities  1 679 -   282   276   609   512 - 

Total  588 227  30 447  36 394  69 871  37 211

Balance sheet GAP (Assets - Liabilities)  81 356 ( 227 281)  107 465  258 876 ( 61 549)  3 844

Structural GAP  81 356 ( 227 281)  107 465  258 876 ( 61 549)  3 844
Accumulated GAP ( 227 281) ( 119 816)  139 060  77 512  81 356

31.12.2021

(thousands of Euros)

Eligible 
amounts Not sensitive Up to 3 months 3 to 6 months 6 months to 1 

year 1 to 5 years More than 5 
years

Loans to and deposits with banks  618 743 -  416 584  45 000  156 187   972 - 
Loans and advances to customers  122 948 -  54 593  47 645  16 387  4 169   154
Securities  60 805 -  18 450 - -   355  42 000

Total  489 627  92 645  172 574  5 496  42 154

Deposits from banks  35 512 -  35 512 - - - - 
Due to customers  693 262 -  513 314  35 500  36 698  107 751 - 
Other liabilities  1 206 -   203   186   360   458 - 

Total  549 028  35 685  37 058  108 209 - 

Balance sheet GAP (Assets - Liabilities)  72 516 ( 59 401)  56 960  135 516 ( 102 713)  42 154

Structural GAP  72 516 ( 59 401)  56 960  135 516 ( 102 713)  42 154
Accumulated GAP ( 59 401) ( 2 441)  133 075  30 362  72 516

31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2021

Parallel 
increase of 

200 bp

Parallel 
decrease of 

200 bp

Short Rate 
Shock Up

Short Rate 
Shock Down

Steepener 
shock

Flattener 
shock

At 31 December ( 2 611)   267 ( 2 432) (  163) (  494) ( 1 640)
Average for period ( 6 570)  1 086 ( 2 502)   449 ( 1 894) (  500)
Maximum for period ( 2 611)  1 489 ( 1 409)   787 (  494)   463 
Minimum for period ( 8 958)   267 ( 3 463) (  163) ( 2 713) ( 1 640)
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The following table presents the average balances for the period, interest for the period, and average interest rates for the 
Bank’s major financial assets and liabilities’ categories, as at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

 
 
Regarding foreign exchange risk, the breakdown of assets and liabilities by currency, as at 31 December of 2021 and 2020, 
is analysed as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)
31.12.2020

Parallel 
increase of 

200 bp

Parallel 
decrease of 

200 bp

Short Rate 
Shock Up

Short Rate 
Shock Down

Steepener 
shock

Flattener 
shock

At 31 December ( 5 822)   333 (  641)   305 ( 2 498)   450 
Average for period ( 6 474)   603 (  903)   361 ( 3 018)   428 
Maximum for period ( 5 090)  1 075 (  355)   422 ( 2 498)   611 
Minimum for period ( 7 523)   333 ( 1 550)   305 ( 3 559)   72 

(thousands of Euros)

Average 
balance for 

period

Interest for 
period

Average 
interest rate

Average 
balance for 

period

Interest for 
period

Average 
interest rate

Monetary assets   621 836   1 318 0.21%   559 846   2 153 0.38%
Loans and advances to customers   136 116   2 218 1.61%   120 017   2 053 1.69%
Securities   53 543    333 0.61%   65 748    760 1.14%
Differential applications - - - - - 0.00%

Financial assets   811 495   3 869 0.47%   745 611   4 966 0.66%

Monetary liabilities   35 507    1 0.00%   27 229    1 0.00%
Due to customers   693 987    290 0.04%   637 149    660 0.10%
Differential liabilities   82 001 - -   81 233 - -

Financial liabilities   811 495    291 0.04%   745 611    661 0.09%

Net interest income   3 578 0.43%   4 305 0.57%

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(thousands of Euros)

Spot Forward Net 
exposure Spot Forward Net 

exposure

USD UNITED STATES DOLLAR   141 -   141 ( 1 937)  1 105 (  832)

GBP GREAT BRITAIN POUND (  34) - (  34)   302 -   302 

DKK DANISH KRONE   14 -   14   78 -   78 

JPY JAPANESE YEN   12 -   12   15 -   15 

CHF SWISS FRANC   160 -   160   112 -   112 

SEK SWEDISH KRONE   30 -   30   89 -   89 

NOK NORWEGIAN KRONE   37 -   37   28 -   28 

CAD CANADIAN DOLLAR   244 -   244   326 -   326 

AUD AUSTRALIAN DOLLAR   55 -   55   83 -   83 

PLN POLISH ZLOTY                                               1 -   1   12 -   12 

TRY TURKISH LIRA                         - - -   16 -   16 

OTHER   9 -   9   48 -   48 

  669 -   669 (  828)  1 105   277 

Note: assets/(liabilities)

31.12.202031.12.2021
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Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk derives from the potential inability to fund assets while satisfying commitments on their due dates without 
incurring in excessive losses.  
 
Liquidity risk can be divided into two types:  

• Asset liquidity (market liquidity risk) – consists of the inability to sell a particular asset due to lack of liquidity on the market, 
which results in extending the bid/offer spread or in the application of a haircut to the market value. 
• Funding liquidity (funding liquidity risk) – consists of the inability to, within the desired timeframe and currency, fund assets 
on the market and/or refinance debt falling due. This inability can be reflected in a significant increase in the financing cost 
or in the demand for collateral to obtain funds. Difficulty in (re)financing can lead to asset sales, even if incurring in significant 
losses. The risk of (re)financing should be minimized through an adequate diversification of funding sources and maturities.  
 
Banks are subject to liquidity risk as an inherent part of their business involves transforming maturities (long-term lenders 
and short-term depositors), with a prudent management of liquidity risk being, therefore, critical. 
 
In order to assess the global exposure to liquidity risk, reports are prepared that allow not only for the identification of 
negative mismatches, but also for the dynamic coverage of same. According to the ITS (Implementing Technical Standards) 
reporting rules, the net contractual deficit and the counterbalancing capacity are calculated for the end of 2021: 

 

(thousands of Euros)

Total Up to 7 
days

7 days to 1 
month

 1 to 3 
months

 3 to 6 
months

6 months to 
1 year

More than 1 
year

OUTFLOWS

Behavioural outflows of deposits  729 638  3 260  1 526  4 071  6 106  12 212  702 463

Exchange rate swaps and Derivatives  85 846 - -  85 846 - - - 

Total Outflows  815 484  3 260  1 526  89 917  6 106  12 212  702 463

INFLOWS

Behavioural inflows of loans and advances  744 900  116 611  193 441  54 983  49 079  164 614  166 172

Exchange rate swaps and Derivatives  85 844 - -  85 844 - - - 

Securities in own portfolio maturing and Other inflows  76 679  16 666  1 741   452   234   152  57 434

Total Inflows  907 423  133 277  195 182  141 279  49 313  164 766  223 606

Net contractual deficit  91 938  130 016  193 655  51 362  43 207  152 555 ( 478 857)

Accumulated net contractual deficit -  130 016  323 671  375 033  418 240  570 795  91 938

REBALANCING CAPACITY Opening 
stock

Up to 7 
days

7 days to 1 
month

 1 to 3 
months

 3 to 6 
months

6 months to 
1 year

More than 1 
year

Negotiable and non-negotiable assets eligible for central banks  49 308 - - - - - ( 47 999)

Net change in rebalancing capacity - - - - - - ( 47 999)

Accumulated rebalancing capacity  49 308  49 308  49 308  49 308  49 308  49 308  1 309

31.12.2021
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In addition, and given the importance of liquidity risk management, regulatory legislation includes a liquidity coverage ratio 
(Liquidity Coverage Ratio - LCR) and a stable financing ratio (Net Stable Funding Ratio - NSFR). The LCR aims to promote 
banks' resilience to short-term liquidity risk, ensuring that they hold high-quality liquid assets, sufficient to survive a severe 
stress scenario, for a period of 30 days, while the NSFR aims to ensure that Banks maintain stable financing for their assets 
and off-balance sheet operations, for a period of one year. 
 
In accordance with current regulatory legislation, BEST was required to comply with a minimum limit of 100%. The Bank 
continues to follow regulatory changes in order to comply with all obligations, namely the implementation of the NSFR and 
respective limit. 
 
 
Operational risk 
 
Operational risk represents the risk of losses, on results or equity, resulting from failures or weaknesses in internal 
procedures, information systems, and human behaviour or caused by external events, including legal risks. Operational risk 
is therefore understood to be the sum of the following risks: operational, information systems, compliance and reputational.  
 
To manage operational risk, a system was developed and implemented standardizing, systematizing and regulating the 
frequency of actions with the objective of identifying, monitoring, controlling and mitigating said risk. The system is supported 
at the organizational level by a unit within the Global Risk Department exclusively dedicated to this task as well as 
Operational Risk Management Representatives designated by each of the relevant departments, branches and subsidiaries, 
whose responsibility it is to comply with the procedures established and the day-to-day management of this Risk in their 
areas of competency. 
  
 
Capital Management and Solvency Ratios 
 
The main objectives of capital management are to ensure compliance with the Bank’s strategic objectives in matters 
pertaining to capital adequacy, respecting and complying with the own funds minimum requirements defined by the 
supervisory entities.  
 
The definition of the strategy in terms of capital adequacy is made by the Executive Commission and is integrated in the 
global definition of the Bank’s objectives. 
 
In prudential terms, the Bank is subject to the Bank of Portugal’s supervision according to Directive 2013/36/EU and 
Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013 that now regulate, in the European Union, the access to the credit institution and investment 

(thousands of Euros)

Total Up to 7 
days

7 days to 1 
month

 1 to 3 
months

 3 to 6 
months

6 months to 
1 year

More than 1 
year

OUTFLOWS

Behavioural outflows of deposits  729 638  3 260  1 526  4 071  6 106  12 212  702 463

Exchange rate swaps and Derivatives  85 846 - -  85 846 - - - 

Total Outflows  815 484  3 260  1 526  89 917  6 106  12 212  702 463

INFLOWS

Behavioural inflows of loans and advances  744 438  116 610  193 438  54 976  49 069  164 594  165 751

Exchange rate swaps and Derivatives  85 844 - -  85 844 - - - 

Securities in own portfolio maturing and Other inflows  76 679  16 666  1 741   452   234   152  57 434

Total Inflows  906 961  133 276  195 179  141 272  49 303  164 746  223 185

Net contractual deficit  91 478  130 016  193 653  51 355  43 197  152 535 ( 479 278)

Accumulated net contractual deficit -  130 016  323 669  375 024  418 221  570 756  91 478

REBALANCING CAPACITY Opening 
stock

Up to 7 
days

7 days to 1 
month

 1 to 3 
months

 3 to 6 
months

6 months to 
1 year

More than 1 
year

Negotiable and non-negotiable assets eligible for central banks  49 308 - - - - - ( 47 999)

Net change in rebalancing capacity - - - - - - ( 47 999)

Accumulated rebalancing capacity  49 308  49 308  49 308  49 308  49 308  49 308  1 309

31.12.2020
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company activity and determine the prudential requirements to be observed by those entities as from 1 January 2014, 
respectively. This legislation transposes into the European legal order the recommendations of the Basel Committee, 
generally designated Basel III.  
 
Currently, under the Basel lll legal framework, the equity elements of BEST, for the purpose of determining the solvency 
ratio, are divided into: Core Own Funds (Common Equity Tier I), Level 1 Own Funds (or Tier I), Level 2 Own Funds (or Tier 
II) and Total Own Funds, as follows: 
 

• Common Equity Tier I: This category includes, essentially, realized share capital, share premiums, eligible reserves 
and the net income for the period retained, when audited. The following balance sheet amounts are deductible 
from Common Equity Tier l: eligible intangible assets, negative actuarial deviations arising on liabilities for post-
employment benefits to employees, the surplus value of deferred tax assets and of shareholdings in financial 
entities and, when applicable, the net loss for the period. 

• Tier I: In addition to the amounts considered as Common Equity Tier I, this category includes, when applicable, 
preference shares and hybrid capital instruments. 

• Tier II: Incorporates, essentially, when applicable, subordinated eligible debt. 
 
BEST’s equity is essentially composed of Common Equity Tier I elements.  
 
The following table presents a summary of the own funds, risk-weighted assets, and capital ratios of BEST as at 31 
December 2021 and 2020: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(thousands of Euros)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Realized ordinary share capital, Share premiums and Treasury shares   63 000   63 000 
Reserves and Retained earnings   16 296   17 241 
Net income for the period attributable to shareholders of the Bank   3 269   1 790 

A - Own Funds   82 565   82 031 

Net income for the period attributable to shareholders of the Bank not eligible (1) (  3 269) (  1 790)
Additional valuation adjustments (   45) (   52)
Transition period IFRS 9    781    836 
Intangible assets (   415) (   460)
Deferred tax assets and investments in financial entities - - 
Other (   243) (   246)

B - Regulatory adjustments to own funds (  3 191) (  1 713)

C - Tier 1 core own funds - CET I (A+B)   79 374   80 318 

D - Additional Tier 1 own funds - Additional Tier 1 - - 

E - Tier 1 own funds - Tier I (C+D)   79 374   80 318 

F - Tier 2 own funds - Tier II - - 

G - Total own funds (E+F)   79 374   80 318 

Credit risk 153,834 149,706
Market risk 701 1,098
Operational risk 25,325 26,524

H - Risk weighted assets   179 860   177 329 

Solvency ratios
CET I (C/H) 44.1% 45.3%
Tier I (E/H) 44.1% 45.3%
Solvency (G/H) 44.1% 45.3%

Leveraging ratio (2) 8.9% 9.3%

(1) Component of the net income for the period retained and incorporated in the subsequent period
(2) The leveraging ratio results from dividing the Tier 1 by the exposure measure determined under the CRR
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NOTE 33- RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS  
 
 
Standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions that became effective during the financial year 
 
 
The following standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions endorsed by the European Union have mandatory 
application for the first time in the annual reporting period beginning on 1 January 2021:  
 

 
These standards and amendments did not have a material impact on the Bank’s financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Standard / Interpretation Description 

Amendments to IFRS 16 - 
Leases - COVID-19-related rent 
concessions beyond 30 June 
2021 

On 28 May 2020, the amendment to IFRS 16 entitled 'Covid-19-related rent concessions' was 
issued, introducing the following practical expedient: a lessee may choose not to assess 
whether a Covid-19-related rent concession is a lease change. 

Lessees who choose to apply this expedient, account for the change to rent payments resulting 
from a COVID-19-related rent concession in the same way as they account for a change that 
is not a lease modification in accordance with IFRS 16. 

Initially, the practical expedient applied to payments originally due by 30 June 2021; however, 
due to the prolongation of the impact of the pandemic, on 31 March 2021, same was extended 
to payments originally due by 30 June 2022. The amendment applies to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. 

Briefly, the practical expedient can be applied as long as the following criteria are met:  

§ the change in lease payments results in a revised lease charge that is substantially 
equal to, or less than, the charge immediately preceding the change; 

§ any reduction in lease payments only affects payments due on or before 30 June 
2022; and  

§ there are no significant changes to other terms and conditions of the lease.  

Amendments to IFRS 4 – 
Insurance contracts - 
Deferral of the application of 
IFRS 9 

This amendment refers to the temporary accounting consequences that result from the 
difference between the date of entry into force of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments and the future 
IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts. Specifically, the amendment made to IFRS 4 postpones until 
1 January 2023 the expiry date of the temporary exemption from the application of IFRS 9 to 
align the effective date of the latter with that of the new IFRS 17. 

The referred temporary exemption is optional and only available to entities which activities are 
predominantly related to insurance. 

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, 
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 – 
Benchmark interest rate reform 
– Phase2 

These amendments are part of the second phase of the IASB's “IBOR reform” project and 
allow for exemptions related to the benchmark reform for reference interest rates, by an 
alternative interest rate (Risk Free Rate (RFR)). The amendments include the following 
practical expedients: 

§ A practical expedient that requires contractual changes, or changes in cash flows that 
are directly required by the reform, are treated in the same way as a floating interest 
rate change, equivalent to a movement in the market interest rate; 

§ Allows changes required by the reform to be made to hedging designations and 
hedging documentation without discontinuing the hedging relationship; 

§ Provides temporary operational relief to entities that must comply with the separately 
identifiable requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk 
component. 
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Standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions that become effective in future financial years 
 
 
The following standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions, with mandatory application in future annual reporting 
periods were, until the date of the approval of these financial statements, endorsed by the European Union:  
 

 
Standard / 
Interpretation 

Applicable in the 
EU in financial 

years beginning 
on or after 

 
Description 

 

Amendments to IFRS 3 – 
References to the 
conceptual framework for 
Financial Reporting 

 

1-Jan-2022 

This amendment updates the references to the conceptual framework in the 
text of IFRS 3, with no changes having been made to the accounting 
requirements for business combinations. 

The accounting treatment to be adopted in relation to liabilities and contingent 
liabilities under IAS 37 and IFRIC 21, incurred separately versus those 
included in a business combination, is also clarified. 

The amendment is prospectively applied. 

Amendments to IAS 16 – 
Proceeds before intended 
use  

1-Jan-2022 Clarifies the accounting treatment given to the proceeds obtained with the sale 
of products that result from production in the test phase of tangible fixed 
assets, prohibiting their deduction from the acquisition cost of the assets. The 
entity recognizes the income obtained from the sale of such products and the 
costs of their production in profit or loss. 

Amendments to IAS 37 – 
Onerous contracts - costs 
of fulfilling the contract  

1-Jan-2022 This amendment specifies that in the assessment of whether a contract is 
onerous, only expenses directly related to the performance of the contract can 
be considered, such as incremental costs related to direct labour and 
materials and the allocation of other directly related expenses such as the 
allocation of the depreciation expense of the tangible fixed assets used to 
carry out the contract. 

General and administrative expenses do not relate directly to a contract and 
are excluded unless they are explicitly charged to the counterparty in 
accordance with the contract. 

This amendment shall apply to contracts which, at the beginning of the first 
annual reporting period to which the amendment is applied, still include 
unfulfilled contractual obligations, without the need to restate the comparative. 

Amendments to IFRS 1 – 
Subsidiary while first-time 
adopter of IFRS (included 
in the annual 
improvement cycle 
relating to 2018-2020) 

1-Jan-2022 

This improvement clarifies that, when the subsidiary chooses to measure its 
assets and liabilities at the amounts included in the parent company's 
consolidated financial statements (assuming that no adjustment has taken 
place in the consolidation process), the measurement of the accumulated 
translation differences of all foreign operations can be carried out at the 
amounts that would be recorded in the consolidated financial statements, 
based on the date of transition of the parent company to IFRS. 

Amendments to IFRS 9 – 
Derecognition of financial 
liabilities – Commissions 
included in the 10% 
variation test (included in 
the annual improvement 
cycle relating to 2018-
2020)  

1-Jan-2022 

This improvement clarifies which commissions an entity should include when 
assessing whether the terms of a financial liability are materially different from 
the terms of the original financial liability. This improvement clarifies that in the 
scope of derecognition tests carried out on renegotiated liabilities, only 
commissions paid or received between the debtor and creditor should be 
included, including commissions paid or received by the debtor or creditor on 
behalf of the other. 

Amendments to IAS 41 – 
Fair value taxation and 
measurement (included in 
the annual improvement 
cycle relating to 2018-
2020) 

  

1-Jan-2022 

This improvement eliminates the requirement to exclude tax cash flows when 
measuring the fair value of biological assets, ensuring consistency with the 
principles of IFRS 13 – Fair value. 



  

 
Report & Accounts 2021                                                                   Page                      108 

IFRS 17 – Insurance 
contracts 

 

1-Jan-2023 

IFRS 17 applies to all insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance 
and reinsurance), regardless of the type of entities issuing them, as well as to 
some guarantees and some financial instruments with discretionary 
participation characteristics. Broadly speaking, IFRS 17 provides an 
accounting model for insurance contracts that is more useful and more 
consistent for issuers. In contrast to the requirements of IFRS 4, which are 
based on previously adopted local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides an 
integral model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting 
aspects. 

 
The Bank did not early adopt any of these standards in the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 
2021. No significant impacts on the financial statements are estimated from their adoption. 
 
 
Standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions not yet endorsed by the European Union 
 
 
The following standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions, with mandatory application in future annual reporting 
periods were not, until the date of the approval of these financial statements, endorsed by the European Union:  
 

Standard / Interpretation   Description 

Amendments to IAS 1 – 
Presentation of the financial 
statements – Classification of 
current and non-current 
liabilities 

This amendment seeks to clarify the classification of liabilities as current or non-current 
depending on the rights an entity has to defer their payment at the end of each reporting period. 

The classification of liabilities is not affected by the entity's expectations (the assessment should 
determine whether a right exists but should not consider whether the entity will exercise such 
right), or by events occurring after the reporting date, such as a default of a “covenant”. 

However, if the right to defer settlement for at least twelve months is subject to the fulfilment of 
certain conditions after the balance sheet date, these criteria do not affect the right to defer 
settlement for the purpose of classifying a liability as current or non-current. 

This amendment also includes a new definition of “settlement” of a liability and is applied 
retrospectively. 

Amendments to IAS 8 – 
Definition of accounting 
estimates 

The amendment clarifies the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, changes in 
accounting policies and the correction of errors. Additionally, it clarifies how an entity uses 
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. 

Amendments to IAS 1 – 
Disclosure of accounting 
policies 

These amendments are intended to assist the entity in the disclosure of 'material' accounting 
policies, previously designated as 'significant' policies. However, due to the inexistence of this 
concept in the IFRS standards, it was decided to substitute same by the concept “materiality”, a 
concept already known by the users of the financial statements. 

When assessing the materiality of accounting policies, the entity must consider not only the size 
of transactions but also other events or conditions and their nature. 

Amendments to IAS 12 – 
Deferred tax related to assets 
and liabilities arising under a 
single transaction 

The amendments clarify that payments that settle a liability are tax deductible; however, it is a 
matter of professional judgment whether such deductions are attributable to the liability that is 
recognized in the financial statements or to the related asset. This is important in determining 
whether there are timing differences in the initial recognition of the asset or liability. 

In accordance with these amendments, the initial recognition exception is not applicable to 
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible timing differences. It is only applicable 
if the recognition of a lease asset and a lease liability give rise to taxable and deductible timing 
differences that are not equal. 

Amendments to IFRS 17 – 
Insurance contracts – Initial 
application of IFRS 17 and 
IFRS 9 – Comparative 
information 

This amendment to IFRS 17 refers to the presentation of comparative information on financial 
assets on the initial application of IFRS 17. 

The amendment adds a transition option that allows an entity to apply an 'overlay' in the 
classification of a financial asset in the comparative period(s) presented on the initial application 
of IFRS 17. The 'overlay' allows all financial assets, including those held in connection with non-
contract activities within the scope of IFRS 17 to be classified, instrument by instrument, in the 
comparative period(s) in line with how the entity expects these assets to be classified on initial 
application of IFRS 9. 
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These standards were not yet endorsed by the European Union and, as such, were not applied by the Bank in financial year 
ended 31 December 2021. No significant impacts on the financial statements are estimated from their adoption. 
 
 
 
NOTE 34 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
 

• On 24 February 2022, the Russian Federation began a military operation on Ukrainian territory, having unleashed 
a war which presently involves three countries (Russia, Ukraine and Belorussia). In response to this, various 
sanctions were approved with the objective of impacting the Russian economy, as well as that of Belorussia, by 
several countries among which the NATO, European Union and other countries. As of 31 December 2021, BEST 
had no assets exposed to those countries.  
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ANNEXES 

a. Adoption of the Financial Stability Forum (FSF) and the Committee 
of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS) Recommendations 
relating to Transparency of Information and the Valuation of Assets  

(Circular Letter no. 97/2008/DSB, of 3 December and Circular Letter no. 
58/2009/DSB, of 5 August) 
 
The Bank of Portugal, through Circular Letter no. 58/2009/DSB, of 5 August 2009, reiterated "the need for 
institutions to continue to assure adequate compliance with the Financial Stability Forum (FSF) 

recommendations and the recommendations of the Committee of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS), with 

regard to the transparency of information and valuation of assets, considering the proportionality principle" 

contained in Circular Letters nos. 46/2008/DSB, of 15 July 2008, and 97/2008/DSB, of 3 December 2008. 

 

The Bank of Portugal recommended the preparation of a chapter or specific annex on accountability in the 

financial statements, exclusively dedicated to the aspects mentioned in the respective recommendations of the 

CEBS and FSF. 
 

In this chapter, we seek to comply with the recommendation of the Bank of Portugal using references to the 

information presented, either in the Management Report, or in the Notes to the Financial Statements for the 

2021 financial year. 

 

I.  BUSINESS MODEL 

 

1.  Description of the business model 

In the Executive Summary, in the infographics and in the Management Report, a detailed description is made 

of the business model of the Bank. 

 

2.  Strategies and objectives 

The Bank’s strategies and objectives are also disclosed in the chapters “Operations in 2021” and “Outlook” of 

the Management Report. The Bank neither realized any debt securities issue nor any securitization operation 

up till 31 December 2021. 
 

3., 4. and 5.   Activities carried out and contribution to the business 

In chapter “Operations in 2021” of the Management Report, information is presented on the activities carried 

out and their contribution to the business.   
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II. RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

6. and 7. Description and nature of the risks incurred 

Note 32 to the Financial Statements contains diverse information that allows the market to perceive the risks 
incurred by the Bank and the management mechanisms implemented for the monitoring and control of same.  

 

III. IMPACT OF THE FINANCIAL TURBULENCE PERIOD ON THE RESULTS 

  

8., 9., 10. and 11.   Qualitative and quantitative description of the results 

During the quadrennial 2010-2014, following the increase in sovereign risk, a substantial widening of the risk 

premiums occurred with no material impact on the activity and results attributable to the respective financial 

years. Between 2015 and 2019, this situation had been stabilized, with Portugal having exited the assistance 
program. In 2020 and 2021, stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent containment measures, 

the impact on financial markets was contained by the application of strongly expansionary monetary and fiscal 

policies by governments and multilateral institutions around the world. 

 

12.   Breakdown of the write-downs between realized and unrealized 

Income and expenses related to assets and liabilities held for trading and assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss, at fair value through profit or loss mandatorily and at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, are broken down by financial instrument in Notes 8 through 10 to the financial 

statements. 

  

13.   Financial turbulence in the Bank’s share price quotation 

The Bank’s shares are not quoted on any regulated market, rendering this point not applicable. 

 

14.   Maximum loss risk 

Note 32 to the financial statements discloses information on the losses susceptible of occurring in market stress 
situations. 

 

15.   Debt securities issued and results 

Not applicable due to the Bank not having issued debt securities during financial year 2021. 
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IV. LEVELS AND TYPES OF EXPOSURES AFFECTED BY THE TURBULENCE PERIOD 

  

16.   Nominal and fair value of the exposures 

Notes 17 to 20 to the financial statements discloses relevant information on the amount of the Bank’s exposures. 
 

17.  Credit risk mitigating factors 

Not applicable. 

 

18.  Information on the Bank’s exposures 

The turbulence that resulted from the worsening of the sovereign risk of the peripheral countries of the Eurozone 

in 2010 and 2011 stabilized and improved significantly in 2012 and 2013, having reached a point of stability 

between 2014 and 2021. 
 

Banco Best’s exposure to public debt of the affected countries (Portugal, Spain, Greece and Ireland) was limited 

solely to Portugal, in an amount, as of 31 December 2021, of Euros 42.8 million, intended to guarantee the 

Bank’s liabilities in respect of the FGD and SII and the maintenance of the liquidity ratios above the regulatory 

level. These securities had an associated negative fair value reserve totalling Euros 85 thousand. 

 

19.   Movements in the exposures between financial years 

Notes 18, 19, 31 and 32 disclose relevant information on the Bank’s exposures, comparing the exposures to 

the markets as well as the results with reference to financial years 2021 and 2020. The information therein 

contained is considered sufficient, considering the detail and quantification presented and the fact that in 2021 

the events verified had a neutral impact in terms of BEST’s exposure. 

 

20.  Exposures that have not been consolidated 

Not applicable. 

21.  Exposure to mono-line insurance companies and quality of the assets insured 
 

The Bank has no exposure to mono-line insurance companies. 

 

V. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND MEASUREMENT METHODS  

 

22.  Structured products 

These situations are covered in Note 2 – Main Accounting Policies.  
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23.  Special Purpose Entities (SPE) and consolidation 

The Bank neither realized any debt securities issue nor any securitization operation up till 31 December 2021. 

 

24. and 25.  Fair value of financial instruments 

Note 2 to the financial statements refers to the conditions subjacent to the use of the fair value option, as well 

as the techniques used to value the financial instruments. 

 

VI. OTHER RELEVANT DISCLOSURE ASPECTS  

 

26.  Description of the disclosure policies and principles 

The Bank, in the context of its disclosure policy regarding information of an accounting and financial nature, 

aims to satisfy all the requirements of a regulatory nature, be they dictated by the accounting standards or by 
the supervisory and market regulating authorities. At the same time, it seeks to align its disclosures with best 

market practices considering, on the one hand, the cost of obtaining the relevant information and, on the other, 

the benefits that this provides to the various users. 

 

From among the information made available to the shareholders, customers, employees, supervisory entities 

and the public in general, we highlight the Management Report and the Financial Statements and respective 

Notes to the Financial Statements. The financial statements are prepared based on the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) which confer a high degree of transparency on the information disclosed as well 

as comparability both at the national and international level. 
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b. Remuneration policy for members of the Corporate Bodies of BEST  

1     Legal and Regulatory Framework 

This Remuneration Policy contains the principles and rules for the remuneration of the 
members of the Corporate Bodies of BEST – Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. (“BEST” 
or “Bank”) and is established in accordance with Article 115-C of the General Regime governing 
Credit Institutions and Financial Companies. This Policy has been prepared considering the 
regulations and the applicable legislation for this purpose, namely the following: 

• General Regime governing Credit Institutions and Financial Companies ("RGICSF"); 
• EBA/GL/2015/22 - Guidelines on a sound Remuneration Policy, in accordance with 

Articles 74(3) and 75(2) of Directive 2013/36/EU and on the disclosure of information 
in accordance with Article 450 of Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013; 

• Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council; 
• Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 604/2014 of the Commission; 
• Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council; 
• Regulation (EU) No. 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 27 

November 2019, on the disclosure of information related to the sustainability of the 
financial services sector; 

• Notice no. 3/2020 of the Bank of Portugal; 
• Portuguese Commercial Companies Code; 
• Directive 2014/65/EU (MiFID II) of the European Parliament and of the Council on 

markets of financial instruments and related regulations. 

The regulations and legislation on remuneration establish the adoption and enforcement of 
remuneration practices consistent with a prudent, sound and effective risk management that 
do not constitute an incentive to take excessive risks or create situations of conflict of interest 
with customers. 

The present Policy considers the guiding principles of meritocracy and transparency to 
achieve the recognition of high performance, considering the general strategy of the NOVO 
BANCO Group (“GNB”) which it integrates: 

a) long-term objectives, strategy and interests; 

b) nature; 

c) structure; 

d) culture and values; 

e) risk culture, including risk factors related to the environment, social issues and 
governance (ESG risk factors – environmental, social and governance);  

f) long-term interests of the shareholders. 

In addition, this Policy and its implementation shall respect and encourage the professional 
conduct of all members and reflect the principles set forth in the Remuneration Policy for 
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Employees regarding equal treatment of customers, best remuneration practices related to 
the sale of products and prevention of conflicts of interest with customers. 

This Policy is gender neutral, which means equal pay for equal work or for work of an 
equivalent value. 

The level of risk that the institution is willing to assume is in line with the internal capital 
adequacy assessment (ICAAP) process and the risk appetite framework. 

This Policy is also consistent with the integration of sustainability risks. Some demonstrations 
of this consistency are: 

(i) the setting of remuneration limits; 

(ii) the multiannual framing to ensure that the appraisal process is based on long-term 
performance and that the effective allocation of Variable Remuneration components 
(bonuses) is deferred over time, defined taking into account the Bank's business cycle and 
its business risks; 

(iii) the risk adjustment mechanism ("Malus" and "Claw Back ") to avoid high risk-taking. 

  

2     Scope 

The present Remuneration Policy is applicable to the following members of the corporate 
bodies of BEST: 

• Members of the Board of Directors; 
• Members of the Supervisory Board; 
• Statutory Auditor or "ROC"; 
• Members of the General Meeting Board. 

 

The Remuneration Policy for Employees is established in a separate document that is subject 
to approval by the Executive Commission and ratification by the Board of Directors. 
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3     Governance of the Remuneration Policy 

3.1   Summary of Responsibilities 

The governance of the Remuneration Policy implies the cooperation of the different functions 
of the Bank, among which the following stand out: 

 

 

 

General 
Meeting 

Board of 
Directors 

Remuneration 
Committee of 
Novo Banco 

DFCH & 
DCH NB 

RCID LA 

 
Prepare the Remuneration Policy   ü  ü  ü  ü  

Prepare and propose decisions on 
remuneration (for example, attribution 
criteria/rules, KPI, amounts)  

  ü     

 
Propose for approval the Policy and 
subsequent changes 

 ü  ü  ü    

Approve the Policy and subsequent changes ü       

Monitor the implementation of the Policy  ü  ü  ü  ü   

Provide information that establishes basic 
rules for Fixed and Variable Remuneration    ü  ü   

Evaluate the impact of the Variable 
Remuneration on the risk profile of the Bank   ü   ü   

Propose the Remuneration of the Board of 
Directors and Supervisory Board 

ü   ü     

Approve the Remuneration of the Executive 
Commission and Supervisory Board 

ü       

Revise and update the Policy   ü  ü  ü   

 

3.1.1 Board of Directors 
In accordance with the RGICSF and the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors is 
responsible for: 

• Proposing for approval by the Shareholders' Meeting of the Remuneration Policy and 
its revisions and amendments; 

• Monitoring whether the Remuneration Policy is being properly applied and is in line with 
the RGICSF, the remuneration policies of Novo Banco, corporate governance and risk 
profile of the Bank; 

 

3.1.2 Remuneration Committee of the General and Supervisory Board of Novo Banco 
The Remuneration Committee of the General and Supervisory Board of NOVO BANCO was 
constituted by deliberation of the General and Supervisory Board of 18 October 2017 and in 
accordance with Article 6(3)(c) of the Articles of Association of Novo Banco. Given that NOVO 
BANCO is regarded as a significant institution, the existence of that Committee is mandatory 
under Article 115H of the RGICSF. 
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The Remuneration Committee is composed of a minimum of three members, each of whom 
(including its chair) is elected by the General and Supervisory Board from among its members. 

The competencies of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the Regulation of the 
Remuneration Committee of Novo Banco, S.A.  

In the light of the current legal framework, Banco Best, as a non-significant institution on an 
individual basis, does not call for a mandatory remuneration committee. By integrating the 
Novo Banco Group, the principles and procedures provided for in the Remuneration Policy of 
NOVO BANCO shall also be applied in Banco Best, without prejudice to the legal powers of the 
respective bodies.  

Thus, the functions of the Remuneration Committee of Novo Banco as regards BEST include: 

• Evaluating and proposing remuneration decisions (e.g., attribution criteria/rules, KPI, 
amounts);  

• Defining annually, together with the Executive Board of Directors, the KPIs applicable to 
the members of the Executive Commission; 

• Coordinating the appropriate involvement of the relevant internal structures and 
directorates (e.g., human capital, legal, compliance and risk) in their respective areas of 
expertise and, where appropriate, obtaining external advice; 

• Verifying that the existing remuneration policies are updated and, if necessary, making 
proposals for changes; 

• Monitoring whether the Remuneration Policy is being properly applied and is in line with 
the RGICSF, the remuneration policies of Novo Banco, corporate governance and risk 
profile of the Bank; 

• Evaluating the impact of the Variable Remuneration on the Bank's risk profile; 
• Setting, based on the criteria laid down in this Policy, a budget for the Variable 

Remuneration for the members of the Executive Commission, and, if such is the case, 
defining a maximum amount to consider; 

• Setting the value of the Remuneration Units annually, taking into account the overall 
performance of the Novo Banco Group and other criteria that may be applied; 

• In articulation with the Executive Board of Directors of Novo Banco, evaluating the 
achievement of performance objectives and the need for ex-post risk adjustment, 
including the application of reduction (malus) and reversal (clawback) mechanisms, if 
applicable; 

• Reviewing, in articulation with the Executive Board of Directors of Novo Banco and the 
remaining department of BEST, and maintaining up to date the Remuneration Policy; 

• Ensuring and monitoring the implementation of the present Policy. 
 

3.1.3 Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate (RCID) (risk unit) 
The Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate, through its risk unit, shall provide the support 
requested by the respective bodies and departments of Novo Banco, particularly, the 
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Remuneration Committee and the Executive Board of Directors in the performance of its 
duties, namely: 

• Providing support and assistance in the preparation and revision of the present Policy; 
• Providing information, within the scope of its duties, for the attribution of the variable 

remuneration, performance criteria (collective) and verifying compliance with the 
criteria on which the attribution of the variable remuneration depends; 

• Verifying that the attribution and payment of any variable remuneration component are 
consistent with the Policy and with good practice of a sound and effective risk 
management; 

• Providing support in the determination of any risk adjustment mechanism (including 
ex-post adjustments) and providing appropriate information to that effect; 

• Participating in the evaluation of how the Variable Remuneration structure affects the 
risk profile and culture of the institution and articulating that evaluation with the Risk 
Department of Novo Banco. 
 

3.1.4 Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate (RCID) (compliance unit) 
The Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate, through its compliance unit, shall provide the 
support requested by the respective bodies and departments of Novo Banco, particularly, the 
Remuneration Committee and the Executive Board of Directors in the performance of its 
duties, namely: 

• Assisting in the preparation and revision of the Remuneration Policy; 
• Providing elements, in the scope of its functions, for the setting of performance criteria 

(collective) and verification of the compliance with the criteria on which the attribution 
of the variable remuneration depends; 

• Providing information, in the scope of its functions, for the attribution of the variable 
remuneration, performance criteria (individual and collective) and verifying compliance 
with the criteria on which the attribution of the variable remuneration depends; 

• Proposing and monitoring the implementation of compliance indicators used in the 
eligibility for variable remuneration; 

• Analysing and monitoring the implementation and compliance of the Remuneration 
Policy with the laws, regulations and internal policies of the institution, such as required 
regulatory reporting, and report any compliance risks and non-compliance problems 
with respect to remuneration issues communicated to same; 

• Proposing and monitoring the implementation of compliance indicators used in the 
eligibility for variable remuneration; 

• Participating in the evaluation of how the structure of Variable Remuneration affects 
the risk profile and culture of the institution; 

• Informing the Supervisory Board and the Remuneration Committee of Novo Banco of 
any conflict-of-interest situation that may be relevant to the duties and responsibilities 
or that may affect the performance of the members of the corporate bodies. 
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3.1.5 Finance and Human Capital Directorate (DFCH) and Human Capital Department of NOVO 
BANCO (DCH NB) 
The DFCH and the Human Capital Department of NOVO BANCO shall provide the support 
requested by the Remuneration Committee and the Executive Board of Directors in the 
performance of its functions, namely: 

• Assisting in the preparation, revision and implementation of the Remuneration Policy; 
• Participating in the preparation and evaluation of the institution's Remuneration Policy, 

namely the remuneration structure, remuneration levels and incentive schemes; 
• Providing information, in the scope of its attributions and responsibilities, for the 

attribution of the variable remuneration, performance criteria (individual and collective) 
and verifying compliance with the criteria on which the attribution of the variable 
remuneration depends; 

• Ensuring an adequate internal and external disclosure of the Remuneration Policy; 
• Participating in the meetings of the Remuneration Committee as called upon by the 

respective Chair for matters relating to Banco Best. 
 

3.1.6 Legal Counsel 
The Legal Counsel shall provide all the support requested, namely: 

• Providing support and assistance in the preparation and revision of the present Policy; 
• Participating in the meetings of the Remuneration Committee as called upon by the 

respective Chair for matters relating to Banco Best. 
 

3.2     Approval 

The Remuneration Policy for the corporate bodies shall be approved at the General Meeting 
upon proposal of the Board of Directors in articulation with the Remuneration Committee of 
Novo Banco. 

 

4.  Remuneration Components 

The Total Remuneration results from the combination of the components of Fixed and 
Variable Remuneration. This chapter describes the structure and the criteria considered for 
the attribution of the different components of remuneration. 

 

4.1 Members of the General Meeting Board and non-executive members of the Board of 
Directors 

The members of the General Meeting Board and the non-executive members of the Board of 
Directors are not, normally, remunerated; however, the Shareholders’ General Meeting may set 
a remuneration amount. Members who perform executive functions in management bodies 
of companies in a control and/or group relationship with BEST, or who perform specific 
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functions by appointment of the Board of Directors of BEST, may be remunerated by said 
companies or by BEST, according to the importance of the functions performed. 

 

4.2 Members of the Supervisory Board 

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board is exclusively composed of a fixed 
remuneration paid monthly (14 times). 

The remuneration of the Statutory Auditor shall correspond to a fixed fee pursuant to the audit 
engagement contract. 

  

4.3 Executive Members of the Board of Directors (Executive Commission) 

The remuneration of the members of the Executive Commission shall be consistent with their 
attributions, functions, knowledge and responsibilities. 

 

4.3.1 Fixed Remuneration 
The fixed remuneration shall consider the complexity, the level of responsibility and the variety 
of skills required for the functions performed, as well as the relevant skills and experience of 
the respective members. The fixed remuneration shall be paid monthly, 14 times a year. 

 

4.3.2 Variable Remuneration 
The Variable Remuneration attributable to the Executive Members of the Board of Directors is 
freely decided, discretionary and decided in accordance with various KPIs, based on the 
Collective and Individual Performance Assessment and the performance of the Bank, 
considering quantitative and qualitative criteria implemented through Objectives and 
Competencies4  defined, at any time, by the Risk Committee in articulation with the Executive 
Board of Directors of Novo banco.   

The Variable Remuneration depends on the verification of criteria defined in the present Policy 
and on certain conditions and objectives, that may come to be set by the Remuneration 
Committee, is not contractually guaranteed (as such,  the attribution, acquisition of the right 
to and payment of any variable remuneration or part thereof, can neither be expectable nor 
considered certain or an acquired fact) and may be subject to adjustments under the 
mechanisms provided for in section 4.2.2.3 Risk Adjustment Mechanisms. 

 

 

 

 
4 The weightings attributed to the Competencies and to the Corporate Objectives, of the Team and Individual, shall be defined in the Manual/Rule that 
describes the Performance Appraisal Process. 
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4.3.2.1 Criteria/rules for the attribution of Variable Remuneration 

The following rules shall apply to Variable Remuneration: 

a) Variable Remuneration may only be attributed if the following cumulative conditions 
are met: (i) if the Bank has positive operating results; (ii) the attribution is consistent 
with sound and effective risk management practices; (iii) the attribution of Variable 
Remuneration (and its payment, including the deferred parts) does not limit the ability 
of the Bank to strengthen and maintain a solid capital base; 

b) The Variable Remuneration is not contractually or under other form guaranteed, such 
that no member of the Executive Commission can consider its attribution, acquisition 
of right to or the payment of any amount as certain or acquired; 

c) The total Variable Remuneration (including the employee remuneration) shall be 
evaluated and pondered upon at the end of each year by the Remuneration Committee 
based on the operating results; 

d) The total Variable Remuneration attributed to any executive member of the Board of 
Directors shall be limited to 100% of the respective fixed remuneration; 

e) The total Variable Remuneration attributed to any executive member of the Executive 
Commission shall be deferred for a minimum period of 3 years, payable on a 
proportional basis; 

f) 50% of the Variable Remuneration shall consist of remuneration units, which terms and 
conditions regarding attribution, acquisition and payment are defined in the 
Remuneration Units Regulation. The remuneration units have a financial effect 
equivalent to the attribution of shares, as permitted by law. These remuneration units 
shall have a maturity of 3 years. The remuneration units shall be settled in cash on their 
foreseeable payment date and shall be attributed in function of the criteria defined in 
the Remuneration Units Regulation. 
 

4.3.2.2 Performance Appraisal and Key Performance Indicators 

The performance appraisal of the executive members of the Board of Directors shall be made 
during the period defined annually for the Performance Appraisal Process and considering the 
performance and objectives defined for the previous year. 

 

4.3.2.3 Risk adjustment mechanisms 

The Bank may apply risk-based adjustment mechanisms to Variable Remuneration through 
the following mechanisms: 

a. Reduction (Malus): allows the Bank to reduce totally or partially the Variable 
Remuneration object of deferral and which payment is not yet considered an acquired 
right; 

b. Reversal (Clawback): allows the Bank to recover amounts already paid or which 
payment already constitutes a vested right, with the relevant employee being required 
to return such amounts. 
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4.3.2.3.1   Rules for applying Malus and Clawback 

The referred mechanisms are applicable to the total Variable Remuneration, during the deferral 
period, and following an extremely significant event imputable collectively to the Executive 
Commission or individually to one of the executive members of the Board of Directors. The 
General Meeting shall determine the severity of the event and whether the malus or clawback 
mechanisms are applicable to the Variable Remuneration attributed to the Executive Members 
of the Board of Directors or to a part of that remuneration, as applicable. Depending on the 
severity of the event, the General Meeting shall decide whether the malus or clawback 
mechanism is applicable. 

Examples of a significant event in which an Executive Member of the Board of Directors may 
lose the right to Variable Remuneration include fraud, material breach of confidentiality 
obligations, material breach of the sustainability rules or obligations, individual application of 
material regulatory sanctions or the member ceases to be deemed suitable (appropriate or 
prepared) by the supervisory authority, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, or 
criminal convictions (other than traffic violations or other offenses for which a non-custodial 
penalty applies). 

 

4.3.2.4 Rules in case of departure situations 

4.3.2.4.1   Rules for departure at the initiative of the Bank 

If the term of office of the Executive Member of the Board of Directors terminates at the 
initiative of the Bank without just cause, under Portuguese law, the respective member shall 
be entitled to receive all the amounts of the Variable Remuneration attributed on the respective 
dates on which those amounts constitute acquired rights in accordance with the rules 
foreseen in the present Policy and subject to applicable malus or clawback adjustments. 

If the term of office of the Executive Member of the Board of Directors is terminated by the 
Bank with just cause, under Portuguese law, the respective member shall not be entitled to 
any deferred portion of the Variable Remuneration notwithstanding the application of the risk 
adjustment mechanisms (malus and claw back). 

 

4.3.2.4.2   Rules on the departure at the initiative of the Executive Member of the Board of Directors 

If an executive member of the Board of Directors resigns before the end of the term of office 
for which he/she has been appointed, the General Meeting in articulation with the 
Remuneration Committee shall determine whether the individual member continues to be 
entitled to any deferred portion of the Variable Remuneration which entitlement has not yet 
been acquired, subject to the applicable malus or clawback adjustments and on the date 
specified for the payment of each deferred instalment. The General Meeting shall also evaluate 
the eventual celebration of a non-competition agreement and the notice period on making its 
decision. 
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4.3.3  Other Benefits 
Other benefits such as health insurance, cell phones, etc. are applicable in line with that 
attributed to the Bank’s employees, in accordance with the internal regulations. 

If any Executive Member of the Board of Directors is an employee of the Bank, he/she may 
maintain during the term of office the benefits resulting from the employment contract and 
the regulations applicable before his/her appointment to the Board of Directors, if the 
applicable laws and regulations do not provide otherwise. 

 

5  Conflicts of interest 

Conflicts of interest relating to the Remuneration Policy and the Variable Remuneration 
attributed shall be identified and adequately addressed, namely by defining objective 
attribution criteria, based on the internal information system, appropriate controls and the 
"four eyes" principle. The Remuneration Policy shall have as its objective that no significant 
conflicts of interest arise for members of the Management and Supervisory Bodies in the 
performance of their functions. 

The RCID (compliance unit) is responsible for monitoring adherence to the Remuneration 
Policy with the objective of preventing conflicts of interest established in applicable laws, 
regulations and guidelines and shall notify the Chair of the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board in the event of significant conflicts of interest for members of the 
Management and Supervisory Bodies in the performance of their functions related to this 
Remuneration Policy. In the event of conflicts of interest related to the Chair of the Board of 
Directors and the Supervisory Board, the aforementioned notice shall be sent to the President 
of the Compliance Committee of the General and Supervisory Board of NOVO BANCO. 

Decisions taken by the Board of Directors regarding any conflicts of interest arising in relation 
to members of the Board of Directors as well as those relating to the Supervisory Board related 
to this Remuneration Policy shall be subject to ratification by the Shareholders. 

 

6 Gender Neutrality Policy 

A Gender Neutrality Policy means that same is consistent with the principle of equal pay for 
equal work or work of equivalent value regardless of the gender/sex of the employees (male, 
female, other) and will affect the different sexes/genders equally. 

The Gender Neutrality Policy should ensure that all aspects addressed are treated equally, 
including the allocation and conditions for payment of remuneration.  

When determining the value of the work, the Bank shall consider:  

i) the location of the provision of work and the respective cost of living; 
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ii) the hierarchical level of the Employees and whether the Employees have management 
responsibilities; 

iii) the Academic level of the Employees; 

iv) the lack of supply available on the labour market for specialized positions; 

v) the nature of the employment contract, including whether it is temporary work or a 
fixed-term contract; 

vi) the professional experience; 

vii) the professional qualifications; 

viii) the benefits, including the additional payment of domestic or child benefit allowances 
for Employees married or with dependent children. 

If there are material differences in the average remuneration payments between men and 
women, and where such differences do not result from the historical context, the Bank shall:  

a)  document and present the main reasons for this salary gap; 

b)  take the appropriate measures it deems relevant; or  

c)  be able to demonstrate that this difference is not the result of a remuneration policy 
 which is not based on the principle of gender neutrality and that it provides equal 
 opportunities for all genders. 

 

7   File, Store, Review and update of the Policy 

Banco Best shall file and store this Policy, at the minimum, for the period of five years. Such 
records may be used for legal or audit purposes. 

An annual review and update of the Remuneration Policy shall be carried out, if necessary, to 
ensure that it is being properly implemented, that the remuneration paid is in line with this 
Policy and with the Remuneration Policy of Novo Banco, with the risk profile and with the long-
term objectives of the Bank and is compatible with current national and international 
regulations and with the applicable legal regime. 

An annual evaluation report on this Policy shall be prepared to submit to the General Meeting, 
the Board of Directors and Executive Commission and the Supervisory Board of Banco Best. 
This report shall contain the measures, actions and recommendations to be taken to address 
any weaknesses identified. The Executive Commission is responsible for the implementation 
by the relevant bodies or other units of the measures, actions and recommendations 
contained in said report. 

 

8 Disclosure of information 

After approval, this Remuneration Policy shall be disclosed internally to the institution, to all its 
employees and members of the corporate bodies, and the Bank shall also adequately disclose 
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the information provided for in the applicable legislation through the respective means and 
channels. 

 

9 Final Provision 

The present Policy alters the previous version that was approval by the General Meeting of 23 
July 2020 and will come into force on 17 September 2021. 

This revised and altered Policy is applicable to all fixed or variable remuneration, in cash or 
remuneration units, that may be attributed, acquired or paid after its entry into force.  

 

10. Amounts paid in 2021  

The amounts paid in 2021 to the members of the corporate bodies, including amounts paid, 
for any reason, to other companies in a group relationship are presented next. 
 

a) Board of Directors (Executive Members) 
 
The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors in financial year 2021 includes the 
fixed remuneration, paid in 14 instalments - or during the period of the year they exercised their 
functions at BEST - and the complements that are granted to all employees of Banco Best, 
such as seniority or other subsidies and the variable remuneration attributed and that paid in 
respect of previous years. Albert Sylvain May (Chair of the Board of Directors) earned a fixed 
remuneration of Euros 30,000. Maria Madalena Monteiro de Mata Torres Pitta e Cunha (Chair 
of the Executive Commission) received a fixed remuneration of Euros 186,898, and of the 
variable remuneration attributed in 2021 in respect of 2019 and 2020 she received an 
instalment of Euros 33,333, with the total amount of Euros 50,000 being deferred to the 
periods 2022 and 2023. Pedro Alexandre Lemos Cabral das Neves (Executive Director) 
received a fixed remuneration of Euros 142,191, and of the variable remuneration attributed in 
2021 in respect of 2019 and 2020 he received an instalment of Euros 26,667, with the total 
amount of Euros 40,000 being deferred to the periods 2022 and 2023. Nuno Miguel Gomes 
Moutinho da Rocha (Executive Director) received a fixed remuneration of Euros 156,965 and 
of the variable remuneration attributed in 2021 in respect of 2019 and 2020 he received an 
instalment of Euros 26,667, with the total amount of Euros 40,000 being deferred to the 
periods 2022 and 2023.  
 

b) Supervisory Board 
The members of the Supervisory Board did not receive any variable remuneration in 2021. 
António Joaquim Andrade Gonçalves received a fixed remuneration in attendance fees of 
Euros 1,832, Fernando Jorge Henrique Bernardo also received a fixed remuneration in 
attendance fees of Euros 5,107, Isabel Maria Beja Gonçalves Novo received a fixed 
remuneration in attendance fees of Euros 3,712 and João José Barragàn Pires also received 
a fixed remuneration in attendance fees of Euros 2,826 
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c. Remuneration policy for employees  

 

1     Legal and Regulatory Framework 

This Remuneration Policy contains the principles and rules for the remuneration of the 
Employees of BEST – Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. (“BEST” or “Bank”) and is 
established in accordance with Article 115-C of the General Regime governing Credit 
Institutions and Financial Companies.  

This Policy has been prepared considering the regulations and applicable legislation for this 
purpose, namely the following: 

• General Regime governing Credit Institutions and Financial Companies ("RGICSF"); 
• EBA/GL/2015/22 - Guidelines on a sound Remuneration Policy, in accordance with 

Articles 74(3) and 75(2) of Directive 2013/36/EU and on the disclosure of information 
in accordance with Article 450 of Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013; 

• Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council; 
• EBA/GL/2017/11 – Guidelines on Internal Governance; 
• Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 604/2014 of the Commission; 
• Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council; 

Regulation (EU) No. 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 
November 2019 on the disclosure of information related to the sustainability of the 
financial services sector; 

• Notice no. 3/2020 of the Bank of Portugal; 
• Portuguese Commercial Companies Code; 
• Directive 2014/65/EU (MiFID II) of the European Parliament and of the Council on 

markets of financial instruments and related regulations; 
• Portuguese Securities Code;  
• EBA/GL/2016/06 - Guidelines on remuneration policies and practices relating to the 

sale and supply of retail banking products and services; 
• Directive 2014/17/EU of the European Parliament and its respective consequent 

Portuguese law DL 74-A/2017; 
• Report on the risk of conduct and abusive practices on sale of investment products of 

the Conselho Nacional de Supervisores Financeiros (National Council of Financial 
Supervisors) of 3 March 2016; 

• The list of significant supervised entities and the list of least significant institutions of 
the European Central Bank. 

The regulations and legislation on remuneration establish the adoption and enforcement of 
remuneration practices consistent with a prudent, sound and effective risk management that 
do not constitute an incentive to take excessive risks or create situations of conflict of interest 
with customers. 
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This Remuneration Policy considers the objectives of the Bank, the general strategy of the 
NOVO BANCO Group (“GNB”) which it integrates: 

a) its strategy; 

b) nature; 

c) structure; 

d) culture and values  

and is based on the guiding principles of meritocracy and transparency to obtain the 
recognition of high performance, being aligned with the principles foreseen in the 
Remuneration Policy for Members of the Corporate Bodies of BEST. In addition, this 
Remuneration Policy and its implementation shall respect and encourage the professional 
conduct of all members and reflect the principles of equal treatment of customers, best 
remuneration practices related to the sale of products and prevention of conflicts of interest 
with customers. 

This Policy is gender neutral, which means equal pay for equal work or for work of an 
equivalent value. 

This Policy is also consistent with the integration of sustainability risks. Some demonstrations 
of this consistency are: 

i) the setting of remuneration limits; 

ii) the multiannual framing to ensure that the appraisal process is based on long-term 
performance and that the allocation of Variable Remuneration components (bonuses) is 
deferred over the defined time, taking into account the Bank's business cycle, its risks and 
the promotion of the retention of Identified Employees; 

iii) the risk adjustment mechanism ("Malus" and "Claw Back") to avoid risk-taking; 

BEST aims to attract and retain Employees who can contribute positively to achieve the 
objectives of the Bank, always from a sustainable development perspective and in line with 
the risk appetite framework and with the intervention of all the stakeholders. This 
Remuneration Policy also seeks to encourage responsible and ethical professional conduct 
by all Employees, fair treatment of customers and the prevention of conflicts of interest and 
mitigation of risks, such as, for example, reputational risk. 

 

2     Scope 

The present Remuneration Policy is applicable to all Employees with an employment contract 
with BEST. The members of the corporate bodies are covered by a specific Remuneration 
Policy for the Members of the Corporate Bodies of BEST, set down in an autonomous 
document, with its total consistency with the principles and practices of the present 
Remuneration Policy being assured. 
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The employees' on assignment having an employment contract with NOVO BANCO are 
covered by the Remuneration Policy for Employees of NOVO BANCO for the fixed component 
of the remuneration and the present Remuneration Policy for the variable component of the 
remuneration. 

 

3     Governance of the Remuneration Policy 

3.1 Summary of Responsibilities 

The governance of this Remuneration Policy implies the cooperation of different areas, among 
which the following stand out: 

 Executive 
Commission 

DFCH & 
DCH NB 

RCID LA 

Prepare the Remuneration Policy  ü  ü  ü  

Approve the Policy, its revisions and subsequent changes ü     

Map and update Identified Employees  ü    

Approve the list of Identified Employees ü     

Provide information that establishes basic rules for Fixed and Variable 
Remuneration  ü  ü   

Prepare and propose decisions on Remuneration (for example, attribution 
criteria/rules, KPI, amounts) ü  ü    

Evaluate the impact of the Variable Remuneration on the risk profile of the 
Bank   ü   

Decide on the Remuneration ü     

Monitor and implement the Policy ü  ü  ü   

Revise and update the Policy  ü  ü  ü  

 
 
3.1.1 Executive Commission 
In accordance with applicable legislation, the Articles of Association and the delegated 
powers, the Executive Commission is responsible for: 

• Approving the Remuneration Policy and ensuring its implementation, as well as 
bringing it to the knowledge of the Board of Directors; 

• Adopting decisions on remuneration (e.g., attribution criteria/rules, amounts); 
• Monitoring whether the Remuneration Policy is being properly applied and is in line with 

the general regime, corporate governance and risk profile of the Bank; 
• Defining, annually, the KPIs for the Identified Employees;  
• Monitoring whether limits are not being breached; 
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• Deciding which Employees shall be classified as Identified Employees, based on the 
criteria set forth in section 4 of the present Policy and deciding on possible exclusions 
or updates; 

• Reviewing the Identified Employees list, at least annually, and ensuring that same is 
sent to the Bank of Portugal; 

• Verifying that the existing remuneration policies are up-to-date and, if necessary, 
making proposals for changes; 

• Assessing the achievement of performance objectives and the need for ex-post risk 
adjustment, including the application of reduction (malus) and reversal (clawback) 
mechanisms, if applicable; 

• Reviewing the Remuneration Policy in accordance with section 8; 
• Accompanying and monitoring the individual performance appraisal process and that 

same is duly documented, transparent and communicated to the Employees until the 
end of the first quarter. 
 

3.1.2 Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee of the General and Supervisory Board of NOVO BANCO was 
constituted by deliberation of the General and Supervisory Board of 18 October 2017 and in 
accordance with Article 6(3)(c) of the Articles of Association of Novo Banco. Given that NOVO 
BANCO is regarded as a significant institution, the existence of that Committee is mandatory 
under Article 115H of the RGICSF. 

The Remuneration Committee is composed of a minimum of three members, each of whom 
(including its chair) is elected by the General and Supervisory Board from among its members. 

The competencies of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the Regulation of the 
Remuneration Committee of the General and Supervisory Board of Novo Banco, S.A.  

Pursuant to paragraph 46 of the EBA/GL/2015/22 – Guidelines on a Sound Remuneration 
Policy, "In accordance with Article 92(1) in conjunction with Article 95(1) of the CRD, all 
institutions which are themselves significant, considering their size at individual level, at the 
parent company level and at group level, should set up a remuneration committee. (...). The 
consolidating institution shall ensure that the remuneration committee is set up where legally 
required'. 

The JST's view of 21/10/2020 is that, considering that BEST is a non-significant institution on 
an individual basis, but is included in the list of significant institutions directly supervised by 
the ECB as part of a group which parent company is considered significant (LSF Nani 
Investments SARL) and that NOVO BANCO has its Remuneration Committee, Banco Best does 
not need to constitute its own Remuneration Committee,  provided that that Committee 
ensures that the principles and procedures laid down in the Remuneration Policy of NOVO 
BANCO are also applied in Banco Best.  

Thus, the Remuneration Committee of Novo Banco shall foresee and ensure that all relevant 
practices are taken by BEST. To this end, its functions as regards BEST, in accordance with 
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the respective Regulation, include the monitoring of the decision-making process related to 
the remuneration of the management and supervisory bodies and identified employees and 
the provision of information in advance to the General and Supervisory Board on the decisions 
to be taken, to its knowledge. 

 

3.1.3 Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate (RCID) (risk unit) 
The Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate, through its risk unit, shall provide the support 
requested by the Executive Commission in the performance of its duties, namely: 

• Providing support and assistance in the preparation and revision of the present Policy; 
• Verifying that the attribution and payment of the Variable Remuneration to Identified 

Employees are consistent with good practice of a sound and effective risk 
management; 

• Providing effective elements, within the scope of its duties, for the definition of global 
bonuses, (collective) performance criteria and remuneration attribution; 

• Assisting in the definition of appropriate risk-adjusted performance measures 
(including ex-post adjustments) and providing appropriate information to that effect; 

• Participating in the evaluation of how the structure of Variable Remuneration affects 
the risk profile and culture of the institution; 
 

3.1.4 Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate (RCID) (compliance unit) 
The Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate, through its compliance unit, shall provide the 
support requested by the Executive Commission in the performance of its duties, namely: 

• Assisting in the preparation and analysis of the Remuneration Policy; 
• Providing information, within the scope of its duties, for the definition of global bonuses, 

(individual and collective) performance criteria and remuneration attribution; 
• Proposing and monitoring the implementation of compliance indicators used in the 

eligibility of variable remuneration or incentives; 
• Analysing and monitoring the implementation and compliance of the Remuneration 

Policy with the laws, regulations and internal policies of the institution, such as required 
regulatory reporting, and report any compliance risks and non-compliance problems 
with respect to remuneration issues communicated to it, to the Executive Commission 
or Supervisory Board; 

• Participating in the evaluation of how the structure of Variable Remuneration affects 
the risk profile and culture of the institution; 

• Informing the Executive Commission of any conflict-of-interest situation that may be 
relevant to the duties and responsibilities or that may affect the performance of the 
functions of the Executive Commission; 

3.1.5 Finance and Human Capital Directorate and Human Capital Department of NOVO BANCO 
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The DFCH of Banco Best and the DCH of NOVO BANCO shall provide the support requested 
by the Executive Commission in the performance of its duties, namely: 

• Assisting in the preparation, analysis and implementation of the Remuneration Policy; 
• Participating in the preparation and evaluation of the institution's Remuneration Policy, 

namely the remuneration structure, remuneration levels and incentive schemes; 
• Providing elements, in the scope of its functions and responsibilities, for the definition 

of performance criteria (individual and collective) and the allocation of the 
remuneration and payments; 

• Ensuring an adequate internal and external disclosure of the Remuneration Policy; 
• Submitting for approval by the Executive Commission a list of Identified Employees, as 

well as any changes in same, and ensuring its reporting to the Bank of Portugal. 
 

3.1.6 Legal Counsel 
The Legal Counsel shall provide the support requested, namely: 

• Providing support and assistance in the preparation and revision of the present Policy; 

• Participating in the meetings of the Remuneration Committee as called upon by the 
respective Chair for matters relating to Banco Best. 

 

3.2 Approval 

The Policy for Employees of BEST shall be approved by the Executive Commission following 
a proposal of the DFCH, with the prior favourable opinion of the RCID, and subsequent 
presentation to the Board of Directors for its knowledge. 

 

4     Classification of Identified Employees 

The Executive Commission is responsible for selecting and approving all Identified Employees 
whose professional activities have or may have a significant impact on the Bank’s risk profile. 
The Executive Commission conducts an annual self-assessment to identify Employees whose 
professional activities have or may have a material impact on the Bank's risk profile.   

In accordance with Articles 3 and 4 of Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 604/2014 of the 
European Commission, appropriate qualitative and quantitative criteria shall be established to 
identify the core categories of employees whose professional activities have a significant 
impact on the risk of the institution. 

In addition to the provisions of the Remuneration Policy, BEST may define additional criteria 
that reflect the risk levels of the different activities in the institution and the impact of the 
Employees on the risk profile. 
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4.1 Mapping of Identified Employees 

The definition of the criteria for mapping Identified Employees is carried out by the Financial 
and Human Capital Directorate with the participation, if necessary, of the Remuneration 
Committee of NOVO BANCO and the Risk, Compliance and Integrity Directorate. 

The Financial and Human Capital Directorate is responsible for presenting a proposal of the 
list of Identified Employees, which will be subsequently discussed and approved by the 
Executive Commission and, if necessary, by the Remuneration Committee of the General and 
Supervisory Board of NOVO BANCO. 

Given the operating structure, objectives and business strategy of the Bank, Identified 
Employees of BEST comprise the following people: 

• First line Managers: All Employees responsible for the directorates, structures or areas 
of the Bank who report directly to the Members of the Executive Commission. 

• Other Employees (who are not first-line Managers): 
o Whose activity has a material impact on the Bank’s risk profile; 
o Whose total remuneration exceeds, in absolute terms, Euros 250 000 per year, 

or; 

o Who are included in the 1% of the permanent Employees with the highest total 
remuneration in the Institution; 

In all cases, provided they have a material impact on the risk profile of the Bank. 

The DFCH shall draw up a list of proposed Identified Employees, corresponding to the 
categories indicated above, which shall be submitted for approval to the Executive 
Commission to be, if necessary, subsequently reviewed and confirmed by the Remuneration 
Committee of the General and Supervisory Board of NOVO BANCO. For the purposes of this 
Remuneration Policy, only the Employees included in this list shall be considered Identified 
Employees. This list shall be reviewed annually by the DFCH and its changes subject to the 
regime described above. 

The list shall be reviewed annually by the Financial and Human Capital Directorate and 
communicated to the Executive Committee for its annual self-assessment exercise. Any 
changes to that list shall be subject to the procedures described herein. 

Nevertheless, the DFCH shall propose an immediate update whenever there are changes 
regarding the persons occupying these positions or changes in the organization of the 
directorates of the Bank, in these cases also following the regime indicated above. 

The DFCH shall communicate to each one of the nominees on the list of Identified Employees 
their “Identified” status for the purposes of this Remuneration Policy, providing all necessary 
information and clarifications regarding this statute. 
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5      Remuneration Components 

The Total Remuneration results from the combination of the components of Fixed and 
Variable Remuneration. The present chapter describes the structure and the criteria 
considered for the attribution of the different components of remuneration. 

 

5.1 Fixed Remuneration 

The Fixed Remuneration is paid to all Employees of BEST with an employment contract and 
includes all the amounts received, on a regular and periodic basis, in exchange for the work 
realized. The Fixed Remuneration component shall reflect the relevant professional 
experience and organizational responsibility inherent to the function. 

Fixed Remuneration may consist of several components, which shall comply with a set of 
conditions, namely: 

a) Reflect in a non-discretionary manner the level of professional experience and the 
seniority of the Employees; 

b) Be transparent as regards the individual amount allocated to the Employee; 
c) Be permanent, that is, to remain for the period of time associated with the specific 

position and organizational responsibilities; 
d) May not be reduced, suspended or cancelled by the Bank unless such reductions, 

suspensions or cancellations were permitted by law; 
e) Do not include incentives that will give rise to the excessive assumption of risk; 
f) Do not depend on performance; 
g) Employees do not have the possibility of revoking same. 

The table below describes the various components that make up the Fixed Remuneration of 
BEST. Without prejudice, the Executive Commission may decide to grant new fixed benefits 
provided that the rules and principles laid down in the legislation and regulations in force are 
complied with. 

 

Components of Fixed Remuneration: 

Categories Frequency Description 

Base salary 14 months Amount attributed to employees corresponding to the activity 
realized in accordance with the normal working hours 

Remuneration for exemption from 
normal working hour limits (“IHT”) 

14 months Amount attributed to employees who are available, as a rule, 
to realize their activity beyond the normal working hours 

 

 

In addition, in accordance with the provisions of the legislation and regulations in force, BEST 
attributed other benefits or amounts to its Employees, namely: 
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a) Meal allowance; 
b) Remuneration for overtime work; 
c) Remuneration for Standby; 
d) Displacement allowance; 
e) Reimbursement of expenses and other allowances for trips, travel, transport, 

accommodation and others equivalent. 
 

5.2 Variable Remuneration 

As part of the NOVO BANCO Group, considered a Significant Financial Institution, BEST is 
obliged to comply with a set of specific requirements that shall be considered in the attribution 
of Variable Remuneration. 

The Variable Remuneration, freely decided by the Bank, depends on the verification of certain 
conditions and objectives, is not contractually guaranteed (as such, the attribution, acquisition 
and payment of any variable remuneration or a part of same, can neither be expectable nor 
considered certain or an acquired fact) and may be subject to adjustments under the 
mechanisms provided for in section 5.3 (Risk Adjustment Mechanisms). Thus, when attributed 
to the Employees, the Variable Remuneration is freely and discretionally decided , is subject to 
compliance with the criteria in the present Policy and shall be based on criteria freely set by 
the Bank, namely through the combination of various and adequate indicators and is based on 
the combination of the performance of each Employee, of the respective Directorate and of 
BEST, taking into account quantitative and qualitative criteria evaluated through Objectives 
and Competencies defined by the Bank. 

There are three types of Variable Remuneration for Employees: 

a. Variable Remuneration in function of the annual performance: to be attributed freely 
and subject to compliance with the conditions foreseen in the present Policy and based 
on minimum criteria of merit and individual and collective performance of each year 
and only upon verification of certain conditions; 

b. Commercial Incentives: these are payments that may have components with a 
monthly, quarterly, half-yearly or annual frequency and that aim to compensate the best 
commercial performances, ensuring the monitoring of abusive sales practices and 
other qualitative indicators of the activity; 

c. Commercial Campaigns: correspond to the attribution of extraordinary Awards (in cash 
or in kind) without a previously defined periodicity or format. The Campaigns and the 
respective Awards are considered and evaluated in accordance with the internal rules 
that apply to the creation, approval, distribution and monitoring of Products and aim to 
stimulate a specific segment of the offering of the Bank for a limited period of time. 

Other commercial incentives or Variable Remuneration for specific categories of employees 
in special circumstances not provided for in this Policy (including incentives that may be 
agreed by the Bank with third parties) may be attributed on the terms and conditions to be 
defined and communicated to the relevant Employees, provided that the principles of this 
Policy and the applicable law are complied with. 
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In addition, the variable remuneration of all Employees who: 

a. may have an impact on the customer service rendered or the business conduct of 
BEST, including, but not limited to: (i) customer service personnel, commercial teams 
or other personnel directly involved in the provision of investment or supplementary 
services; (ii) persons involved in the handling of complaints or in the design and 
development of products; 

b. are involved in the preparation, marketing and concession of loan contracts to 
consumers; 

c. are employees directly and indirectly supervising the teams in all the aforementioned 
activities. 

It shall comply with the following principles: 

a. The appraisal of the underlying performance shall take into account not only 
quantitative criteria but also qualitative criteria linked to the Employee's compliance 
with the rules in force in relation to customers, in particular as regards duties of 
information, the duty to prevent conflicts of interest, keeping records and evidence; 

b. Qualitative criteria cannot be offset by better financial performance and, ultimately, may 
be exclusively applied for payment purposes; 

c. Identified Employees shall be appraised and remunerated in a way that avoids any 
conflict with their obligation to act in the interests of customers; 

d. Remuneration cannot be attributed if it is based on the distribution of banking products 
to non-professional customers, when the employee can propose a different banking 
product that best matches the needs of that customer; 

e. Remuneration cannot be attributed if it is based on the distribution of financial product 
packages to non-professional customers, when the package, on an integrated basis, is 
not adequate to that customer's needs. 
 

5.2.1 Variable Remuneration of Identified Employees  
The Performance Indicator used by BEST to calculate the variable component of the 
Remuneration of Identified Employees shall: 

• Consider quantitative and qualitative performance criteria, including financial and non-
financial performance, for the Employees, business units and the Bank; 

• Be processed in a multi-year framework to ensure that the appraisal process is based 
on long-term performance and that the effective attributions of the Variable 
Remuneration instalments are deferred over the period defined below, considering the 
business cycle of the Bank and its business risks and promoting the retention of the 
Identified Employees; 

• Not encourage excessive risk-taking or abusive product sales; 
• Include risk adjustment mechanisms ("Malus" and "Clawback"). 
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5.2.1.1  Variable Remuneration in function of the annual performance 

The following rules shall be applied when attributing the Variable Remuneration: 

a. The Variable Remuneration attribution and its payment, including the deferred 
instalments, cannot limit the ability of the Bank to strengthen and maintain the required 
capital base in line with the level of risk that the Bank is willing to assume in accordance 
with the internal capital adequacy assessment process; 

b. The total budget for the Variable Remuneration to be attributed each year to Employees 
shall be defined by the Executive Commission considering the framing within the Novo 
Banco Group, and the overall amounts shall be ratified by the Board of Directors; 

c. The Variable Remuneration or deferred instalments thereof shall only be paid on the 
respective dates (until the end of the first half year after the assessment year), provided 
that it is sustainable in the light of the Bank’s overall financial situation and is justified 
in the light of the Bank’s, the Business Unit’s and the individual Employee’s 
performance; 

d. The Identified Employees shall only be entitled to the deferred instalments of the 
Variable Remuneration, as described below, if their respective employment contract is 
in effect on the date of the payment of each part; 

e. The Variable Remuneration attributed cannot exceed 100% of the Fixed Remuneration 
component for each Employee; 

f. The Executive Commission shall define the criteria/rules for the attribution of the 
Variable Remuneration, using quantitative and qualitative indicators (KPI); 
 

5.2.1.2  Form of payment 

The Variable Remuneration attributed to the Identified Employees, existing and having been 
approved, shall be paid on a proportional basis over a period of three years, the first payment 
being made in the year of the attribution and the others in subsequent years, provided that the 
condition set forth in paragraph e) of point 5.2.1.1 is verified. 

Each of the three payments, when due, shall be carried out as follows: 

• 50% is paid in cash; 
• The other 50% shall consist of remuneration units, the value of which is determined by 

the financial performance indicators of the Bank. The remuneration units have an effect 
equivalent to the attribution of shares, as permitted by law. 

The remuneration units shall be settled in cash on the due payment date and shall be attributed 
reflecting the financial performance indicators of the Bank. 

5.2.2 Variable Remuneration of Employees Allocated to Business Structures: 

 
5.2.2.1  Commercial Incentives 

The Commercial Incentive Program is freely defined and approved by the Executive 
Commission and has the following assumptions: 
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a. It is applicable to Employees in the commercial areas with assigned customers and to 
those who supervise directly and indirectly the commercial teams and who are not 
Identified Employees; 

b. The budget for the commercial incentive program is reviewed annually by the Executive 
Commission, taking as the maximum reference a value not exceeding 5% of the payroll 
of the Bank; 

c. This Incentive Program shall have a frequency as indicated in a specific autonomous 
document and also attributes a part of the total incentive to the annual attainment of 
the objectives; 

d. Full details of the Commercial Incentive Program and its method of calculation shall be 
published in a separate document; 

e. The program includes risk adjustment mechanisms, as described in point 5.3 of the 
present Remuneration Policy; 

f. Commercial incentives are not contractually foreseen nor in any manner guaranteed 
and, thus, the Employees cannot, under any form, consider them as acquired or certain. 
 

5.2.2.2  Commercial Campaigns 

When establishing a Commercial Campaign, the responsible Directorates shall consider the 
following: 

a. Each campaign and its awards/attributions shall be approved by the Bank’s Product 
Committee; 

b. Campaigns for products related to the MiFID II Regulation and Housing Loans cannot 
be established; 

c. The commercial campaigns apply to the same group of employees covered by the 
commercial incentives, and no employee may receive, during a calendar year, a total 
aggregate amount of awards/attributions in Commercial Campaigns exceeding an 
amount equivalent to their monthly fixed remuneration; 

d. Commercial campaigns are not contractually foreseen nor in any manner guaranteed 
and, thus, the Employees cannot, under any form, consider any attribution or payment 
of any amount as certain or acquired. 
 

5.2.3 Variable Remuneration for the Remaining Employees 
The Variable Remuneration for this category of Employees (all non-Identified Employees or 
employees covered by the Commercial Incentives) shall consist of a Variable Remuneration 
in function of the annual performance and its attribution shall be governed by the rules 
described in section 5.2.1.1 of the present Remuneration Policy, as applicable. 

The Variable Remuneration attributed to the remaining Employees, existing and having been 
approved, shall be paid until the end of the first half-year of the year following the appraisal, 
provided that the respective employment contract is in effect on the date of the payment. 
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5.3 Risk adjustment mechanisms 

The Bank shall be able to apply risk adjustment mechanisms to Variable Remuneration, based 
on risk, through the following mechanisms: 

a. Reduction (Malus): allows the Bank to reduce totally or partially the Variable 
Remuneration object of deferral and which payment is not yet considered an acquired 
right; 

b. Reversal (Clawback): allows the Bank to recover amounts already paid or which 
payment already constitutes a vested right, with the relevant employee being required 
to return such amounts. 
 

5.3.1 Rules for applying Malus and Clawback 

 
5.3.1.1  Application to Identified Employees 

The aforementioned mechanisms are applicable to the total Variable Remuneration for 
Identified Employees, during the deferral period, and following an extremely significant event 
attributable to an Employee.  

The Executive Commission shall determine the severity of an event and whether the Malus or 
Clawback mechanisms are applicable to the Variable Remuneration attributed to Identified 
Employees. Depending on the severity of the event, the Executive Commission shall decide 
whether the malus or clawback mechanism is applicable. 

Examples of a significant event in which an Employee shall lose the Variable Remuneration 
include fraud, material breach of confidentiality obligations, material breach of sustainability 
rules or obligations, individual material regulatory sanctions applied or, if applicable to that 
Employee, he/she ceases to be deemed suitable (appropriate or prepared) by the supervisory 
authority, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, or criminal convictions (other 
than traffic violations or other offenses for which a non-custodial penalty applies). 

 

5.3.1.2  Application to Employees Allocated to Business Structures 

The Commercial Incentive Program includes a risk adjustment mechanism that seeks to 
recover any amounts found to have been unduly paid. For this purpose, one of the following 
events must occur: 

a. Disciplinary procedures or dismissal for just cause following the manipulation of 
commercial performance results; 

b. Fraudulent sales; 
c. Adulterated records or evidence related to the sales process. 

The RCID shall identify such events based on internal information or information forwarded by 
other Directorates and inform the DFCH, which in liaison with the Human Capital Department 
of NOVO BANCO shall ensure that: 
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a. The Employee is informed of the detected event and of the amount that is considered 
unduly paid; 

b. The Employee shall not receive other incentives until the amount unduly paid is offset 
by positive future performances. 
 

5.3.1.3  Application to all Remaining Employees 

The Clawback mechanism shall apply if and when any failure to comply with the rules 
applicable to the professional practice of the services provided contained in laws, regulations, 
internal regulations or codes of conduct by the Employee is detected, according to the analysis 
performed by the RCID and duly communicated to the DFCH. 

The DFCH shall analyse the aforementioned information transmitted and propose an 
assessment of the severity of the event and as to whether the Clawback mechanism is 
applicable to the Variable Remuneration attributed to the Remaining Employees for approval 
by the Executive Commission. 

 

5.4 Rules in case of departure situations 

 

5.4.1 Rules for the departure at the initiative of the Bank 
If the employment contract is terminated by the Bank without just cause, under Portuguese 
law, the Employee shall be entitled to receive all deferred instalments of the Variable 
Remuneration, subject to malus or clawback adjustments applicable and on the date specified 
for each deferred payment. 

If the employment contract is terminated by the Bank with just cause, under Portuguese law, 
the Employee shall not be entitled to any deferred instalment of the Variable Remuneration, 
without prejudice of the application of the risk adjustment Mechanisms (malus and claw 
back). 

 

5.4.2 Rules for the departure at the initiative of the Employee 

If the Employee decides to terminate the employment contract, he/she shall not be entitled to 
any deferred instalment of the Variable Remuneration. 

5.4.3 Rules for the termination of the employment contract in case of retirement 
If the employment contract terminates due to retirement of the employee, same shall have the 
right to receive all the deferred instalments of the Variable Remuneration, being, however, 
subject to the application of the malus and clawback on the respective dates of payment.  

 

 

 



  

 
Report & Accounts 2021                                                                   Page                      140 

6     Conflicts of interest 

Conflicts of interest relating to the Remuneration Policy and the remuneration attributed shall 
be identified and adequately addressed, namely by defining objective attribution criteria, based 
on the internal information system, appropriate controls and the "four eyes" principle. 

The Remuneration Policy shall pursue the objective that no significant conflicts of interest 
arise for any Employee in the performance of his/her duties, in accordance with the current 
conflicts of interest policy in force at BEST. 

To mitigate the risks associated with conflicts of interest regarding the Remuneration Policy, 
BEST seeks to: 

a. Take into account the interests of shareholders, the rights and interests of consumers, 
market practices in terms of remuneration and the state of maturity of the activity; 

b. Not associate remuneration primarily with a quantitative goal of the trade or supply of 
banking products and services; 

c. Ensure that the forms of remuneration and performance appraisals do not introduce 
incentives which favour their own interests or the interests of the Bank, to the detriment 
of their customers; 

d. Avoid promoting the trade or supply of a particular product or category of products in 
relation to other products, such as products which are more profitable to the institution 
or to the Employee, to the detriment of the interests of the customer; 

e. Ensure that the Variable Remuneration is not paid through means or methods that aim 
at or facilitate the non-compliance with the Remuneration Policy. This may include, 
among other things, the celebration of agreements between the Bank and third parties 
in which the Employee has a personal or financial interest; 

f. All Employees shall inform the DRCI if there is a conflict of interests related to the 
present Policy; 

g. The aforementioned notification shall be evaluated by the RCID under applicable 
Portuguese laws and internal regulations such as the Code of Conduct, the Conflicts of 
Interest Policy, the Related Party Transactions Policy, as well as the Articles of 
Association of BEST. 

The RCID shall inform the Supervisory Board and the Executive Commission of: 

• Any communication received on conflicts of interest related to the Remuneration Policy 
and its evaluation; 

• Any situation detected where the Employee's obligation to inform the RCID of a conflict 
of interest arising from the application of this policy, under the conflict-of-interest 
policy, has not been complied with. 
 

7     Gender Neutrality Policy 

Gender Neutral Policies mean that same are consistent with the principle of equal pay for 
equal work or work of equivalent value regardless of the gender/sex of the Employees (male, 
female, other) and will affect the different sexes/genders equally. 
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The Gender Neutrality Policy should ensure that all aspects addressed are treated equally, 
including the allocation and conditions for payment of remuneration.  

When determining the value of the work, the Bank shall consider:  

ix) the location of the provision of work and the respective cost of living; 

x) the hierarchical level of the Employees and whether the Employees have management 
responsibilities; 

xi) the Academic level of the Employees; 

xii) the lack of supply available on the labour market for specialized positions; 

xiii) the nature of the employment contract, including whether it is temporary work or a 
fixed-term contract; 

xiv) the professional experience; 

xv) the professional qualifications; 

xvi) the benefits, including the additional payment of domestic or child benefit allowances 
for Employees married or with dependent children. 

 

The fixed remuneration based on the gender neutrality principle shall reflect the professional 
experience and the organizational responsibility, considering: 

a) the qualification and training level; 

b) the seniority level; 

c) the know-how and other skills; 

d) the constraints or restrictions (for example, social, economic, cultural or other relevant 
factors); 

e) the professional experience; 

f) the relevant activities; and 

g) the remuneration level in the geographic area of the Employees. 

If there are material differences in the average remuneration payments between men and 
women, and where such differences do not result from the historical context, the Bank shall:  

a) document and present the main reasons for this salary gap; 

b) take the appropriate measures it deems relevant; or  

c) be able to demonstrate that this difference is not the result of a remuneration policy which 
is not based on the principle of gender neutrality and that it provides equal opportunities 
for all genders. 
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8      Disclosure of information 

Upon approval, this Remuneration Policy shall be internally disclosed to the institution and 
published in the respective institutional site. 

Confidential aspects of the remuneration specific to an Employee individually considered are 
excluded from the principle of disclosure and transparency. 

 

 9     File, Store, Review and Update  

Banco Best shall file and store this Policy, at the minimum, for the period of five years. Such 
records may be used for legal or audit purposes. 

An annual review and update shall be carried out, if necessary, of the Policy and its 
implementation to ensure that: 

a) it is being properly implemented; 

b) the remuneration paid is in line with this Policy, the risk profile and the long-term 
objectives of the Bank; and 

c) is compatible with current national and international regulations and with the 
applicable legal regime. 

An annual evaluation report on this Policy shall be prepared by the Non-executive Members of 
the Board of Directors, to submit to the Board of Directors and Executive Commission of 
Banco Best. This report shall contain the measures, actions and recommendations to be taken 
to address any weaknesses identified. The Executive Commission is responsible for the 
implementation by the relevant bodies or other units of the measures, actions and 
recommendations contained in said report. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Remuneration Committee of the General and Supervisory 
Board of Novo Banco shall realize, at least once a year, the review of the present Policy and 
the implementation of the respective rules regarding the Identified Employees.  

 

 

10     Final Provisions 

The present Policy alters the previous version that was approval by the Executive Commission 
on 15 July 2020 and which was communicated to the Board of Directors on 23 July 2020. 

This revised and altered Policy is applicable to all fixed or variable remuneration, in cash or 
remuneration units, that may be attributed, acquired or paid after its entry into force.  

The present Policy was approved at the Board of Directors meeting realized on 9 July 2021, 
coming into force as from that date. 

 

 



  

 
Report & Accounts 2021                                                                   Page                      143 

11     Amounts paid in 2021 

The remuneration earned by Identified Employees in respect of financial year 2021 includes 
the fixed remuneration, paid in 14 instalments, the complements paid to all employees of the 
Bank, such as seniority and other subsidies, and the variable remuneration attributed and 
already paid in respect of previous financial years and the instalments deferred to subsequent 
years. Identified Employees received a global fixed remuneration of Euros 885 796, and of the 
variable remuneration attributed in 2021 in respect of financial years 2019 and 2020 they 
received an instalment of Euros 114 330, with the total amount of Euros 167 990 being 
deferred to the periods 2022 and 2023. Detailing by main business areas, the two Managers 
of the commercial areas received a global fixed remuneration of Euros 168 434, and of the 
variable remuneration attributed in 2021 in respect of financial years 2019 and 2020 they 
received an instalment of Euros 20 436, with the total amount of Euros 30 648 being deferred 
to the periods 2022 and 2023. The ten Managers allocated to the central services areas and 
employees in control positions received a global fixed remuneration of Euros 717 361, and of 
the variable remuneration attributed in 2021 in respect of financial years 2019 and 2020 they 
received an instalment of Euros 93 894, with the total amount of Euros 137 342 being deferred 
to the periods 2022 and 2023.  
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Statutory and Audit Report 
 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Opinion 
 

We have audited the financial statements of BEST- Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. (the Bank), which 

comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2021 (which shows total assets of Euros 859,997 thousand 

and a total shareholders' equity of Euros 82,564 thousand, including a net income of Euros 3,269 thousand), 
the Income Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the 

Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and the attached notes to the financial statements that include 

a summary of the significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the financial 

position of BEST- Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. as at 31 December 2021, its financial performance 

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as 
adopted by the European Union. 

 

Bases for the opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and other technical and 

ethical standards and recommendations issued by the Institute of Statutory Auditors. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section 

below. In accordance with the law, we are independent of the Bank and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the ethics code of the Institute of Statutory Auditors.  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

 

Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the financial statements of the current year.  

 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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We describe below the key audit matters of the current year: 

 
 1. Impairment of loans and advances to customers 
 
 
Description of the most significant risks of 
material misstatement 

Summary of our response to the main risks 
of material misstatement 

The caption of Loans and advances to customers 
includes accumulated impairment losses 
amounting to Euros 1,043 thousand (“k€), with 
impairment losses in the amount of k€ 173 
thousand being recognized in the financial year in 
the line Impairment or reversal of impairment of 
financial assets not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. The detail of the impairment of loans 
and advances to customers and the accounting 
policies, methodologies, concepts and 
assumptions used are disclosed in the explanatory 
notes to the financial statements (Notes 2.4, 3.1 
and 19). 
 
For the calculation of this estimate of the 
impairment of the loans and advances to 
customers’ portfolio, the management body made 
critical judgements such as the assessment of the 
business model, the assessment of the significant 
increase in credit risk, the classification of 
exposures in default, the definition of groups of 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
the use of models and parameters.   
 
Besides the complexity of the models, their use 
requires the processing of significant volumes of 
data that may raise questions regarding their 
quality and availability. The effects of the COVID-
19 pandemic may not be fully overcome nor have 
fully materialized, with their full extent still being 
uncertain. Thus, the recording of impairment 
losses of loans and advances to customers must 
consider a potential deterioration of the quality of 
the assets in the event the risk materializes.  
 
Given the degree of subjectivity and complexity 
involved, the use of alternative approaches, 
models or assumptions may have a material impact 
on the amount of the impairment estimated, which 
leads us to consider this matter a key audit matter. 
 

Our audit approach included the execution of the 
following procedures: 
 
Ø gaining the understanding, appraising the 

design and testing the operational 
effectiveness of the internal control 
procedures existing in the process to quantify 
impairment losses of loans and advances to 
customers; 

 
Ø realizing analytical review tests on the 

evolution of the balance of Impairment of 
loans and advances to customers, comparing 
it with the homologous period and with the 
expectations formed considering the 
changes that have occurred in the credit 
exposures;  

 
Ø analysing the impacts estimated by the Bank 

to reflect the end of the moratoria and the 
possibility of the materialization of default in 
this debtor population; 
 

Ø analysing the documents formalizing the 
relevant sales operations of loans and 
advances to customers and analysing the 
impact reflected on the financial statements; 
 

Ø obtaining an understanding and appraising 
the design of the model used to calculate the 
expected loss, testing the calculation, 
comparing the information used in the model 
with source data, through reconciliations 
prepared by the Bank, analysing the 
assumptions used to overcome gaps in the 
data, comparing the parameters used with 
the results of the estimation models and 
comparing the results of the models with the 
amounts recorded in the financial 
statements; 

 
Ø testing the reasonableness of the parameters 

used in the calculation of impairment, with the 
following procedures realized being 
highlighted: 
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Description of the most significant risks of 
material misstatement 

Summary of our response to the main risks 
of material misstatement 

i) understanding the methodology formalized 
and approved by the management body and 
comparison with that effectively used;  
 
ii) understanding the changes to the models 
used by the Bank to determine parameters 
used in the calculation of the expected loss 
and of the results on the parameters;  
 
iii)  on a sample basis, comparison of the data 
used in determining the risk parameters with 
source information, including tests to the 
classification in stages; 
 
iv)  enquiries of specialists of the Bank 
responsible for the model and inspection of 
the internal and regulatory audit reports; and 
 
v)  inspection of the reports with the results of 
the operational assessment of the model 
(back-testing). 

 
Ø testing the reasonableness of the 

adjustments made to the model and outside 
the model, particularly those made in 
response to the additional judgement areas 
resulting from the end of the moratoria and 
understanding the management process 
associated with these adjustments; 
 

Ø reading the minutes of the Impairment 
Committee and correspondence with the 
Resolution Fund; and 

 
Ø analysing the disclosures included in the 

explanatory notes to the financial statements, 
based on the requirements of the 
international financial reporting standards 
and the accounting records. 

 
 

Responsibilities of the management and the supervisory bodies for the financial statements 
 
The management body is responsible for: 

 

Ø the preparation of financial statements, which present fairly the financial position, the financial 

performance and the cash flows of the Bank in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union; 

Ø the preparation of the Management Report, in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations; 

Ø the creation and maintenance of an appropriate system of internal control to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error;  
Ø the adoption of appropriate accounting policies and criteria under the circumstances; and  
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Ø the evaluation of the Bank’s capacity to remain a going concern, disclosing, when applicable, the 

matters that may raise significant doubts as to the continuity of its activities. 

 

The supervisory body is responsible for overseeing the process of the preparation and disclosure of the Bank’s 

financial information. 

 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement due to fraud or error, and to issue a report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of those financial statements. 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit and also: 

 

Ø identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures that respond to those risks and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;  

 

Ø obtain an understanding of the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate under the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control; 

 

Ø evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the management body; 

 
Ø conclude on the appropriateness of the use, by the management body, of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the 

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern;  
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Ø evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation; 

 
Ø communicate with those charged with governance, including the supervisory body, regarding, among 

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and the significant audit findings, including any 
significant weaknesses in internal control identified during our audit; 

 

Ø regarding the matters we communicate to those charged with governance, including the supervisory 

body, we determine which of these were the most important in the audit of the financial statements of 

the current year, these being the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our report, except 

when the law or regulations prohibit their public disclosure; and 

 
Ø declare to the supervisory body that we comply with the relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence and communicate all relationships and other matters that may be perceived as threats 

to our independence and, where applicable, the measures taken to eliminate those threats, or the 

safeguards applied. 

 

Our responsibility also includes verifying that the information included in the Management Report is consistent 

with the financial statements. 

 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
 

On the Management Report 
 

In compliance with Article 451(3)(e) of the Portuguese Commercial Companies Code, we are of the opinion that 

the Management Report has been prepared in accordance with applicable requirements of the law and 

regulations in force, that the information included in the Management Report is consistent with the audited 

financial statements and, considering our knowledge and appraisal on the Bank, no material misstatements 
were identified.  

 

On the additional information required by Article 10 of Regulation (EU) 537/2014  
 

In compliance with Article 10 of Regulation (EU) 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 

16 April 2014, and in addition to the key audit matters referred to above, we also report the following information: 

 

Ø We were appointed as auditors of BEST- Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. for the first time at 
the Shareholders’ General Meeting of 22 June 2018 for the term of office 2018-2020. We were 

appointed at the Shareholders’ General Meeting of 18 October 2021 for the second term of office 

covering the period 2021 to 2023; 
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Ø The management body has confirmed to us it has no knowledge of the occurrence of any fraud or 

suspicion of fraud with material effect on the financial statements. In the planning and execution of our 

audit in accordance with IAS we maintained professional scepticism and designed audit procedures to 

address the risk of material misstatement due to fraud in the financial statements. Based on the work 

performed, we have not identified any material misstatement in the financial statements due to fraud;  

 
Ø We confirm that our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report that was prepared by us and 

issued to the Bank’s supervisory body on this date;  

 

Ø We declare that we did not provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article no. 5 of 

Regulation (EU) 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council, of 16 April 2014 and that we 

maintained our independence of the Bank during the conduct of our audit; and 

 

Ø We inform that, besides the audit, we provided the Bank with the following additional services allowed 
by law and the regulations in force: 

• Assistance to the Supervisory body with the issue of the self-assessment report, under Article 

55(a) of Bank of Portugal Notice 3/2020; 

• External Auditor’s Report on the procedures to safeguard the assets of customers (Article 304-
C of the Portuguese Securities Code); and 

• Report and Opinion on the process for the prevention of the money laundering of capital (Notice 

2/2018 of the Bank of Portugal).  

 

 

Lisbon, 25 March 2022  
 

Ernst & Young Audit & Associados – SROC, S.A.  

- Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas 

represented by: 

 

 

António Filipe Dias da Fonseca Brás – Statutory Auditor (ROC) no. 1661 

Registered with the CMVM under no. 20161271 
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REPORT AND OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

 
BEST - Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. 

 
Financial year 2021 

 

 
Dear Shareholders  

 

The present document has as its objective to report on the activities of the Supervisory Board of BEST - Banco 

Electrónico de Serviço Total, S.A. (Bank) and to issue an opinion on the management report and financial 

statements for financial year 2021. 

 
Scope 
 
In accordance with the legal and statutory provisions, we are bound to present for your appraisal our  report on 

the activity carried out by the Supervisory Board, as well as to issue an opinion on the management report and 

proposed appropriation of results that the Board of Directors of BEST - Banco Electrónico de Serviço Total, 

S.A. (Bank) presented in respect of the financial year ended on 31 December 2021 and,  also,  our  appraisal  

of the respective statutory audit report issued by the statutory audit firm. 

 

The Supervisory Board carried out its functions without limitations in 2021, except for those arising from the 
COVID-19 sanitary crisis that compelled most of the meetings of this body to occur by telematic means. 

Nevertheless, the Supervisory Body was able to monitor the Bank’s activities throughout the financial year, 

appraising various areas of activity and covering the strategic, operational and risk management undertaken 

by the Board of Directors, having performed the verifications it considered convenient, calling periodic meetings 

and appraising the accounting elements that were regularly made available to it, as well as the supplementary 

explanations received from the Board of Directors. To the effect, we met regularly with the Executive 

Commission and the Board of Directors, as well as with the persons responsible for the relevant areas of the 

Bank, namely Risk Management, Compliance, Accounting, and Corporative Internal Audit.  
 

Following the resignation in 2021 of Mr António Joaquim Andrade Gonçalves and Ms Isabel Maria Gonçalves 

Novo, the Supervisory Board is, since 15 February 2021, composed of only 2 members, it being therefore 

necessary to proceed with its re-composition. 

 

On 24 February 2022, Russia invaded Ukraine militarily, starting a war which effects on the European and 

Portuguese economies are unforeseeable. Consequently, national and global economic prospects have 
become extremely uncertain, and the impact of their possible effects is unforeseeable. Even though the Bank 
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is not exposed in terms of direct risk, at this stage it is not possible to quantify the possible impacts resulting 

from potential market condition changes and the increase in the level of uncertainty in the markets, in general 

and in the financial market, in particular.   

 

The orderliness of the accounting records was verified as was the process for the monitoring and accompanying 

of the Bank’s activity, with those responsible for the operational areas having met with the Supervisory Board, 
presented the main trends and evolutions occurring at the level of the activity developed and the results 

obtained. We verified the compliance with the law and with the articles of association. 

 

In order to guarantee an adequate supervision of the effectiveness of the risk management system, of the 

internal control system and of the internal audit system, the Supervisory Board met with: (i) those responsible 

for the Internal Audit Department of the Group, given that this consists of a corporative function; (ii) those 

responsible for the area identifying and monitoring the risk system and compliance; and (iii) the external 

auditors, having taken note of the different phases of the work carried out.  
 

The Board reviewed the accounting policies and valuation criteria adopted by the Bank which aim to ensure the 

presentation of a true and fair view of the financial position and of the results of its operations. In addition, the 

Supervisory Board accompanied the process of the preparation and disclosure of the financial information, with 

same being adequate. 

 

We verified the independence of the Statutory Auditor for the exercising of the functions, with same meeting 
the necessary independence requirements. 

  

We met with the Bank’s Statutory Auditor, having taken note of the results of the work carried out in the different 

phases of the audit work, namely the risks identified in the planning phase and the response to same conceived 

by the audit team, the audit tests planned, the work carried out and the respective conclusions, with no situations 

having been communicated to us of abnormal risks or significant weaknesses in the internal control system that 

may have a material impact on the financial statements. The Statutory Auditor accompanied the process of the 

preparation and presentation of the financial statements of the Bank, having made the Supervisory Board aware 
of its conclusions on and agreement with the documents prepared by the Board of Directors. 

 

We took note of the Statutory Audit Report on the financial statements for financial year ended 31 December 

2021 issued by the statutory audit firm, which neither includes any matter of emphasis nor modification of the 

opinion. The Statutory Auditor, through the Additional Report addressed to the Supervisory Board, also 

communicated the relevant aspects of the work carried out and respective conclusions.  

 
It is the understanding of the Statutory Auditor that the key matter of the audit was the impairment losses of 

loans and advances to customers. In this area, the audit procedures and tests considered relevant under the 

circumstances were carried out. 
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Considering the analysis of the information contained in the reports presented, the result of the interactions had 

with the Statutory Auditor, and the monitoring carried out, the Supervisory Board considers that the legal 

revision process contributed to the integrity of the process for the preparation and disclosure of the financial 

information.  

 

We appraised the management report and the financial statements of the Bank that were presented to us by 
the Board of Directors, having concluded that: 

 

(i) the management report complies with the legal and statutory provisions, referring the more relevant aspects 

of the activity during the financial year; 

 

(ii) the financial statements that include the Balance sheet, Income statement, Comprehensive income 

statement, Statement of changes in equity, Cash flow statement and Explanatory notes to the financial 

statements were prepared in accordance with the accounting framework in force, with the main accounting 
principles and valuation criteria adopted being adequate and allowing for same to present a true and fair 

view of the financial position, of the results and of the cash flows of the Bank. 

 

Considering the activity developed by the Bank, namely in the area of customer portfolio management, an 

efficient monitoring of its internal control and the continuous evaluation of its operational effectiveness 

comprises an essential factor for the mitigation of risk, namely the risk of fraud. The Bank has maintained a 

recurring process of risk assessment, monitoring of the activity carried out and continuous improvement of its 
Internal Control system. 

 

Opinion 
 

As a result of the supervisory actions realized and the appraisal of the documents referred to in the previous 

numbers, the Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the Shareholders’ General Meeting approve: 

 

a) The Management Report and financial statements and other accountability documents for financial year 
2021, as presented by the Board of Directors; 

 

b) The proposed appropriation of results presented by the Board of Directors. 
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Finally, the Supervisory Board wishes to thank the members of the Board of Directors, the Statutory Auditor 

and the Employees of the Bank for all the collaboration received during the exercise of its functions.  

 

Lisbon, 25 March 2022 

 

The Supervisory Board 
 

 

Chair -  Fernando Jorge Henriques Bernardo 

 

 

Member - João José Barragàn Pires 






